\ GAME
HOLLYWOOD

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited

s = — *
sk HEN R ER/R AR
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(RASHEETMRINERATE])
Stock Code IBRENRE : 2022

Annual Report 2019
> FEHRS 2019 «

* (£ {4 71| For identification purposes only




11

12

13

14

18

25

34

50

72

97

105

CONTENTS
H 8%

Definitions

BE

Corporate Profile
NAEFR
Milestones

Bz

Financial Highlights
MBERE

Financial Summary

R

Chairman’s Statement

TREWmE

Profiles of Directors and Senior Management
EENSREREEN

Management Discussion and Analysis

EIR B R T

Corporate Governance Report

rEEBWmE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI HEEERRE

Directors’ Report
EEEWRE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B Z BN RS

Financial Statements and
Notes to the Financial Statements

TSR S M RS R R MY



DEFINITIONS
Bx

In this annual report, unless the
context otherwise requires, the
following expressions shall have
the following meanings:

“2020 AGM”
[ZE_TFRFEFRE]

“AGM”
[RRBFEAREG]

“Angame”

[Angame |

“ARPPU”

[ARPPU

“Articles”
[AAE=24E) ]

“Audit Committee”

[EZEZEE ]

“Board Committees”

[EXxZB8g

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

[E%g)

“BVI”
[RBRARS]

“Beijing You Lai”

Blay izl

ERFERA - BXBEXBREIN  TIFAEEBEUTERE

the AGM to be held on May 26, 2020
ARATBR-E-FERA-TAARTHRRBEAS

annual general meeting of the Company

AAFHBRBFERE

Angame Inc., a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability on July 5, 2005, which is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
—FR_EERFL AR EREBR RS TMEIOERAF - REALQFH

Angame Inc. -

2 EMBLR

average revenue per month per paying user, which represents our revenue recognized
for a particular game, a particular type of games or all of our games, as applicable, in the
period divided by the number of paying users of the game, the type of games or all of our
games, as applicable, in such period

BENERFPEAFHRA @ E—ER - —RERBMMEEE (NER) X—REMAA
FREEREVULN » BR ARZ SRR - s RS R PP B s (B A) R BN ERFH
|

the memorandum and articles of association of the Company as amended from time to
time
RRBENFHEFTHAB E 2 R4 S AR

the audit committee of the Board
EEER (BZEEE

the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
BEZEZBg  FWEESRIERELZES

our board of Directors

ARREEE

British Virgin Islands
RERLES

Beijing You Lai Information Technology Company Limited (1t Ri##3{E BRI ARAF), a
company established in the PRC with limited liability on November 14, 2014, which is an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

IERBEREEMRERAT  — KR ZE—HF+—A+HBAERBEKINERIE - RER
ANEEEENB AR
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DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B= (&)

“Beijing You Tang”
MEREE |

“CG Code” or “Code”
[{2ER<PRI =k [<FAI]
“China” or “PRC”

N

“Company”, “our Company”,
“Digital Hollywood”, “Group”,

“our Group”, “we”, “our” or “us”

[ARE] - TEREE] -
(A& ] =k [3R4F

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ 4R RRER |

“COVID-19 Outbreak”
[COVID-19%15 ]

“Director(s)”

[E=%]

“FY2018”
[—Z— \MBFE

“FY2019”
[ZZ2—-NMBFE]

Beijing You Tang Information Technology Company Limited (it Rz ERHEAR A
A]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on July 17, 2015, which is an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

IRBEEEERMEERAF —KRZE—AF AT LtREPEKINERAF » BREARAF
BEE 2 ENB AR

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

LR RIS+ AR [ EEIAT A

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual report and for
geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
REARLNE  @RAFHRRMBIRAME - TRESE  RFARAE

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited (#2% G5 8/ BEHR A &]*), a company incorporated
under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on November 24, 2014 and
except where the context indicated otherwise (1) our subsidiaries and (2) with respect to
the period before our Company became the holding company of our present subsidiaries,
the business operated by our present subsidiaries or (as the case may be) their
predecessors

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited (% EE)EBERAF) — KR _T—NF+—A=
THEREFEREEZETMAINERAE - LRBRXESEREN - (MHEMOHELE R
QBRARAKASRAEMB R RNZERAFROMENS - BREMBER R K REZME)
HAlF RRIPTR S8 %K

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and unless the context requires
otherwise, refers to Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin, Mr. HUANG Guozhan, Mr. HUANG
Degiang, LYF Digital Holdings Limited, Angel Age Limited, LXT Digital Holdings Limited
and HDQ Digital Holdings Limited

BERALTRAMETORE BXESZAMEIN  BERELE  REHXL EFESL
4 - E{E58% 4 - LYF Digital Holdings Limited * Angel Age Limited * LXT Digital Holdings
Limited }2HDQ Digital Holdings Limited

the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019
20195 BV RIS I A = 1B

the director(s) of the Company or any one of them

AAREEHENEFN—BES

the year ended December 31, 2018
HE-_T-N\F+_A=+—HILFE

the year ended December 31, 2019
BE-_T-NF+-A=-t+—HLTFE

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR @



DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B= (&)

“Guangzhou SYND”

[ B 5% A 4K

“Guangzhou You Lai”

&N 3 |

“HK$” or “Hong Kong dollars”

[t

“Hollywood BVI”

[ Hollywood BVI ]

“Hollywood HK”

[Hollywood HK |

“Hong Kong”

(&%)

“HTMLS”

[HTML5 |

“IFRS”

[ B0 % B 7 o5 E

“PO”

[BRAFEE]

Guangzhou Suiyue Niandai Software Technology Company Limited (E/N 5% A FRE4F R
BPR7AA]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on June 12, 2010, which
is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

BMNmAFREGARIEAERAR  —RRZE—ZFNATBEFEKINERAR @ AA
AEWEEEZENB AT

Guangzhou You Lai Information Technology Company Limited (ENE3H(EERFEARA
A]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on May 13, 2015, which is an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

BMERESERBERAR  — KR ZE—AFHAA+T=AEFEXNINBERAT - BEAH
WEZEZEWNE AR

Hong Kong dollars and cents, both are the lawful currency of Hong Kong

EREEERET

Digital Hollywood International Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited
liability on November 25, 2014, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
Digital Hollywood International Limited * — RN _Z—NFE+— AT HHEABRZHS
HEMKZMERAR - AARARINEZENBAR

Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited, a company established in Hong Kong with limited
liability on December 5, 2014, which is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of our
Company

Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited - —RR T —WUF+ A ABEBBKRIHER D
A RAATINEEEAMB AR

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
BB RITH R

hypertext markup language 5, the fifth and current major version of the hypertext markup
language standard; used for structuring and presenting content on web pages and for
creating web applications

FERRBNFIRRLES  BXFERELEEZGENELREANNEERE  ANEHEELER
RERAR - REAIZWEEBIERF

International Financial Reporting Standards

B B 765 R e R R

the initial public offering of the Company, having become unconditional in all aspects on
December 15, 2017
EEFEKXAEGENHE  ARAFR_ZE—tF+_AT+HBRETHNERAREE

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2019



DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B= (&)

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Date”
[ ETREER]
“Listing Rules”

[ LA

“‘MAUs”

[ AERAF

“Model Code”
[1Z4E<PRI ]

“Nomination Committee”

e ZEg ]
“Now To Play Game”

[Now To Play Game

“Now To Play Game (Spain)”

[Now To Play Game (FE¥I7F) |

“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”

[BRAFEERERETS )

“Prospectus”

[TERRERE ]

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
PR FERE 2 PT AR =7

December 15, 2017, on which the Shares were listed and from which dealings therein
were permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange
TE—+F+-A+HA - BB LT R B UL AR B R PR TT B E e A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (as amended from time to time)

ERBMARSHMAERRAGRZS EHHRE (EIRER)

monthly active users, which refers to the number of individuals who login to a particular
game in the relevant calendar month; average MAUs for a particular period is the average
of the active users in each month during that period

BRERBFPY HBERMEARNEERTERNAZ  NEEHMHEN TG AERAFEE
ZHEE AERBP FHR

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FHRAIER+AAE [ LR BT ABRETESF R HHIRETA]

the nomination committee of the Board

ExeBTREZES

Now To Play Game Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on
March 29, 2011, which is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

Now To Play Game Limited - —XR-Z——F=A -+ NLBEEEEMKINBRAA
REARFNHEEEZEMB LR

Now To Play Game Sucursal En Espafia, a branch office established in Spain on July
24, 2014 by Now To Play Game, which is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of our
Company

Now To Play Game Sucursal En Espafia * —% fNow To Play GameiR —Z —0F+ A —+
MBEARTR A D ZEE - AARANEEZESENE QA

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on May 27, 2017
ARARZB—HFHR -+ HBE GE RGBS

the prospectus of the Company dated December 5, 2017
AABIBHAZS—tFE T AR ANERER

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR @



DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B= (&)

“Proficient City”

[ Proficient City |

“Remuneration Committee”

EES

“‘RMB”
[ARE ]

“SDK”

[SDK]

“SFO”

[ &5 M E 1R A ]

“Share(s)”
[ A% ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ 3R |

1

“Stock Exchange’
B¢ 22 P |

“U.S. dollars”, “USD” or “US$”

=

Proficient City Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability on January
25, 2011, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

Proficient City Limited " — XA T ——F— A+ BT ABELZHSIMKRIHBRA
Al REARFNEEWNB QA

the remuneration committee of the Board
EEgR TFNEEE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

EA TS AR

software development kit, typically a set of software development tools that allows the
creation of applications for a certain software package, software framework, hardware
platform, computer system, video game console, operating system, or similar development
platform

FUREES  —RA—HEMHEIAR  URBEEME EMER @M Te TR
g RGBEE  RERGSBELNRE TR ERER

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEREOIESTIEESF RPEHR - K ARHERT » MF AR M gk

ordinary share(s) of US$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company
RARMEAHFREEO0.001E T E AR

holder(s) of Shares
LSUESTEPN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMARZAERAT

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EEETEEWRET

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2019



DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B= (&)

“WR”
[EHEER]

“7Road”

[FELKE]

“7Road International”

[7Road International |

“7Road Shenzhen”

[RINBELRE]

wop
%]

*

For identification purposes only

virtual reality, a computer technology that uses certain equipment to generate realistic
images, sounds and other sensations that simulate a user’s physical presence in a virtual
or imaginary environment

ERER ERETREREREBEGERESNERIIENRRS  KMELEREY
& BENEMEE 2 BRI

7Road International and its fellow subsidiaries
7Road International } £ & Z [ B A &

7Road International Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability on May 12, 2015, a substantial shareholder of the Company

7Road International Group Limited ' —" KR -_E—AFAA+-_HREBEZHERINE
RELARF  ARAEERF 2 —

Shenzhen 7Road Technology Co., Ltd. (R Il & £ K& & & B R A @), a company
established in the PRC on January 22, 2008, one of our game developer partners and a
fellow subsidiary of 7Road International, a substantial shareholder of the Company
RYELRBEMFARDA - —KRZZBZENF-AZ T HEFERIHNRA - AEMOE
EFEmBEr — RAQREBRE 2 —7Road International 89 [F XM 8 A 7]

per cent.
AL

* o EHEES

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR 0



CORPORATE PROFILE
~EEFR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. LU Yuanfeng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. HUANG Guozhan
Mr. HUANG Degiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW (resigned with effect from July 5, 2019)
Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum

Mr. LI Yi Wen

Mr. LU Qibo (appointed with effect from October 3, 2019)

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. YU Ching Ming
Ms. NG Wing Yan (resigned with effect from July 5, 2019)
Ms. FOK Po Yi (appointed with effect from July 5, 2019)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. LU Yuanfeng
Ms. NG Wing Yan (resigned with effect from July 5, 2019)
Ms. FOK Po Yi (appointed with effect from July 5, 2019)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum (Chairman)

Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW (resigned with effect from July 5, 2019)
Mr. LI Yi Wen

Mr. LU Qibo (appointed with effect from October 3, 2019)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LI Yi Wen (Chairman)

Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW (resigned with effect from July 5, 2019)
Mr. LU Yuanfeng

Mr. LU Qibo (appointed with effect from October 3, 2019)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LU Yuanfeng (Chairman)

Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW (resigned with effect from July 5, 2019)
Mr. LI Yi Wen

Mr. LU Qibo (appointed with effect from October 3, 2019)
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CORPORATE PROFILE (Continued)
NEEH ()

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants and Registered PIE Auditor
22/F, Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

2nd Floor, No. 368 Jiang Nan Da Dao (South)
Haizhu District

Guangzhou

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

11/F, Tai Sang Bank Building
784 Nathan Road

Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
2/F, 673 Nathan Road

Mong Kok, Kowloon

Hong Kong

BBVA Compass Bank
Plaga de Tetuan, 26
08010, Barcelona
Spain

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER

P. C. Woo & Co.
12th Floor Prince’s Building Central
Hong Kong

BB ED

FEFAGES RN EB M

ME SRR R M AR = B BB SR
BFETR

RFARE2212

AN EE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

RBRPEEEEFE R

FE
BN
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L FKER3685 =/

BERTEERMH

BB

B
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FEERRIT
B LOERSRIT
&t

FUBERE f5
FSUB6T3H2/E

BBVA Compass Bank
Placa de Tetuan, 26
08010, Barcelona
Spain
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CORPORATE PROFILE (Continued)
NEEH ()

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

FERDBFERE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

Stock Code: 2022

WEBSITE

www.gamehollywood.com
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MILESTONES

BiE®

Year Events
F45 =4
2010 . Our founders became the beneficial shareholders of our first operating entity, Guangzhou SYND
—T-TF o BAMEAIRAKARMEREEERENRAFRNEZRE
2011 . Proficient City was established to develop overseas operation
—E——F « PR IProficient City AT RIGINETS
2012 . Launched multiplayer web game Wartune with an exclusive license for overseas publishing in English-
speaking markets
—T—=F . BMEMERB R BB Wartune - WHBEXRET SN BREIINETE
2013 . Proficient City was granted the “Facebook’s Excellent Game-Advertiser Award”
—E-=fF +  Proficient City/€48% [ Facebook (&% i[5} & &5 F K 82 |
. Wartune was granted the “Facebook Staff Favorites Recognition”
« Wartunel&#% [ Facebook B T & = & i[5} 42|
. Launched Stallion Race on Facebook
. Facebook# {fiStallion Race
. We were granted the “Best Overseas Publisher Award” by 7Road
o BMKERNELRBERE [REBINEBBEITHAE]
2014 . Established Now To Play Game (Spain) as our liaison office in Europe
—E—mF «  FX3iNow To Play Game (B3t ) {ERBFIEERUN MBS I R
2015 . Launched several successful casual shooting games, including a special edition featuring sports figures
and scenes licensed from Barcelona Football Club
—ET—ARF o BEMBUARIOABSTRES  BENADEEERIKRERENZEAY RS E RN
2016 . Launched our cross-platform Wing SDK
—T—RF o EMETEWing SDK
. Entered into the VR market with our investment in a VR studio in China
o BRERETPE-ZFRERBERIELR  EEERERETS
2017 . Launched Lord of Star, a mobile game in cross-platform format on Gameroom
—T—tF +  HGameroom# 5T A 1% K F#EEELord of Star
. Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 2022) on December 15, 2017
o BRORZZF—+FTATEAEBIMAER LW (ROKS : 2022)
2018 . French, German, Polish and Turkish versions of Dragon Awaken were launched successively, fully
penetrating into the European market
—E-N\F +  Dragon Awaken®)=E - fEE - KE - LEERAREE R 2EEEBNTIS
. Robot Tactics, the strategic mobile game featuring anime graphics, was launched on and featured by
Google Play in more than 100 countries and regions around the world
o BIETMHEN RTHE RIS T 58 % EE 15 Google PlayfE 2 IRid #1008 Bl K A @ 1) HE B
. Digital Hollywood was awarded the 6th Jincha Award for 2018 Best Mobile Publisher
- BREPREFNECRR[ T \RERDHEEETHE]
. Be elected as the vice-president of the Gaming Industry Association Guangzhou Branch
o BEBRNTEEOTEGERISREM
. Dragon Awaken was awarded “2018 Zhuoer Award for Top 10 Most Popular Windows Games” in 2018
Globe Windows Game Conference
«  Dragon Awaken GWGCEIKFREEBHE—_T— \FHEES [T — \FEERRMUETATE T AZZIK
EE R
2019 . A number of HTML5 games launched for global distribution
—T-NEF o HEEIREITEHRHTMLEEE

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR @



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue for FY2019 amounted to approximately US$17.9 million,
representing a decrease of 26.0% from approximately US$24.2 million
recorded in FY2018.

Gross profit for FY2019 amounted to approximately US$8.4 million,
representing a decrease of 36.8% from approximately US$13.3 million
recorded in FY2018.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for FY2019 amounted to
approximately US$5.8 million, as compared to profit attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately US$0.9 million recorded in FY2018.

Non-IFRS adjusted loss attributable to owners of the Company for
FY2019 amounted to approximately US$4.2 million, as compared to
non-IFRS adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately US$3.6 million recorded in FY2018.

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2019

TE-NMBFEENRANRITIAEET B
Z— N\ RFEHGNL24.28 8% T 26.0% °

“E-NAMBEENENNARSABERT  B_F
— N\ BEFEHSNLI13.3BEETTNS36.8% °
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M=

For the year ended December 31,

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—E-hF —EB-RE T—+HF —T-N\F =ZB-IF
US$'000 US$’'000 US$’000 US$’'000 US$’000
FE=r Fx=x FE=r FErx FErx
Revenue WA 28,008 28,446 28,621 24,161 17,919
Gross profit EH 17,969 15,535 15,926 13,319 8,397
(Loss)/profit before income tax KT8 HiAT (1), /% F 6,481 8,552 3,982 2,008 (5,603)
Income tax expense Frisfimx 1,931 1,613 2,255 1,071 159
(Loss)/Profit for the year FR (BE) BT 4,550 6,940 1,727 937 (5,762)
(Loss)/Profit attributable to: LA T FE{E (B51E),Z5F ¢
Owners of the Company RAREERA A 4,474 6,940 1,727 937 (5,762)
Non-Controlling interests IR 76 = = = =
Non-IFRS adjusted (loss)/profit 2~ B1#EA A FE(5 FEEIRR
attributable to owners of B IRE LR SRR
the Company™ (#518),/ s FIO 6,196 7,565 6,516 3,570 (4,184)
As at December 31,
R+=ZA=+—H
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—E-1F ZE-RF E—+F ZT-N\F ZB-IEF
UsS$’000 US$’000 uUs$’000 US$’000 Us$’000
FEx FET FEx FEx FErx
Total assets BEE 32,212 26,524 63,830 63,731 59,336
Total liabilities neE 27,782 15,732 13,767 10,454 12,060
Equity attributable to the owners ZXQFIZEH AJEIGHEZ
of the company 4,429 10,791 50,063 53,277 47,276
(1) To supplement our consolidated financial statements which are presented MiE - A R R AR R B R B 5 3R 5 2 R 251 09 & OB 75

in accordance with IFRS, we also use Non-IFRS adjusted (loss)/profit
attributable to owners of the Company as an additional financial measure
to evaluate our financial performance by eliminating the impact of items
that we do not consider indicative of the performance of our business. Our
Non-IFRS adjusted (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company was
derived from our (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company for the

year excluding share-based payments and listing expenses.

WK ROTEAIERERE B REEANEHE (B
18),/ BEMERBIMIBE - FHILERRMRA
HERMMEGRATBEGEEENHBEZFZE N
AP TS EME - MW ARBEE ARIEIE
BB SRR RE (B1R),aF R ERM
MARBHEE ARG (BB, EMAESE - mf
BREABN AERMNKR EHAX

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR @



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ER|E

Chairman : Mr. LU Yuanfeng

BERIE X E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board and the management of Digital Hollywood
Interactive Limited, | am pleased to present to you the annual report of
the Company and its subsidiaries for FY2019.

OVERVIEW OF THE GROUP

We are a leading global online game publisher for China-based game
developers, with fast-growing in-house development capabilities for
mobile games. Our mission is to bring engaging, differentiated gameplay
experience to users across languages, cultures and borders. We offer
compelling value proposition to game developers by helping them
penetrate the international markets with one-stop solutions, including
game redesign, optimization, marketing, distribution, monetization,
payment support and other user-related services.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2019
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
EFEHE (&)

We began our business as an international web game publisher and
grew quickly to become the leading web game publisher. Besides, we
strategically expanded our business focuses to develop and launch
mobile games by enhancing in-house development capabilities to capture
the market opportunity from the fast-growing smartphone users, and our
mobile games achieved considerable success in a number of regional
markets.

In recent years, the Group has begun to deepen the business of HTML5
multiplayer games and established a self-developed HTML5 game
platform. As such, the Group has the technical capability to achieve the
data exchange between personal computers and mobile terminals, and
embarked to launch a variety of HTML5 games of different types.

RESULTS OF THE GROUP

As of December 31, 2019, we launched and operated 32 games including
web games, mobile games and HTML5 games over the world. 15 of such
games were self-developed games, accounting for 46.9% of the total
number of games launched and operated.

As of December 31, 2019, calculating based on IP addresses we
recorded, we had cumulative registered users of approximately 76.4
million located in over 200 countries and regions.

As of December 31, 2019, our average MAUs for online games were
more than 1.0 million.

In 2019, we launched 7 HTML5 games and it takes advantage of our
global distribution network in the HTML5 game markets. By consistently
increasing resource input and optimizing the precision in publishing, we
strive to be a leading publisher, both domestically and globally, in HTML5
cross-platform games.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE GROUP

Revenue of the Group decreased by 26.0% from approximately US$24.2
million for FY2018 to approximately US$17.9 million for FY2019.

The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the reasons that (i) certain
games entered into the mature stage of their lifecycles and generated
less revenue than that of FY2018; (ii) certain newly launched games
of the Group failed to achieve the expected performance level; and (iii)
the revenue of a one-off licensing fees amounting US$2.6 million was
recognized during FY2018 while there was no such one-off licensing fees
recognized during FY2019.

PROSPECTS AND STRATEGIES OF THE
GROUP

Looking forward, the Group will continue to innovate and improve the
layout of HTML5 games and take advantage of our global distribution
network. The doomsday strategy HTML5 game Survivor Legacy has
completed its beta test and is ready to release in 2020. The Group will
deepen our involvement in the HTML5 game distribution markets and
cooperate closely with our outstanding business partners in research
and development, distribution and promotion in the global HTML5 field,
to vigorously enlarge the market shares in emerging markets for HTML5
games and further strengthen our leading position in overseas distribution.

While the Company has a steady development in business of browser
games and mobile games, the Company will enhance the layout of
HTML5 games and expand the global HTML5 game distribution platform.
Under this trend of development, the Company is expected to further
deepen the diversified development of its game products.

Since the COVID-19 Outbreak in early 2020, a series of precautionary
and control measures have been and continued to be implemented across
China and other countries in the world. As at the date of this report, the
Board was not aware of any material adverse effects on the financial
statements as a result of the COVID-19 Outbreak. To shoulder our social
responsibilities and offer humanitarian support, the Group has promptly
launched an assistance scheme in response to the COVID-19 Outbreak.
Under this scheme, the Group has mobilised its global subsidiaries to
procure medical masks, protective gowns and other medical supplies and
has donated the same to front-line medical professionals and institutions
in China. The Group has been closely monitoring the development of
the COVID-19 Outbreak and will continue to evaluate its impact on the
financial position and operating results of the Group from time to time.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to thank the
management of the Group and all our staff for their hard work over the
past year. In particular, | would like to express our thankfulness to Mr.
Darren Raymond SHAW who resigned his position as the independent
non-executive Director. While our Company believes there will be no
adverse impact to be felt by our Group following his resignation, we
appreciate the valuable service provided by Mr. SHAW to the Board
during his tenure. | would also like to extend my sincere gratitude to our
Shareholders, business partners and stakeholders for their continued
support.

LU Yuanfeng
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, March 31, 2020
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGREEEER

Below are the brief profiles of the current Directors and senior NTAREBEBRIEENSREEENBHEELE -

management of the Group.

DIRECTORS 5=

The Board currently comprises six Directors, of which three are executive EXeRRAALEFAN  BEZRITESFRK
Directors and three are independent non-executive Directors. The —HEBUFNITES c TR EBREFNER -

following table sets forth information regarding the Directors.

Name Age Position

%& Fie B

Date of Appointment
as Director

BERERESHWAY

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. LU Yuanfeng 40 Chairman, executive Director and
chief executive officer

PR e A 40 IE - BITEEREERTE

Mr. HUANG Guozhan 40 Executive Director and chief operating
officer

=mERESE 40 HTEEREFEZE

Mr. HUANG Degiang 46  Executive Director and
chief technology officer

HIEREE 46 HITEENEERMNE

Independent non-executive Directors

BUFHTES

Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW 54 Independent non-executive Director

EBIEAE A 54 BUFRITEF

Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum 65 Independent non-executive Director

R E 65 BUIFNITES

Mr. LI Yi Wen 49 Independent non-executive Director

FRXEE 49 BIFNTEE

Mr. LU Qibo 53 Independent non-executive Director

& RUK 5t 4 53 BUIIFRITES
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November 2, 2015
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June 28, 2017

—E—+FRAZF+NH

November 24, 2017
(resigned with effect from
July 5, 2019)
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November 24, 2017
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November 24, 2017
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October 3, 2019
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EEREAEEEER (H)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Yuanfeng, aged 40, is an executive Director, our chief executive
officer and the chairman of our Board. Mr. LU is mainly responsible for
the overall development, operation and management of the Company. Mr.
LU founded our Group in June 2010 and was appointed as an executive
Director on November 24, 2014. He also serves as a director of Proficient
City, Angame, Hollywood BVI, Hollywood HK and Guangzhou You Lai.

Mr. LU has over 17 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to founding our Group, Mr. LU founded Guangzhou Blue Power
Digital Technology Company Limited (“Guangzhou Blue Power”) which
is primarily engaged in software development in May 2001 and served as
its chief executive officer from 2004 to January 2011, mainly responsible
for development, publication and operation of various games. From June
2001 to February 2004, Mr. LU served in various positions up to the chief
editor of the game channel at 21.com operated by 21CN Corporation
Limited which is primarily engaged in the provision of information
technology services.

Mr. LU graduated from Guangdong University of Technology with a
bachelor degree in architectural engineering on June 30, 2001.

Mr. HUANG Guozhan, aged 40, is an executive Director and our chief
operating officer. Mr. HUANG is responsible for the operation and
marketing of the Company. Mr. HUANG joined our Group in June 2010
and was appointed as an executive Director on November 2, 2015.
He also serves as a director of Now To Play Game, Beijing You Tang,
Guangzhou SYND and Beijing You Lai.

Mr. HUANG has over 12 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. HUANG served as a video game operation
and planning officer at Guangzhou Blue Power from January 2006 to
January 2011. From February 2003 to January 2006, he served as
a radio host at Guangzhou Sheng Se Chuan Bo Entertainment and
Production Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in installation services of
stage lighting and audio equipment and cultural communication, mainly
responsible for hosting and planning radio programs.

Mr. HUANG graduated from Guangdong University of Technology with
a bachelor degree in architectural engineering on June 30, 2002. Mr.
HUANG obtained a certificate as a host issued by the State Administration
of Radio, Film and Television on February 12, 2005.

HITES

BERIZSEE - 405% - RMITES  ERATEK
EEGTR MALFEZATARFNEBER -
HEREB BMEER-_ZT-—TFAARIUERE
CWRZE-EOFE+—-AZTHBEZERH
11 % £ - % J5 #& EProficient City - Angame -
Hollywood BVI - Hollywood HK [& /I 5 % 0 &
o

PEEARBEITEBBBITHLER -

REISZAEEA  BAEER-ZE—FH AR
BMNTEEH NBBMEERAR ((ENECE
Hl EZRERHHEE) AR _FTTENFE-F
**i*ﬂfﬂ&ﬁ%fﬁﬂﬁﬁ T EABEXBER
WR%  BTREE R_ZET-FRAZ-ZT
mE—A - ﬁ*%i#t@%@ﬁ%?ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁf&
A (Z2RERM{ESHEIRY) 2EM21.comiE
FZETRABLEEE T RERIABEGRE -

PEERENR BT~

FX JrE%%Eéﬁi?
2 EREETIESL %f

RTHEK

i

+l

BEELE 405 RWITEEREREREE - &
EEBEARANEEREH BEER T —Z
FRAMALER  WR=-_ZT—RAF+—A=-HE
ZERBIITES ° HIEENow To Play Game »
bR - BMEAFRRIERERNES o

BRAERBEBITREBE12F&5% -
RIMAREER  SEEER_TTRF-AE_F
——F- ﬂb‘A MNEEBHNEBRZREELEEREK
BEXE - -R_TTE=F_AE_TTRF—H &
ﬁ@ﬁ%d‘l‘l%é%%ﬁ%%ﬁd’ﬁﬁﬁ& A (XEeEEE
BN EERBLZREREALRBENR) ERES
IR IBEEIRRREEAMHA

BERER_EE-_FRASTHEERERIEX
B EEZETIESLEN -wXAEN _TTRF
AT HESHAEREREYERERTELHMNE

SECR

EREBHEEFRA

—E-NEFFER



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EEREAEEEER (H)

Mr. HUANG Degiang, aged 46, is an executive Director and our chief
technology officer. Mr. HUANG is responsible for developing information
technology and managing the research and development of the Company.
Mr. HUANG joined our Group in June 2010 and was appointed as an
executive Director and the chief technology officer on June 28, 2017.

Mr. HUANG has over 12 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. HUANG served as the manager of the
technology department of Guangzhou Blue Power from October 2004 to
January 2011.

Mr. HUANG graduated from Guangdong Financial and Trade Cadre
Academy with a college degree in financial management in July 1997.
He was enrolled in Aptech Certified Computer Professional, an IT career
program taught by Aptech Beida Jade Bird, from December 2001 to June
2003. Mr. HUANG obtained a national certificate as an intermediate
programmer and a national certificate as a software engineer in
December 2002 and June 2003, respectively, both issued by the Ministry
of Labor and Social Security of the PRC (now known as the Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC). In August 2003, he
was also certified as a Sun Certified Programmer by Sun Microsystems,
Inc.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum, aged 65, is an independent non-executive
Director. Ms. LING was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on November 24, 2017.

Ms. LING was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Wise Ally International Holdings Limited in December 2019, an
established electronics manufacturing services provider offering full
turnkey solutions to the customers with particular focus in consumer
electronic products, whose shares have been listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9918) since January 2020. She is also
the chairperson of its audit committee and a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee.

Ms. LING has over 30 years of experience in the auditing industry and
retired as a partner in PricewaterhouseCoopers in June 2013. Ms. LING
has served as a council member of The Education University of Hong
Kong since April 2015, a board member of Estate Agents Authority since
November 2015, an executive committee member of Hong Kong Youth
Hostels Association since May 2001 and a council member of The Hong
Kong Federation of Youth Groups since October 2014. Ms. LING has
also served as a member of Hospital Governing Committee of Hospital
Authority since April 2015 and a member of the Appeal Board Panel (Town
Planning) since October 2016. She also served as a board member of the
Employees Compensation Assistance Fund Board from July 2006 to June
2012.

Ms. LING is a certified public accountant and a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, Chartered Professional Accountants, Canada, and Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants. She is an Accredited General
Mediator of Hong Kong Mediation Accreditation Association Limited. Ms.
LING is also a member of Practising Members Working Committee of
the Association of Hong Kong Accountants, a member of Professional
Development Committee of Hong Kong Business Accountants Association
and an executive committee member of Regulatory Committee of The
Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association. In 2003, Ms.
LING received the Outstanding Accountant Ambassador award from the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. LING obtained a diploma in accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in
1977 and a master of science in corporate governance and directorship
from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2014.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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Mr. LI Yi Wen, aged 49, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. LI
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on November
24, 2017.

Mr. LI has over 12 years of experience in the information technology
industry.

Mr. LI has served as a director of Aleo BME, Inc. which is primarily
engaged in biotechnology research and development since January
2016. He served as a director of Ningbo Lehui International Engineering
Equipment Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in development,
manufacturing of industrial equipment from March 2016 to November
2018. From January 2011 to October 2013, he also served as a director,
chief financial supervisor and secretary of the board at Guiyang
Longmaster Information & Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300288) which is primarily
engaged in wireless games and Internet medical service. He served as
the general manager of Sina Net Technology (China) Co., Ltd. which is
primarily engaged in wireless games and deputy manager of Guangzhou
Xunlong Technology Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in wireless
games from October 2002 to February 2004 and June 2001 to October
2002, respectively.

Mr. LU Qibo, aged 53, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. LU
Qibowas appointed as an independent non-executive Director on October
3, 2019.

Mr. LU Qibo has over 21 years of experience in media and internet
industry.

Mr. LU Qibo served as the chief executive officer of Guangdong Senlong
Group from May 2018 to December 2018. From 2014 to 2017, Mr. LU
Qibo worked as the president of KUFM of Guangzhou Kugou Computer
Technology Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Tencent Music Entertainment Group,
which is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: TME).
Tencent Music Entertainment Group is a subsidiary of Tencent Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 700). Mr. LU Qibo founded Shengse Chuanbo Inc. in 1997 and
served as its chief executive officer and an executive director from 1997
to 2010. Mr. LU Qibo served as an anchorman in Guangdong People’s
Radio Station from 1989 to 1995.

Mr. LU Qibo completed his junior college study at South China Normal
University in July 1989.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LU Yuanfeng, see “— Executive Directors” for details.
Mr. HUANG Guozhan, see “— Executive Directors” for details.
Mr. HUANG Degiang, see “— Executive Directors” for details.

Mr. LIU Jiahua, aged 39, joined our Group as our chief financial officer
on March 21, 2014. He is primarily responsible for the investment and the
overall management of the finance of our Group. He has served as the
chief financial officer at Proficient City since March 2014.

Mr. LIU has over 16 years of experience in the field of financial
management.

Mr. LIU served as the finance controller at Moonbasa E-commerce
Group which is primarily engaged in the online sales of women
apparels from September 2010 to March 2014. From April 2009 to
August 2010, he served as a financial director at China Nepstar Chain
Drugstore Ltd. Which is primarily engaged in pharmaceutical retail,
a company previously listed on the New York Stock Exchange (stock
code: NPD). From November 2004 to February 2009, Mr. LIU served in
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP.

Mr. LIU graduated from Sun Yat-sen University with a bachelor degree in
international finance on June 24, 2003.
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Mr. SHI Lijia, aged 36, joined our Group as a vice president on August
17, 2015. He is primarily responsible for the overall management of the
research and development of the Group.

Mr. SHI has over 9 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. SHI served as the game producer in 7Road
Shenzhen which is one of our game developer partners from March 2010
to April 2015, mainly responsible for game development and general
administration.

Mr. SHI graduated from Lanzhou University with a bachelor degree in
Information and Computing Sciences in 2007.

Mr. CHEN Yangzhao, aged 42, was appointed as our vice president on
July 1, 2015. He is primarily responsible for the overall operation and
management of our Group.

Mr. CHEN has over 17 years of experience in technology and software
engineering of game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. CHEN served as the technology manager
of Guangzhou Tianya Internet Technology Co., Ltd. which is primarily
engaged in software development from January 2009 to March 2010. He
served from a platform development team member to a senior developer
at Beijing Bokee Net Information Technology Co., Ltd. which is primarily
engaged in technology service from October 2005 to November 2008. He
served as the senior software engineer at Guangzhou Ruixun Computer
Technology Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in development and
manufacture of computers’ hardware and software from September
2002. He briefly served as a software engineer at Asiainfo Technologies
(China) Inc., a Nasdag-listed company (stock code: ASIA) which is
primarily engaged in development of network system from April 2002. Mr.
CHEN started his career in July 2001 with Guangdong Xiantong Digital
Technology Co., Ltd. as a software engineer.

Mr. CHEN graduated from South China University of Technology with a
bachelor degree in computer science and technology on July 1, 2001.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The competition in the game industry remained intense for FY2019. Due
to changes in the Chinese game market and regulatory environment, the
supply of game products from China complying with relevant laws and
regulations and available to the Group for release in the overseas markets
decreased dramatically, which limited the number of the Group’s new
game releases in the overseas markets and in turn imposed an adverse
effect on the Group’s financial performance. Revenue of the Group
decreased by 26.0% from approximately US$24.2 million for FY2018 to
approximately US$17.9 million for FY2019. Loss attributable to owners of
the Company for FY2019 amounted to approximately US$5.8 million, as
compared to profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
US$0.9 million recorded in 2018. Non-IFRS adjusted loss attributable to
owners of the Company for FY2019 amounted to approximately US$4.2
million, as compared to non-IFRS adjusted profit attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately US$3.6 million recorded in 2018. Although
facing a less favourable economic environment, the Group was still able
to actively improve the operating standards of its game products, and
thus maintained a steady improvement in its product operating indicators.
Our ARPPU increased by 12.5% from US$32.0 for FY2018 to US$36.0 for
FY2019.

In the face of a complex and changing market environment in 2019,
the Group insisted on taking the advantage of global distribution. The
Group partnered with developers which could develop semi-competitive
cross-platform HTML5 games and launched Eternal Fury 2 (a massively
multiple online role-play game) of different languages versions in 2019.
The Group aimed to consistently increase resource input and optimize the
precision in publishing, strive to be a leading publisher, both domestically
and globally, in HTML5 cross-platform games.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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INDUSTRY OUTLOOK AND GROUP STRATEGIES

Please refer to the section headed “Chairman’s Statement — Prospects
and strategies of the Group” in this annual report for the industry outlook
and Group strategies.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our operations and prospects and future financial results involve, and
could be materially and adversely affected by, certain risks. The following
highlights the principal risks exposed to the Group and is not meant to be
exhaustive:

. A small number of games have contributed a substantial majority of
our revenue.

. We work with game distribution platforms to distribute our games,
and our business may be materially and adversely affected if
they breach their contractual obligations, or if we fail to maintain
relationships with a sufficient number of platforms, or if the platforms
lose popularity among Internet users.

. Our growth prospects will suffer if we are unable to successfully
implement our game development strategies on mobile games.

. Our businesses rely on our data analysis capabilities, any impact on
which would materially and adversely affect our ability to formulate
appropriate business strategies.

. Our steady growth during the past years may not be indicative of our
future growth, and our limited operating history makes it difficult to
evaluate our growth prospects and future financial results.

. If we fail to successfully execute our growth strategies, including
launching games of new genres, themes or operating formats and
investing in new technologies, our future results of operations and
growth prospects may be materially and adversely affected.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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To mitigate the identified risks, the Company improves its management
capability and adaptability and further ensures the realisation of the
business objectives and sustainable growth. We aim at implementing the
following strategies to further capture players and enhance profitability of
our games:

. Our growth also depends on our ability to continuously launch new
games that attract and retain a significant number of users, in order
to grow our revenue and maintain our competitive position.

. We strengthen our relationships with major international game
publishing and distribution partners to expand the reach of our
games to new countries and regions.

. We further strengthen and expand our mobile games portfolio
by developing additional high-quality mobile games, and offer
more mobile specific value-adding features to enrich users’ game
experience on mobile devices.

. Our team members can utilise our various data analysis engines to
collect and store all user behavior data in a timely manner.

. We manage our expanding business, continue to offer new
games and enhance our existing games, maintain and expand our
collaboration with game distribution platforms, anticipate and adapt
to evolving user interests, industry trends and market conditions.

. We have expanded our product offerings to attract a demographically
diverse user community and will continue to identify new genres
with high monetization potential from game developers, meanwhile
we actively enhance our in-house research and development
capabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

For FY2019, loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately US$5.8 million, as compared to profit attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately US$0.9 million for FY2018.
Non-IFRS adjusted loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately US$4.2 million for FY2019, as compared to non-IFRS
adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
US$3.6 million for FY2018.

Revenue

For FY2019, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately US$17.9
million, representing a decrease of approximately US$6.3 million or
26.0% as compared with approximately US$24.2 million for FY2018. The
decrease in revenue was mainly due to the reasons that (i) certain games
entered into the mature stage of their lifecycles in FY2019 and generated
less revenue compared to that of FY2018; (ii) certain newly launched
games of the Group failed to achieve the expected performance level;
and (iii) the revenue of a one-off licensing fees amounting approximately
US$2.6 million was recognised in FY2018 while there was no such
one-off licensing fees recognised in FY2019.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit Margin

For FY2019, cost of revenue of the Group amounted to approximately
US$9.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately US$1.3 million
or 12.0% as compared with approximately US$10.8 million for FY2018.
The resulting gross profit margin decreased to 46.9% for FY2019 from
55.0% for FY2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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Other Gains, Net

For FY2019, other gains of the Group amounted to approximately US$0.3
million, representing a decrease of approximately US$0.4 million or as
57.1% as compared with approximately US$0.7 million for FY2018. The
decrease in other gains was mainly due to recognition of a one-off other
gain from termination of a licensing agreement in FY2018.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

For FY2019, selling and marketing expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately US$4.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately
US$1.3 million or 24.1% from approximately US$5.4 million for FY2018,
primarily due to a decrease in advertising and promotion expenses.

Administrative Expenses

For FY2019, administrative expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately US$5.7 million, representing an increase of approximately
US$0.6 million or 11.8% from approximately US$5.1 million for FY2018.
The increase was mainly due to write-down of prepaid license fees and
prepayments for certain newly launched games of the Group, which failed
to achieve the expected performance level.

Research and Development Expenses

For FY2019, research and development expenses of the Group
amounted to approximately US$2.4 million, representing an increase of
approximately US$0.9 million or 60.0% compared with approximately
US$1.5 million for FY2018. The increase in research and development
expenses in FY2019 was mainly due to greater staff cost as more staff
was hired to develop new games.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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Net Impairment Losses on/Reversal of Financial
Assets

For FY2019, net impairment losses on financial assets of the Group
amounted to approximately US$1.4 million, as compared to reversal
of impairment losses on financial assets of the Group amounted to
approximately US$0.03 million for FY2018. The change of position was
mainly due to impairment loss arising from the balances due from the
Group’s customers in FY2019.

Impairment of Investment in an Associate

For FY2019, impairment of investment in an associate of the Group,
amounted to approximately US$0.7 million (FY2018: nil). The impairment
of investment in an associate in FY2019 was mainly due to the reason
that the Group did not anticipate any future cash flow generated from the
investment in an associate as the entity has substantially wound down its
operations.

Loss/Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

For FY2019, loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted
to approximately US$5.8 million, as compared to profit attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately US$0.9 million for FY2018. The
change of position was mainly due to the following reasons: (i) as a result
of the changes of the Chinese game market and regulatory environment,
the supply of game products from China complying with relevant laws and
regulations and available to the Group for release in the overseas markets
decreased dramatically in FY2019, which limited the number of the
Group’s new game releases in the overseas markets and in turn imposed
an adverse effect on the Group’s financial performance; (ii) impairment
loss arising from the balances due from the Group’s customers and the
Group’s investment in an associate; and (iii) write-down of prepaid license
fees and prepayments for certain newly launched games of the Group,
which failed to achieve the expected performance level.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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Non-IFRS Adjusted Loss/Profit Attributable to
Owners of the Company

To supplement this annual report which is presented in accordance
with the IFRS, we also use unaudited non-IFRS adjusted loss/profit
attributable to owners of the Company as an additional financial measure
to evaluate our financial performance by eliminating the impact of items
that we do not consider indicative of the performance of our business.

For FY2019, non-IFRS adjusted loss attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately US$4.2 million, as compared
to non-IFRS adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately US$3.6 million in FY2018. Our non-IFRS adjusted loss/
profit attributable to owners of the Company in FY2019 and FY2018 was
calculated according to the loss/profit attributable to the owners of the
Company for the respective years, excluding share-based payments of
approximately US$1.6 million in FY2019 and approximately US$2.6 million
in FY2018. The reasons for the change of position were elaborated in the
sub-section headed “Loss/Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company”
above.

Income Tax Expense

For FY2019, income tax expense of the Group amounted to approximately
US$0.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately US$0.9 million
or 81.8% as compared with approximately US$1.1 million for FY2018.
The decrease in income tax expense was primarily due to the decrease
of assessable profit.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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Liquidity and Source of Funding and Borrowing

As at December 31, 2019, the Group’s total bank balances and cash
amounted to approximately US$25.3 million, representing a decrease of
approximately US$7.3 million as compared with approximately US$32.6
million as at December 31, 2018. The decrease in total bank balances
and cash during the year was primarily resulted from decrease in revenue
income and prepaid royalty fees for new games.

As at December 31, 2019, current assets of the Group amounted
to approximately US$48.8 million, including bank balances and
cash of approximately US$25.3 million and other current assets of
approximately US$23.5 million. Current liabilities of the Group amounted
to approximately US$10.3 million, including trade payables and contract
liabilities of approximately US$6.6 million and other current liabilities of
approximately US$3.7 million. As at December 31, 2019, the current ratio
(the current assets to current liabilities ratio) of the Group was 4.7, as
compared with 5.0 as at December 31, 2018.

Gearing ratio is calculated on the basis of total borrowings (net of cash
and cash equivalents) over the Group’s total equity. The Group does not
have any bank borrowings and other debt financing obligations (excluding
lease liabilities) as at December 31, 2019 and the resulting gearing ratio
is nil (as at December 31, 2018: nil). The Group intends to finance the
expansion, investments and business operations with internal resources.

Material Investments

The Group did not have any new material investment during FY2019.

Material Acquisitions

The Group did not have any material acquisitions during FY2019.

Material Disposals

The Group did not have any material disposals of subsidiaries or
associated companies during FY2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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Pledge of Assets

As at December 31, 2019, none of the Group’s assets was pledged (as at
December 31, 2018: nil).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at December 31, 2019
(as at December 31, 2018: nil).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

As at December 31, 2019, the Group mainly operated in the global market
and majority of its transactions were settled in U.S. dollars, being the
functional currency of the group entities to which the transactions relate.
We currently do not hedge transactions undertaken in foreign currencies
but manage our exposure through constant monitoring to limit as much
as possible the amount of our foreign currencies exposures. Foreign
exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
functional currency. We have certain investments in foreign operations,
whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk.
Currency exposure arising from the net assets of our foreign operations
is not significant. As at December 31, 2019, the Group did not have
significant foreign currency exposure from its operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance by focusing on principles of integrity,
accountability, transparency, independence, responsibility and fairness.
The Company has developed and implemented sound corporate
governance policies and measures, and the Board is responsible for
performing such corporate governance duties. The Board will continue to
review and monitor the corporate governance of the Company, as well as
various internal policies and procedures, including but not limited to those
applicable to employees and Directors, with reference to the CG Code
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and
regulatory requirements so as to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance of the Company.

During FY2019, the Company has complied with the applicable code
provisions of the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
other than code provision A.2.1 and A.5.1 of the CG Code as described
below.

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the responsibility between
the chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. However, Mr. Lu Yuanfeng is our
chairman and chief executive officer. With extensive experience in the
internet industry, Mr. Lu Yuanfeng is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and general management of the Group and is instrumental to
the Company’s growth and business expansion since its establishment
on November 24, 2014. The Board considers that vesting the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer in the same person is beneficial
to the Group. The balance of power and authority is ensured by the
operation of the senior management and the Board, which comprises
experienced individuals. The Board currently comprises three executive
Directors, including Mr. Lu Yuanfeng and three independent non-executive
Directors and therefore has a fairly strong independence element in its
composition.

Upon the resignation of Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW (“Mr. Shaw”) as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from July 5, 2019 and
until the appointment of Mr. LU Qibo as an independent non-executive
Director on October 3, 2019, (i) the Board comprised only three executive
Directors and two independent non-executive Directors; and (ii) there
were only two members in each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Therefore, during such period,
the composition of the Board and the Board committees did not meet the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21 and 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code. The above deviation
during the concerned period was primarily due to the time needed for
the Board to identify and engage suitable candidates to fill in the casual
vacancy of Mr. Shaw and has been rectified by the Board as soon as
reasonably practicable.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board has
general powers for the management and operation of the Company’s
business. The day-to-day operations and management are delegated by
the Board to the management of the Company, who will implement the
strategy and direction as determined by the Board.

The Board currently consists of six Directors, namely Mr. Lu Yuanfeng
(chairman and chief executive officer), Mr. Huang Guozhan and Mr.
Huang Degiang as executive Directors, and Ms. Imma Ling Kit-sum,
Mr. Li Yi Wen and Mr. LU Qibo as independent non-executive Directors.
None of the Directors has a relationship (including financial, family or
other substantial or related relationship) with each other. The Board has
a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company.

The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 18 to 22 of this
annual report.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company and the Company has issued letters of appointment to
each of the independent non-executive Directors. Mr. HUANG Guozhan
and Mr. HUANG Degiang were re-elected as executive Directors on June
21, 2019. All of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors shall hold offices until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company.
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Code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code states that all directors appointed to
fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the
first general meeting after appointment and that every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the Articles, all the directors are subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Any new director appointed
by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company following his appointment
and shall be subject to re-election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition
to the Board shall hold office until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years or until
the third annual general meeting of the Company since the Listing Date
(whichever is sooner) and is subject to retirement by rotation at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years. These service contracts
and letters of appointment are subject to termination in accordance with
their respective terms. Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum and Mr. Li Yi Wen will
be for a term of three years start from the date on which dealings in
shares of the Company commence on the Stock Exchange, renewable by
mutual consent. Mr. LU Qibo entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company, and his initial term of appointment commenced from October 3,
2019 to the 2020 AGM. The term of the service contracts and the letters
of appointment may be renewed in accordance with the Articles, the
Listing Rules and other applicable laws.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions to
pension schemes, share-based compensation expenses, discretionary
bonuses, housing and other allowances and other benefits in kind)
payable to the Directors for FY2019 was approximately USDO0.3 million.
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The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Directors and performance of the Group. Details of the remuneration
of the Directors for FY2019 are set out in note 34 and note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal proceedings against the Directors.

The procedure agreed by the Board to enable Directors, upon reasonable
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense as required pursuant to code
provision A.1.6 of the CG Code.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors representing
at least one-third of the Board.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.

Directors have access to the services of the joint company secretary
to ensure that the Board procedures are followed. The joint company
secretaries of the Company are Mr. YU Ching Ming and Ms. FOK Po Yi.
In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. YU Ching Ming
and Ms. FOK Po Yi have undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during FY2019. Ms. FOK Po Yi is the vice president
of SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and appointed
as the joint company secretary. Starting from July 5, 2019, Ms. NG Wing
Yan ceased to be one of our joint company secretaries, and Ms. FOK
Po Yi replaced Ms. NG Wing Yan as the joint company secretary of
the Company with effect from July 5, 2019. After the aforesaid service
termination, Mr. YU Ching Ming and Ms. FOK Po Yi continued to act as
the joint company secretaries of the Company. Ms. FOK Po Yi has the
necessary qualifications and experience as required under Rule 3.28 and
8.17 of the Listing Rules. The main contact person of Ms. FOK Po Yi in
the Company is Mr. LU Yuanfeng.
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During FY2019, the following directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending in-house briefing or reading
materials on the following topics to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills:

RZZB-NBRFE THEELEBERATE
RN EHRREEN R EFEEEER - A
FEE AN % RO A B BB

Event/Reading
Material Eventrote

SEE B E AT RIE

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. LU Yuanfeng BRI 5 1,2
Mr. HUANG Guozhan HEEE A 1,2
Mr. HUANG Degiang =HEREE 1,2
Independent non-executive Directors BYEHITES
Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW BRfEAE e

(resigned with effect from July 5, 2019) (BE=ZF—NWF+HHHEFT) 2
Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum BRI T 1,2
Mr. LI Yi Wen FRXEE 2

Mr. LU Qibo (appointed with effect from October 3, 2019) ERREE (B=F—NF1TA=ZHLEZE)

Notes:

1. Attending training session(s) relevant to corporate governance and
regulations.

2. Reading materials relevant to corporate governance and regulations.

The Company is committed to continuously reviewing and improving its
internal systems, including those in relation to internal supervision and
control, and risk management.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted the board diversity policy which aims to build
and maintain a Board with a diversity of Directors, in terms of skills,
professional experience, educational background, knowledge, expertise,
culture, independence, age and gender. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors.
These differences will be taken into account in determining the optimum
composition of the Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit
while taking into account diversity (including gender diversity).

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates to serve as a director
of the Company, the Nomination Committee would consider the above
criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve
Board diversity, where appropriate,before making recommendations to the
Board.

The Company seeks diversity of members from multiple perspectives
in designing the composition of the Board, including gender, cultural an
education background, as well as professional experience. As at the
publication date of this annual report, the Board consists of 6 directors, of
whom one is woman. Directors are with an extensive background in fields
such as finance, accounting, audit, economics and management, while
some of them have multiple professional backgrounds.

BOARD MEETING

The Company adopts a practice to convene Board meetings regularly
which is at least four meetings per year and roughly on a quarterly basis.
A notice of a regular Board meeting shall be delivered to all the Directors
at least 14 days in advance with the matters to be discussed specified
in agenda of the meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally served. Agendas or relevant documents of
the Board or committee meetings shall be despatched to the Directors or
members of the committees at least 3 days prior to the convening of the
meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the relevant
documents and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make
their views known to the Chairman prior to the meeting. The minutes are
kept by the joint company secretaries of the Company and the copies are
circulated to all Directors for reference and record purpose.
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The minutes of the Board meetings and committees thoroughly were
recorded all matters under consideration and decisions made including
any problems raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each board
meeting and committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Directors have a right to review the minutes of the Board meetings and
the committee meetings.

According to code provision A.1.1 of the Code, board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals with
active participation of the majority of the Directors, either in person or
through electronic means of communication.

Four Board meetings and the AGM for 2019 were held during FY2019.
The Directors’ attendance is listed below:

EERNEFLEECRANERRNBEHE
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ETHﬂ TE&

AARRZE— NI BREFEANCRITHRESS
HFR_T-hERERELE %é%iﬁr@/
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Number of meetings attended
R
Board meeting AGM for 2019
—EB-NF
ESged REBFRE

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. LU Yuanfeng PRI e A 4/4 11

Mr. HUANG Guozhan EEE TS 4/4 11

Mr. HUANG Degiang EERALAE 4/4 1/1

Independent non-executive Directors BIUFHITES

Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW BRTEME A 1/4 0/1
(resigned with effect from July 5, 2019) (B=F— L F+AAHAEET)

Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum BRI 2/4 11

Mr. LI Yi Wen TR E 2/4 11

Mr. LU Qibo & RUR 5t 4 1/4 0/1
(appointed with effect from October 3, 2019) (B=—ZE—-NFE+HA=HEEZT)
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board Committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
Each of the Board Committees operates under its terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board Committees are available on the website
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company establishes an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Company has also updated the terms of reference
of the Audit Committee reflecting the changes to the Code in respect of
the Company’s risk management and internal control systems, which
became effective on November 24, 2017. The Company further amended
the terms of reference of the Audit Committee on November 23, 2018.
The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Ms. Imma LING
Kit-sum, Mr. LI Yi Wen and Mr. LU Qibo, our independent non-executive
Directors. Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum has been appointed as the chairman
of the Audit Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to review and supervise, and provide an independent view of the
effectiveness of, the financial reporting process and the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, oversee the audit process and
perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

Two meeting of the Audit Committee was held during FY2019. The
attendance of the committee members is listed below:
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Number of meetings

attended

Members RE HERE

Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum BRI T 2/2
Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW BRFERE A4

(resigned with effect from July 5, 2019) (B=F—NF+HAHEFT) 0/2

Mr. LI Yi Wen FREE 2/2
Mr. LU Qibo JERUR S A4

(appointed with effect from October 3, 2019) (BE=F—NF+HA=HEEZT) 0/2
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Nomination Committee

The Company establishes a Nomination Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, being Mr. LI Yi Wen and Mr. LU Qibo, and one
executive Director, being Mr. LU Yuanfeng, who is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and assessing
the composition of the Board and the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board on
appointment and removal of Directors. In recommending candidates for
appointment to the Board, the Nomination Committee will convene a
meeting to consider candidates on merit against objective criteria and
with due regards to the benefits of the Board. The Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations or nominations to the Board for candidates
to fill temporarily vacant or who are elected at a general meeting. A
notice issued to shareholders will provide information on the candidates.
The Board shall make the final decision on all matters in respect of
the election of its proposed candidates at any general meeting. The
selection criteria for Board members will be considered from a number
of perspectives, including but not limited to all aspects of integrity,
achievement, experience and diversity, such as gender, age, cultural and
educational background, industry experience, technical and professional
skills and/or qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to be
devoted as a Director. The Company will also take into account factors
relating to its own business model and specific needs from time to time.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Two meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during FY2019.
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Number of meetings

attended

Members ME HER B

Mr. LU Yuanfeng R R I 5 A2 2/2
Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW BRfEAE e

(resigned with effect from July 5, 2019) (BE=F—NWF+HAHAEFT) 1/2

Mr. LI Yi Wen TR E 2/2
Mr. LU Qibo B ROR S

(appointed with effect from October 3, 2019) (B=F—NF+H=HEEZET) 0/2
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Remuneration Committee

The Company establishes a Remuneration Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee has three members,
comprising two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LI
Yi Wen and Mr. LU Qibo, and one executive Director, namely Mr. LU
Yuenfeng. Mr. LI Yi Wen is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(®)

to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all directors and senior management remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management
of the Company. This should include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive directors of the Company;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive directors
and senior management of the Company for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

FMEES

ZIN/N

AR IR LT AR B Y 85+ 7 P R % <7 B AR SZ 6 B

ZEg® YAVERBERE - FHEZEEHE=

#ZRE

BREMBBEIIFATES (AIFRELE

RERREE) R—E2RTEE (MERELE) -
FRXEERFTHEZEGHNIR °

FHZRenBERE

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(U]

AARBIMBESRRSREIREHOFINBER &
RE - BRI TR EERENERF I ER
MR mESSFEHEBER

2IREESMI AR B ENE OB RIEE
BERH PR

RARFERMITEE RSREEEOFHME
NABESFELERES - FHENEREY
M RASENREEETR (BREMNREX
AR BIERRAAERERE)

RARFIFATEZNHMAESSEHER
fer N

ERFBRATHIFE - AR 08 R
B RARRAT R AN B QR R E B f R
1t

mat RAER A RAR AR BB T EM R
ARAFRPITESRSMERB A ROREE - A
ERZEHEERSOMR 3 HREEEH
BRGT B BETEARATEE  T8EK
BEAE:

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHRE (H)

(g) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;

(h) to ensure that no director of the Company or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his own remuneration;

(i) where the service contract of a director or proposed director of
the Company or its subsidiaries is required to be approved by the
shareholders of the Company pursuant to Rule 13.68 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the Remuneration Committee
(or an independent board committee) shall form a view in respect
of such service contract and advise shareholders (other than
shareholders who are directors with a material interest in such
service contract and their associates) as to whether the terms are
fair and reasonable, advise whether such service contract is in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole and
advise shareholders on how to vote; and

(j) to consider all other matters as referred to the Remuneration
Committee by the Board.

In carrying out its duties under these terms of reference, the
Remuneration Committee should:

(a) provide the remuneration packages sufficient to attract and retain
directors to run the Company successfully without paying more than
is necessary;

(b) be sensitive to the wider scene, including pay and employment
conditions elsewhere, especially when determining annual salary
increases;

(c) ensure that the performance-related elements of remuneration
form a significant proportion of the total remuneration package of
executive directors of the Company and should be designed to align
their interest with those of shareholders and to give these directors
keen incentives to perform at the highest levels; and

(d) ensure that executive share options (if any) are offered in
accordance with the Listing Rules.
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Two meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during FY2019. RZZE-NAVREE FWEESLBTRAY
& e

Number of meetings

attended

Members j24= HERE

Mr. LI Yi Wen TR E 2/2

Mr. LU Yuanfeng R R S A 2/2
Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW BRTERE A

(resigned with effect from July 5, 2019) (B=F—NWF+HAHEFT) 1/2
Mr. LU Qibo BERUK L

(appointed with effect from October 3, 2019) (B=F—NF+A=ZHEEZF) 0/2

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the securities
of the Company by the Directors, the Group’s senior management who,
because of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside
information in relation to the Group or the Company’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during FY2019. In addition, the Company is
not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by the senior
management of the Group during FY2019.

FRAMEWORK FOR DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has in place a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information (the “Policy”) which sets out the procedures and
internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside information in a
timely manner in such a way so as not to place any person in a privileged
dealing position and to allow time for the market to determine the price of
the listed securities of the Company with the latest available information.
This Policy also provides guidelines to staff of the Company to ensure
proper safeguards exist to prevent the Company from breaching the
statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate internal
control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

HER 5 NEEST A

ARRERM LR+ FAERETA - F
REF FEESREEE (RERAMBMLERE
BIEMAIGEHEERARERARAELRZAR
HE) BEEARBESFNITATA -

BIFELARENRRE  2REZTRIBBEER_FT—
NP BFEEARACETRETA © I - ARFILR
EXAEESRERER S AMRFEREE
AT ETRETA 2150 -

REHEMEER

ARFRIVEERFEOAABBEEERE (BE]D - &
hEAREIE R EMASESMNIEA RARREE - &
MEBEBAEREE R EM - MTAEEREMA
THEESFXH ERNMEBRANN - TRETSARE
EHEERBRBEABERNART LHERER - LK
BB ARRFBETIRHIES] - BREAEEHEN
BEMARBEREZERERE - ZBRTREEE
BB EE R ERGE - AR MR EERNNE
HE - ARBIARIBE 2 BMIDETIRE EHRA
R RBER PR MR QR AU TIEAERDE R -

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHRE (H)

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers has been appointed as the external auditor of
the Company with effect from December 8, 2017, and there has been no
change in the external auditor of the Company since the Listing Date.

For FY2019, the fees paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers for audit
and non-audit services (primarily related to tax advisory services) are
approximately USD532,400 and USD6,300, respectively.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow during FY2019.
A statement from the auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out on pages 97 to 104 of this annual report.
In preparing the financial statements for FY2019, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimated that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The basis on which the Company generates or preserves value over the
longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives are explained in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 25 to 33 of
this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the Group’s
assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems on an annual
basis so as to ensure that internal control and risk management systems
in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Company also has an internal audit function
which primarily carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at
least, an annual basis. The Company implements and strictly enforces
procedures on inside information according to the relevant procedures
stated under the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information.
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The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and
authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to
individual department which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance and is required to operate its own department’s business
within the scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly
adhere to the strategies and policies set by the Company from time to
time. Each department is also required to keep the Board informed of
material developments of the department’s business and implementation
of the policies and strategies set by the Board on a regular basis so as to
identify, evaluate and manage significant risks in a timely manner.

During FY2019, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group to ensure that a sound
system is maintained and operated by the management in compliance
with the agreed procedures and standards. The review covered all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions. In particular, the Board considered the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions are adequate. The review was conducted through discussions
with the management of the Company, its external auditor and the
assessment performed by the Audit Committee. The Board believes that
the existing risk management and internal control systems are adequate
and effective, in particular, for financial reporting and Listing Rules
compliance as well as for resolving internal control defects (if any).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles were conditionally adopted by the Board on November 24,
2017 and became effective on the Listing Date. A copy of the Articles
is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
Since the Listing Date up to the date of this annual report, there was no
significant change in constitutional documents of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman lIslands. Pursuant to
the Articles, general meetings shall also be convened on the written
requisition of any one or more members of the Company deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
Such meeting should be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward
at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Under Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholders holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company may at all times have the right, by a written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to
require the convening of an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2019

IR

ARRRHESRETMAL - REARFNAZE
EANA) RRBEM—BHRIAERIEFERE BT
BRI RARRBRBA BEENERRRBRR
RERRE) TH2 - OBRRAARRBAEELIENRSE
B (MARRTBREZIENEER - BIRTMitE
J&’i)%‘ﬁji@g*fﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁxiﬁg EHE®
R ARG FHELMREBARE - BAKNGE
ERMEARETT -

Rz ESfx

RRERRERREN  RERAE L RBAEX
BiUHE (BEERENES) HAMERIRERIE
HiR2E - IERIRERAS LIR2HRERBRE
TARBAREIRETRETRR - REERBNE
PRER K & 1% TIB P AL 7] KB 22 P A8 v -

RIBABERMAESSK —BREBZNEEH
KEAKAETPRARREERBRAET LER
ESRATS 2z —HRER - WMERRIRESEEIAE
HBELERAARRANESTSRARAWERES
Ko ABRERGRABREMEENEAMEBR
SARBRBRIAREG  MRAGENEEZXFKE

BMEARET - MRERER2%21ARN  EF8
ABAHAZKE  AEZFILKALARERSTAR
RAE  MARBAMEZFRALENIERE

EFRATEEFTEREARASMELENFES
BRI



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

EERERHRE (H)

The Board is not aware of any provision allowing the Shareholders to put
forward proposals at general meetings of the Company under the Articles
and the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish
to put forward proposals at general meetings may refer to the preceding
paragraph to make a written requisition to require the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director are published on the Company’s website.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Address: 2nd Floor, No. 368 Jiang Nan Da Dao (South), Haizhu District,
Guangzhou, PRC
Attention: Office of the Board

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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This is the third environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report
issued by the Group. The ESG report disclosed our sustainability policy
and performance for FY2019. The scope of the ESG report includes the
environmental and social performance of the Group’s headquarters in
Guangzhou during the period under review (unless otherwise stated). The
relevant data for all other regional offices have not been collected and
therefore is not disclosed in this ESG report.

The preparation of the ESG report complies with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange and abides by the “Comply
or Explain” provisions contained therein. The four reporting principles
— materiality, quantitative, balance, and consistency — are taken as the
basis for the preparation of the ESG report. The Board of Directors
assumes full responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting,
and through reviewing the ESG report, guarantees that the reported
content is true, accurate, and complete.

About Digital Hollywood

Digital Hollywood was listed on the Stock Exchange in 2017. The Group
is committed to becoming a leading global online game publisher while
being successful in developing and launching dozens of high-quality
mobile games.

We help China-based game developers penetrate into the international
markets with one-stop solutions, including game redesign, optimization,
marketing, distribution, monetization, payment support and other
user-related services.

We offer a diverse selection of games consisting primarily of casual
games and mid-and hardcore games in both web and mobile formats to a
demographically diverse user community.

Vision

To become and be recognized as an interactive entertainment group
providing world-class user experiences.

Objective

Connecting with happiness among players, business partners and
employees.
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Corporate culture — core values

We firmly believe that pooling people who agree with and adhere to
the common pursuit of long-term goals in creating cohesion is the most
valuable and worth-inheriting asset for us. In other words, the FA.M.I.L.Y
(Focus/Agile/Mind/In-touch/Learn/You) culture.

REN - BNMEESR

BHMBE RALBHARERATDERBEDN
APBEEE—R  BIEABAZERENHE
RAFBZABEEN  WESTEHEANTE - A
F.A.M.I.L.Y(Focus/Agile/Mind/In-touch/Learn/
You)X{t e

Game Hollywood TEMVIZIMINT

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT POLICY

We are a leading global online game publisher for China-based game
developers, with fast-growing in-house development capabilities for
mobile games.
business focuses to develop and launch mobile games by enhancing

In recent years, we have strategically expanded our

in-house development capabilities. This has also reflected our
commitment to sustainable development. We are committed to ensuring
business continuity, while sparing no effort in integrating ESG principles
into our business administrative practices, which has produced a positive
impact on the environment and the entire community.

The Board assumes overall responsibility for our ESG governance and
reporting, and is also responsible for assessing and determining our
management policies, strategies, related importance and objectives
and explaining how they relate to the Company’s business. As a
responsible corporate citizen, the Group has formulated different
policies on ESG and other issues to advance and manage matters
relating to social responsibility, such as product responsibility, labor
practices, environmental protection, health and safety, and supply
chain management, so as to guide the Group’s business partners in
putting sustainable development into practice. The relevant policies and
measures and our sustainable development performance in all respects
can be found in the corresponding sections of this ESG report.
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STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION

Our stakeholders mainly include employees, customers, suppliers,
business partners, Shareholders, the government and, in a broad sense,
the community. We are firmly convinced that our sustainable development
benefits from the unremitting support and trust of stakeholders. We listen
to the voices of stakeholders and respond to their needs through a range
of communication channels such as meetings, interviews, hotlines, official
websites, WeChat public accounts, emails, as well as communicate
with our stakeholders via the publication of annual and interim results
announcements, so as to maintain a close and harmonious relationship
with them and accordingly achieve long-term success.

COMMITMENT TO CUSTOMERS

As a technology company, we strive to create value for customers by
providing quality products and superior services. We offer services and
products primarily relating to web and mobile games. In recent years, we
have strategically expanded our business focuses to develop and launch
mobile games by enhancing in-house development capabilities to capture
the market opportunity from the fast-growing smartphone users, and our
mobile games have immediately achieved considerable success in a
number of regional markets. Since the beginning, we have established
an integrated business model and the resulting synergies have further
enhanced the overall performance of the Company. Our rich experience
in web game publishing has enabled us to effectively identify key success
drivers for mobile games and create game content that appeals to users.

We help China-based game developers penetrate into the international
markets with one-stop solutions, including game redesign, optimization,
marketing, distribution, monetization, payment support and other
user-related services. With our deep understanding of the international
markets, rich distribution experiences and proprietary technologies,
we continuously provide solutions to game developing partners for
them to reach and monetize their global user base, thereby bringing an
extremely attractive value to them. When a game is launched, we will
update and repair the system on a regular basis. We are committed to
maintaining relationship with players by creating a highly-interactive
and information-based online gaming community and organising a
series of activities in and out of the game. In addition, we will collect
player comments and suggestions through various means such as
questionnaires, forums and customer services to improve the game and
enhance the player experience. The Group strictly abides by national laws
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and regulations that are relevant to the business in developing products
and providing services and have significant impact on the Group, as
well as other laws and regulations relating to the health and safety of
products and services provided, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
and remedies, including but not limited to the Regulations on Internet
Publishing, the Measures on Internet Information Services and the
Measures for the Administration of Online Games.

During the period under review, the Group was not aware of any matter
that had been in violation of laws and regulations in relation to the
provision and use of the Group’s products and services, including but
not limited to matters concerning the health and safety of products and
services, information and labels, marketing communications (including
advertisement and promotion materials), property rights (including
intellectual property rights), and privacy issues that have a significant
impact on the Group.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We are committed to protecting the achievements of our research and
development team. To this end, we have established the Intellectual
Property Management System under which standard work programs are
formulated in respect of applying for and managing intellectual property
rights and strengthening the protection of intellectual property and this
can effectively protect the intangible assets of the Group. The Group’s
intellectual property included copyrights, trademarks, patents, trade
secrets and other rights conferred by (i) the Patent Law of the People’s
Republic of China, (ii) the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of
China, (iii) the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China, (iv) the
Measures for the Administration of Internet Domain Names in China, (v)
the Measures for the Administration of Software Products, (vi) the Law
of the People’s Republic of China Against Unfair Competition and other
applicable laws and regulations as well as other rights relating to the
protection of games, software, designs, new technologies, techniques,
etc.

We attach great importance to confidentiality in protecting intellectual
property. All interested parties are prohibited to divulge or provide relevant
information to others in the process of product development and creation.
In accordance with the “Measures for the Administration of Content
Self-review by Internet Cultural Business Entities”, our self-inspection
system will ensure that all products comply with our intellectual property
measures and relevant regulations.
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HEALTHY NETWORK

As a company with a focus on the internet business, we have the
responsibility to uphold and strengthen a healthy network culture.

For our game development business, we strictly abide by the Measures
for the Administration of Online Games and other applicable laws and
regulations. In view of this, we have built a professional content review
team. There are professionally qualified content reviewers on the team
responsible for close scrutiny to ensure that the game elements, including
names, backgrounds, sound effects, maps, scenes, character designs,
building designs, prop designs and features, do not contain any legally
prohibited or improper wordings and materials, neither should any
pornography, gambling, violence and abetment be promoted.

DATA SECURITY

Given the nature of our business, we need to collect and process a
large amount of player data. Therefore, we are exposed to the risks of
cyber attacks and the loss and leakage of data. To minimize these risks,
we have adopted a series of data security measures, such as access
authorization, password and data transmission encryption, so that data
are stored at least in two different locations on our internal server and
further backup is implemented in our disaster recovery system. The Group
has taken a number of measures to ensure network system security and
stable operation at the physical, network, system and application.

PRIVACY PROTECTION

Ensuring data privacy is crucial to protect our business and maintain our
relationship with customers and business partners. Employees must sign
a non-disclosure agreement to confirm their responsibility for keeping
the data (including sales data, business plans, customer’s personal
data, and intellectual property) in strict confidence. We have set access
authorization with respect to the customer’s personal data, restricting
employees from accessing sensitive data only unless otherwise as
required. We have also devised specific procedures to collect and process
user data to ensure that our products and services are in compliance with
applicable legal requirements.

ADVERTISING LABELS

We ensure the compliance, accuracy and authenticity of all published
materials, including press releases, labels, articles, and web contents, in
accordance with the Advertising Law of the PRC, and through the review
of the legal department.
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COMMITMENT TO EMPLOYEES
Equal opportunity

The Group always upholds the principles of fairness, openness and
justice, and applies these principles in the recruitment, assessment,
promotion, development and welfare of its staff. The Group will not allow
any employment discrimination arising out of race, color, nationality,
language, age, gender, disability, religious belief, marital status,
pregnancy, etc., and related systems are formulated in internal documents
such as the code of conduct.

Staff development

The Group adheres to the cultural core values of F.A.M.ILL.Y., and has
employees kept informed of the latest industry information and new job
skills for them to realize their full potential through a variety of training
formats and courses.

Currently, the training types received by employees include, but are not
limited to, conventional classroom training, on-the-job coaching and
experience sharing sessions, such as induction training, orientation, mini
talks, etc.
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Through continuous optimization and improvement of the performance
management system, the Group conducts regular and timely performance
evaluation of employees and maintains an annual comprehensive
performance evaluation. The main business units conduct monthly
performance appraisal. After each appraisal, employees are required to
review their performance in their daily work and set out new achievement
targets with their supervisors. Through the two-way communication
mechanism, we can receive employee’s feedback and suggestions in a
timely manner to facilitate the growth of both parties.

The promotion of employees is determined based on the results of
their performance evaluation and potentials. The Group has also put
in place promotion mechanisms for employees. Employees may apply
for competitive promotion provided that they meet the relevant years of
service and performance requirements and that they have no records of
misconduct and are in line with the Group’s corporate culture and values.
This will accordingly stimulate the initiative of excellent employees,
conducive to selecting and cultivating talents and maintaining the
sustainability of talents.

Caring for talents

The Group has always regarded employees as the key to sustainable
business development. Accordingly, the Group provides competitive
remuneration packages and benefits to employees and organises
diversified staff activities.

The Group strictly abides by labor laws and regulations of the PRC
and other laws and regulations regarding compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, hours of work, holidays, equal opportunities,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other treatment and benefits, including
the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labor Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Social Insurance Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Regulations on the Administration of
Housing Provident Funds and Employee Paid Annual Leave Regulations,
to provide domestic employees with social insurance covering pension
insurance, unemployment insurance, medical insurance, maternity
insurance, work-related injury insurance, critical illness insurance and
supplementary medical insurance as well as housing provident funds. In
addition to public and statutory holidays, employees are entitled to paid
leaves, such as marriage leave, pregnancy check-up leave, maternity
leave, paternity leave, annual leave, bereavement leave, sick leave and
bonus leave, and other benefits including meal allowances, attendance
awards, festive gifts, charity soft drinks and birthday gifts.
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Work-life balance

We attach great importance to the healthy development of employees’
physical and mental health. We enrich employee’s spare time life by
organising various recreational activities, such as badminton, table tennis
and basketball games, monthly birthday parties, festival events, Children’s
Day on the 1st of June, Thanksgiving Day,Woman’s Day on the 8th of
March, Halloween and annual dinner. These recreational activities have
greatly enriched the spiritual and cultural life of employees and enhanced
their cohesiveness and teamwork.
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B — = ERBA

Thanksgiving Day — executive service day

Attention to two-way communication

We strive to establish sound and humanized communication channels,
formal and informal, for our employees. Currently, the various
communication channels established include conferences, work reports,
WeChat, Enterprise WeChat, instant messaging software (QQ), emails
and performance appraisal interviews. Employees may express their
ideas and views through these communication channels.

Occupational health and safety

The Group is committed to providing employees with a safe, healthy
and comfortable working environment. The Group conducts unified
guidance and supervision of the safe operation of the Group companies
in accordance with China’s laws and regulations on occupational health
and safety and industry standards. The Group grants the badges for all
employees and only employees with badges can enter the office area.
Non-company personnel are required to register identity information
at the front desk and enter with a temporary visitor card. To solve the
pollution problem arising from the newly decorated office and to ease
employees’ concerns on the potential negative impacts on their health
from the decoration, the Group is equipped with high-efficiency air
purifiers and protective masks in the office area. We also plant and place
large quantities of green plants throughout the office area, taking care
of the health and safety of employees with practical actions. A complete
set of fire-fighting facilities that meet fire protection standards are placed
at a prominent position in the office. Clear guidelines for emergency exit
routes are available in the office and fire inspections are conducted to
prevent from potential fire hazards.
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Strictly abiding by laws and regulations concerning the provision of a safe
working environment and the protection of employees from occupational
hazards, such as the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, the Group provides annual physical examination
for employees and routinely publicizes the knowledge of occupational
diseases through different channels, to protect the health and related
rights and interests of employees.

As of December 31, 2019, no incidence of any work-related injury or
fatality was identified by the Group.

Since late 2019 to the beginning of 2020, in response to the COVID-19
outbreak, safety and health of the employees are the prime concern. A
number of strict protective measures have been imposed amid the period
by the Group, such as comprehensive disinfection in public facilities with
a higher frequency, further enhanced the ventilation in the office areas,
and provided personal protective hygiene products to all employees. To
strengthen the control even further, all activities surrounding the office
area are monitored, and tightening visitor and vehicle controls, to lower
the chance of office infection, hence maintaining a safe environment for
all employees.

Labor standards

Strictly abiding by laws and regulations concerning the prevention of child
labor or forced labor, such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors and other
laws and regulations, the Group prohibits the employment of child labor
and forced labor. Upon the joining of an employee, the Group strictly
implements the relevant processes of employment, so that the employee’s
data file, including identity and age, will be reviewed thoroughly to
prevent the occurrence of child labor. During the review, any child or
forged identity data found will be handled in accordance with the law. The
Group strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations of the jurisdiction in
the place of operation, signing labor contracts with employees according
to law and pays social insurance and protects the personal privacy of
employees in strict accordance with provisions.

In addition, our staff handbook and labor contracts have set out details
concerning the arrangements about working hours, overtime, leave and
dismissal. The Group’s implementations are carried out in a unified
manner according to standard working hours to ensure that the working
hours of employees are reasonable. Employees are not forced to work
and, if overtime is required, they need to obtain approval in advance and
receive paid leave afterwards. In the case of forced labor, employees
have the right to appeal to the Group’s Personnel Administration Center.

As at December 31, 2019, the Group had not identified any employment
of child labor and forced labor and no labor dispute had happened.
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COMMITMENT TO THE COMMUNITY

The Group always attaches great importance to the establishment and
maintenance of harmonious relations with the community and society. The
Group’s priorities include, but are not limited to, recruiting and cultivating
outstanding university graduates in the place of operation to take up
positions dedicated to game development and operations. In 2019, the
Group eagerly visited higher education schools in Guangzhou to conduct
campus presentations and recruitment activities and received enthusiastic
responses. Promoting the employment of university students through
such activities is an effective measure for both economic development
and social harmony.

REEEE
A career fair in the campus

In respect of the requests by relevant administrative departments in
accordance with laws and regulations for the supervision and inspection
on the Company, the Group actively cooperates with them to ensure the
fulfilment of its own social responsibilities and obligations.

CHARITY

Since the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19 Outbreak”)
in early 2020, a series of precautionary and control measures have been
and continued to be implemented across China and other countries in
the world.To shoulder our social responsibilities and offer humanitarian
support, the Group has promptly launched an assistance scheme in
response to the COVID-19 Outbreak. Under this scheme, the Group has
mobilised its global subsidiaries to procure medical masks, protective
gowns and other medical supplies and has donated the same to front-line
medical professionals and institutions in China.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group’s commitment to combating against unethical business
practices, including bribery, fraud and corruption, can be reflected in our
Anti-fraud Management System. Employees should report to us by phone
or email if there is any suspected misconduct. The relevant departments
of the Group will seriously investigate the report based on our internal
protocols and make rectification in a professional and timely manner.
Divulgement of any relevant information is strictly prohibited and offenders
will be handled in a solemn manner. A code of ethics and conduct will
also be included in the staff handbook. We will do our utmost to ensure
that employees pay attention to the code and make it part of our daily
activities, so as to create a corporate culture that upholds righteousness
and integrity. The Group strictly abides by the Law of the People’s
Republic of China against Money Laundering. We have not experienced
with any confirmed matters or open legal proceedings involving the Group
or its employees over extortion, bribery, fraud, extortion and money
laundering during FY2019.

COMMITMENT TO THE SUPPLY CHAIN

As a responsible company, we attach great importance to environmental
and social factors and are committed to sustainable operations. Similarly,
we also expect our suppliers to be self-disciplined, thereby making
a positive influence on the supply chain. We have signed a code of
conduct with suppliers that requires them to meet the legal requirements
concerning occupational health and safety, anti-discrimination,
environmental protection, anti-corruption and anti-fraud.

We conduct preliminary assessment of quality and pricing for introducing
new suppliers. In purchasing important materials, such as servers,
computers and printers, qualified new suppliers will be recorded on a
supplier list. Under normal circumstances, the list should have at least
three different suppliers in each category so as to disperse the risk arising
from any of the suppliers due to disqualification or our termination of
cooperation. For the existing suppliers, we conduct an annual assessment
to maintain the most desirable list of suppliers. We will review the prices,
product quality, payment terms, delivery and after-sales services of
product suppliers as well as the service quality, staff qualification and
sense of cooperation of service providers.
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COMMITMENT TO THE ENVIRONMENT
Emissions reduction

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations, such as
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Protection
and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Energy Conservation,
and vigorously advocates green office. Neither any significant exhaust
emissions and significant direct greenhouse gas emissions nor any water
and land pollution and hazardous and non-hazardous waste generation
and the like have been identified in the daily business of the Group, and
our business will not have any significant impact on the environment
and natural resources. The Group’s products are online games and
do not need to consume packaging materials. The main consumption
of resources is concentrated in the electricity and water consumed in
the Group’s operating premises and diesel oil used by the Company’s
vehicles. The Group spares no effort in environmental protection. The
Group adopts the low-carbon office concept in reducing emissions,
uses various measures including encouraging employees to use public
transport instead of private cars to reduce emissions, and smoking is
strictly prohibited in all parts of the office premises.

The Group remains committed to paper and material recycling. For
instance, staff can collect office supplies for recycling and reuse
purposes. For waste materials that are not recyclable but still useful,
such as obsolete mainframes and keyboards, they are sorted according
to the Company’s operational needs and reusable parts are reserved for
recycling and reuse purposes. As such, the actual life cycle of electronic
devices can be extended and the aim of reducing the environmental
hazard arising from electronic product manufacturing can be achieved.
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Resource efficiency

The Group advocates the concept of environmental protection, energy
conservation and low carbon office. To save natural resources, we have
taken the following actions:

. Emails, instant communication tools and WeChat at Work are used
and employees are not encouraged to print paper. Only necessary
documents are printed and double-sided printing and paper recycling
are being promoted. The Group encourages paperless processes in
work attendance approval, application for using conference rooms
and internal announcements, etc.

. For used materials in offline activities, recyclable materials are used
and used materials are recycled as far as possible to comply with
the principle of recycling.

. Priority is given to energy-saving lighting and other energy-saving
appliances in purchasing to reduce electricity consumption.

. Air conditioners are turned off during non-working hours or when
the office occupancy rate is low. In non-summer seasons like winter,
the use of air conditioners is suspended to reduce exhaust gas and
electricity consumption. New office premises are equipped with
transparent glass to increase the transparency and lighting, thus
reducing the need for office lights and reducing energy consumption.

. Signs reminding employees to save water are posted in toilets to
enhance employees’ awareness of water conservation.
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COMPREHENSIVE PERFORMANCE mEEMERR
Prevention of bribery and corruption Br L BHER R BF L E S
2019 2018’
Indicators BE —E-hEF —E—)N\F!
Cases involving bribery, extortion, fraud and RN - $R - BFERARE
money laundering (number of cases) MM (R) 0 0
Product and service quality ERREREEE
Service performance: R R
2019 2018
Indicators B —E-hF —Z—)\F
Legal cases in which products and services are
suspected of safety and health issues Em MRS i 2 RIERES
(number of case) FARM (R) 0 0
Cases in which products and services are
suspected of infringing intellectual Em R RIS IRITIC B EER
property rights (number of case) =M4#E ) 0 0
Complaints due to divulgement of
customer information (number of complaint) FE#BEEF(EEMEIIRFHE (F]) 0 0

Emissions?

Air pollutant emissions (office vehicles)®:

BEr 2
RESRYPR RARE)

2019 2018
Indicators B ZE-NF —ZE-N\F
Nitrogen oxide (NOXx) (kilogram) A& (Fx) 1.28 1.28
Sulphur oxides (SOx) (kilogram) ety (F=) 0.05 0.05

! The disclosure of data for the year of 2018 was mainly aimed to meet
the reporting principles of consistency in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules, and the
related disclosures in the 2019 ESG report shall prevail.

2 The Group’s business scope involves a small amount of paper and e-waste
emissions. As the data collection system is still in the process of being
established, the related data is not disclosed in the ESG report.

3 The calculation method and the emission factor of air pollutant emissions
were established with reference to the Technical Guide for Air Pollutant
Emission Inventory for Road Vehicles (Trial) issued by the Ministry of
Ecology and Environment of the PRC. The scope of calculation of air
pollutant emissions in 2018 includes a private car owned and used by
the Group,and the scope of calculation of air pollutant emissions in 2019
includes two private cars owned and used by the Group.
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Greenhouse gas emissions:

H

HEPR

Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Land-based Transportation Enterprises

(Trial) issued by the National Development and Reform Commission of the B S
PRC.
5 The number of employees was derived from the total number of employees 5
of the Group as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. —HEFHE—
BAZ -

indirect greenhouse gas emissions of our business generated by the use of
purchased electricity. The calculation method and the calculation of emission
factor of emission were established with reference to the “2011-2012
Regional Power Grid Average Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors in China”

The scope of calculation of indirect greenhouse gas emissions includes the g

issued by the National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC.

EREBHEEFRA

2019 2018
Indicators B —E-NF — N\
Direct greenhouse gas emission*: RERBEEHNRE
Office vehicles
(kilograms of carbon dioxide equivalent) RARB (FTr-GERES 8,324.23 8,314.93
Average total direct greenhouse gas emissions
by each employee® (kilograms of carbon BREBSTFHREREE Tﬁ#ﬁﬁlﬁ@i
dioxide equivalent per person) (FrR-&tKEE 44.51 45.69
Indirect greenhouse gas emission®: AEREREERES
Purchased electricity
(kilograms of carbon dioxide) SNEE SN (Fr_S|bR) 125,205.03 125,136.02
Average total indirect greenhouse gas
emissions by each employee BEEFIREREBEEERESE
(kilograms of carbon dioxide per person) (F-—gaik,/AN) 669.55 687.56
Use of resources BERFEA
Energy consumption: BEIREAE -
2019 2018
Indicators BE —E-hEF —E-)N\F
Purchased electricity (kilowatts-hour) SNEE S (FERE) 238,002.10 237,404.71
Average electricity consumption by BAEBFHENERRAE
each employee (kilowatts-hour per person) (FEEA) 1,272.74 1,304.42
Gasoline (liter) ol (BF) 4,200.00 3,600.00
Average total gasoline consumption by BE BT AURERES
each employee (liter per person) (BF/N) 22.46 19.78
4 The calculation method and the calculation of emission factors were 4 HEEREEEINETEREASEEENER
established pursuant to the Guidelines for Accounting and Reporting of FERMERNERETAEENR  EFEHEANA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE - gRERHRE (H)

Paper consumption: WREEE -
2019 2018
Indicators B —E-NF —ZT-)N\F
Total paper consumption (kilogram) FRAREE (TR) 750.00 695.00
Average total paper consumption by
each employee (kilogram per person) BlREFERAREE (TR A) 4.01 3.82
Water consumption’: FCHEST :
2019 2018
Indicators B —E-NEF —ZE-N\F
Total water consumption (cubic meter) FK#EE (L7 K) 805.00 753.00
Proportion of outsourced tap water (%) SNEE B AR 7K (%) 100 100
Total water consumption by each person
(cubic meter per person) BEEAKEE (IHXKAN) 4.30 4.14
Employment EE
Employee composition: BB :
2019 2018
Indicators B —E-NEF —ZT-N\F
Number of employee (number)® EEAZ(A)? 187 182
By gender RIS 5
Female employee (number) ZEE (A) 64 67
Male employee (number) BEE (A) 123 115
4 Water consumed by the Group comes from the municipal pipe network and y EENAKE R EHEENBTFEEEASKEUKER
there are no issues in sourcing water. FHEEIBRE o
8 The number of employees was derived from the total number of employees g HEEBABEESRABE _Z—NE+_A=+
of the Group as at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. —HEHEE-ZT-NF+A=+—HNEELE
BAZ -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE - gRELAHRE (H)

Occupational health and safety BERERZR
Health and safety of employees: BEIRELSE
2019 2018
Indicators BE —E-hEF —E-N\EF
Work-related death (number of case) ATSRTHHK (R) 0 0
Development and training 2% R B IE T
Employee training: I -
2019 2018
Indicators B —E-NF —ZE-N\F
Total training hours RIEIREEL (VNEF) 320.00 237.50
Per capita training hours (hours per person) AEEIEE (N A 1.71 1.30
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE - gRERHRE (H)

INDEX OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE
ISSUED BY THE HONG KONG STOCK
EXCHANGE

BRI (RE  HERERK
&Hi55]) &5

General —RIKE
disclosures Related sections REaR ESGHER
and KPIs Description in the ESG report ERIEE | EBREH
Environmental Aspect BIEHE
Aspect A1: Emissions BEA1 : HEBY
General Information on: Emissions reduction —MHE | FRAERKAEREYEN - [ | BB
Disclosure (a) the policies; and KR LHEEES - BERESR
(b) compliance with relevant laws and BEYNELESH :
regulations that have a significant (a) B3R« &
impact on the issuer (b) BFHETABEATE
relating to air and greenhouse gas R MR REAE MR B R & kY
emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective Comprehensive KPI A1 | SEiiE A R HE IR, | BRABRGR
emissions data. performance i)
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) | Comprehensive KPIA1.2 | BEREANE (LN E) | SREBERE
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per performance R (@) %E (WABEE |1
unit of production volume, per facility). B - BERMBTE)
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) | Data collection KPIA13 |FTEABEREEYRE (U | KERBRE
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per | system in the process FE) K (ER) ZE (A |29
unit of production volume, per facility). of being established BES®EM - BERBEE)
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in | Data collection KPIA1.4 | FTE4AEZEEYLESE (U | WEBRE
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity |system in the process FE) R (W@ER) BE (L | 2%
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per | of being established BESBM - SEREFE)
facility).
KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate Emissions reduction KPIA1.5 | LB IEBEMEME LTS | BABER
emissions and results achieved. R
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- | Emissions reduction KPIA1.6 |HlEREEREZEEYMN | RAOHEK
hazardous wastes are handled, reduction FE ORI EE SR IEKFT
initiatives and results achieved. [SInES
Aspect A2: Use of Resources BEA2: ERER
General Policies on the efficient use of resources, | Resource efficiency —MREE | FRERER (BEER K | BREE
Disclosure including energy, water and other raw REAMRMEL) BBER
materials.
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption | Comprehensive KPIA2.1 | RIS ERE R /SEE | GREeERE
by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total | performance BEIR (W& - |alh) BFEE i)
(kWh in *000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit (AFETFREETE) REE (40
of production volume, per facility). ABEE B - BIEREE)
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE - gRELAHRE (H)

General —RIKE
disclosures Related sections REaE ESGH®ER
and KPIs Description in the ESG report BERIEE | EBRED
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. | Comprehensive KPIA22 | BFEKERTE (INABEE |HRAEBRE
per unit of production volume, per facility). | performance B - §IERMEITE) ]
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency Resource efficiency KPI A2.3 | il gER{E AR EI MRS | BRAER
initiatives and results achieved. R
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in | Comprehensive KPI A2.4 |#aiskEGER/KRE LA ER | REEMEK
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water | performance fRE - ARIBFAKEEE B
efficiency initiatives and results achieved. PEGIEEIES
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished | Not applicable KPIA2.5 | R RFTA B EMEIRNEE TEA
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, (CAMEETE) & (WER) 84
with reference to per unit produced. EBf(heE
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources BHEA3: BRERARER
General Policies on minimising the issuer’s Not applicable —RIFEE | RIEBRTABRERRALR | NEA
Disclosure significant impact on the environment and ERERZERNBUR
natural resources.
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of | Not applicable KPIA3.1 | il ¥ S8 HIRREKAE | TEA
activities on the environment and natural BHEAZEREHENERER
resources and the actions taken to AR ENTE
manage them.
Social Aspect HEHE
Aspect B1: Employment EEB1 : EE
General Information on: Equal opportunity and —RWE | AT NRE  BERE TE#E
Disclosure (a) the policies; and caring for talents F - TYERSE - BRE - TS | BIZAS
(b) compliance with relevant laws and 2 Zift - REBAREM
regulations that have a significant il MR
impact on the issuer (a) BR + &
relating to compensation and dismissal, (b) BFHBITABERTE
recruitment and promotion, working hours, HARRDE R RIROINE R
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment | Comprehensive KPI B1.1 | #Z1E 5] - BFEEA - FEAR | SFEERE
type, age group and geographical region. |performance i@ EI D HEB A - i
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE - HEEER

amE (&)

General —RIKE

disclosures Related sections REaR ESGHER

and KPIs Description in the ESG report BRIBE |t EBRED

Aspect B2: Health and Safety EEB2: @REZ2

General Information on: Occupational health —MRIFEE | AHREZE2TERERIRE |BEEENE

Disclosure (a) the policies; and and safety BEBRBEMTEMN - e
(b) compliance with relevant laws and (a) R + &

regulations that have a significant (b) BTFHEITABERTE
impact on the issuer KM REAE MR B ) & B
relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. | Comprehensive KPI B2.1 | AT{EREMLTHABR KL | SGE8EWEK
performance Ko i)

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and Occupational health KPI B2.3 | il FTER MM B R R L S | B ERE
safety measures adopted, how they are and safety i ARBRRITRER, |22
implemented and monitored. b7

Aspect B3: Development and Training BEB3 : #R R

General Policies on improving employees’ Staff development —REE | ERRAEREBITIEREN [EITHE

Disclosure knowledge and skills for discharging duties N M B RE R ESR o FE S
at work. Description of training activities. JEE) o

Aspect B4: Labor Standards [BEB4 : % T#A|

General Information on: Labor standards —MEE | FAMLETI SRS TIA : | SE)2ER|

Disclosure (a) the policies; and (a) Bk + &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and (b) BFHEITABEALE
regulations that have a significant K FERDAR RAR B E R
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labor.

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review Labor standards KPI B4.1 f*‘Alﬁﬁﬂ‘%ﬁ%’\%ﬁllﬁ’\]%ﬁ@lﬁx%ﬁ L Eh R
employment practices to avoid child and GETRBHBT -
forced labor.

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate Labor standards KPI B4.2 | il (e B IR E ARG HR B | £ F%R|
such practices when discovered. BN ETERE Y P8R o

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management BEB5 : HEEEE

General Policies on managing environmental and | Commitment to the — R | FEEEENBERTESRR | LHEEY

Disclosure social risks of the supply chain. supply chain Bk R
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE - gRELAHRE (H)

General —RIKE

disclosures Related sections REaE ESGH# &

and KPIs Description in the ESG report BERIEE | EBRED

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility BEB6 : EmEMT

General Information on: Commitment to —REE | EEMERERNRGEHOER | P HIEK

Disclosure (a) the policies; and customers Hed  BE - RERLESE |#

(b) compliance with relevant laws and Advertising labels BRI BEEEE
regulations that have a significant Healthy network (a) BR + & EERK
impact on the issuer (b) BFHETABERATE

relating to health and safety, advertising, KIAEREE R RAR AR E R

labelling and privacy matters relating

to products and services provided and

methods of redress.

KPI 6.1 Percentage of total products sold or Comprehensive KPI 6.1 |EEXEBEZXEMARTRLT |HREEREK
shipped subject to recalls for safety and | performance HEEFREHMARKNES |8
health reasons. t o

KPI 6.2 Number of products and service related | Comprehensive KP1 6.2 | BERENEMMEBREHRFE | HREERER
complaints received and how they are performance B AR ES X - )
dealt with

KPI 6.3 Description of practices relating to Intellectual property KPI1 6.3 |G ERRENBERES |HHBER
observing and protecting intellectual BBRIED o
property rights.

KPI 6.5 Description of consumer data protection | Data security KP16.5 |l EEEERRERLER |&iEL:
and privacy policies, how they are % AREERITRERS TLEB(RE
implemented and monitored. b7

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption EWEB7 : RES

General Information on: Anti-corruption — T | AL $R - HER |[REB

Disclosure (a) the policies; and SRR
(b) compliance with relevant laws and (a) BUR + &

regulations that have a significant (b) BFHEITABEARE
impact on the issuer HIABREEE RAR DI &R

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and

money laundering.

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding | Comprehensive KPIB7.1 | REESREIAE ZTARKHEEE |GEEWE
corrupt practices brought against the issuer | performance RHTEELENESHFARMT |R
or its employees during the reporting period W R RRFLAER
and the outcomes of the cases.

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and | Anti-corruption KPI B7.2 |##aifh&tE e N RBEF AN | REBE
whistle-blowing procedures, how they are HERITRER A
implemented and monitored.

Aspect B8: Community Investment [BEB8 : HERE

General Policies on community engagement to Commitment to the — BT | B B R ERERLIER | SRR

Disclosure understand the needs of the communities | community EHEEEMEREERTE |#%

where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the

communities’ interests.

BEBALEMEAREK
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRSE

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on November 24,
2014 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. The Group is a leading global online game
publisher for China-based game developers, with fast-growing in-house
development capabilities for mobile games.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the
Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year by principal activities is
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which includes a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group,
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators, particulars of important events affecting the Group during
the year, and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business, could be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance
Report” in this annual report. In addition, a discussion on relationships
with its key stakeholders is included in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis”. The review and discussion form part of this
directors’ report.

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2019
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERHE (H)

RESULTS, DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The consolidated results of the Group for FY2019. are set out on pages
105 to 220 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend payment of any final dividend
for FY2019.

The Company currently does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. The amount of dividends actually distributed to the
Shareholders will depend on the Company’s earnings and financial
condition, operating requirements, capital requirements and any other
conditions that the Directors may deem relevant and will be subject to
approval of the Shareholders. The Board has the absolute discretion to
recommend any dividends.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from May 21,
2020 to May 26, 2020, both days inclusive and during which period
no share transfer will be effected, for the purpose of ascertaining
shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting to be held on May 26, 2020 (the “2020 AGM”). In order to be
eligible to attend and vote at the 2020 AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for
registration with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 pm on May 20, 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERHE (H)

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is
set out on page 13 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group during
FY2019 are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements on
page 168 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection
and has not noted any material non-compliance with all relevant laws
and regulations in relation to its business including health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment. The Group
has implemented environmental protection measures and has also
encouraged staff to be environmental friendly at work by consuming the
electricity and paper according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy
consumption and minimize unnecessary waste. For further details of
the Group’s environmental policies and performance, please refer to the
section of “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual
report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERHE (H)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during FY2019
are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements on page
189 to 190 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during FY2019 are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 191 to 192 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2019, the Company’s distributable reserves were
US$33.0 million.

BORROWINGS

As at December 31, 2019, the Company did not have any bank

borrowings.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during FY2019.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the
laws of Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERHE (H)

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE IPO

The net proceeds from the initial public offering of the Company dated
December 15, 2017 (the“IPO”) amounted to US$35.4 million after
deducting share issuance costs and listing expenses. During FY2019,
the net proceeds from the listing were utilised in accordance with the
proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus, with the balance amounted
to approximately US$17.3 million. The balance of fund will continue
to be utilised according to the manner as disclosed in the Prospectus.
The Group held the unutilised net proceeds in short-term deposits
with licensed institutions in Hong Kong. In 2020, the Company will use
the proceeds raised from the IPO in accordance with its development
strategies, market conditions and intended use of such proceeds. Details
are set out in the following table:

Net amount
available as at Actual net

December 31, amount utilised

BERLRBERSRRFEARE

ARBRZE—+F+-ATHBETHERRH
BHE((BERARBE]D) MERRFEA/IBAAE
ET CBRBROBITRAR EHRY) - RZE—A
HBEE - EHAEFRFEERBEALRBHR
TR+ F+ - AR HAMNARER [RREE &P
BHRIERG] —HMEAREREDA - FEEHD
RITIABET - FAEHRBRERRERRFEZ
RE#A - AEBEBRBAAERIBFEAZRT
REAFRREEFEEE - —T_2F - KAQF
HBREEERER  THSEARERAHEEMSE
REMRERS  BAZETE - FBEFRLTER

Unutilised
amount as at Expected timeline for

December 31, utilising the remaining

2018 in FY2019 2019 Net Proceeds oo
BE-Z-N\F —Z2-N BE-Z-hF
+t=ZA=t+—-H BREE tTZA=+-8 BRABTHESREFRE
AHEARE BRBAFR MABASE MRER
USD’ 000 USD’ 000 USD’ 000
FT=rn FTErx FTEx
Investment 13,7451 6,308.3 7,436.8 Expected to be fully utilised on or
before June 30, 2022
B4 BN T —F A A=+B%ZH
THHA
Development and research 8,073.5 2,190.8 5,882.7 Expected to be fully utilised on or
before December 31, 2022
3 B 5T HERR-ZZ__F+RA=+—H%
ZRESHA
Expansion of online game business 4,227.8 1,671.5 2,656.3 Expected to be fully utilised on or
before December 31, 2021
BREBESRE BN -Z-—F+-A=t—RH%
ZRESHA
Marketing and advertisement 1,916.2 1,916.2 — Had been fully utilised
EHNEE BEEHHA
Working capital and other general 3,040.2 1,752.0 1,288.2  Expected to be fully utilised on or
corporate purposes before December 31, 2021
LEESNEAM—REERE BN -Z-—F+-A=t—RH%
ZRESHA
Total 31,002.8 13,738.8 17,264.0

mat
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERHE (H)

Note: The expected timeline for utilising the remaining proceeds is based on the
best estimation of the future market conditions made by the Group. It will
be subject to changes based on the current and future development of the

market conditions.

DIRECTORS

During FY2019 and to the date of this annual report, the Board consists
of the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. LU Yuanfeng (Chairman)
Mr. HUANG Guozhan
Mr. HUANG Degiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW (resigned with effect from July 5, 2019)
Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum

Mr. LI Yi Wen

Mr. LU Qibo (appointed with effect from October 3, 2019)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages 18 to 24
in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” to
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERHE (H)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company, under which they agreed to act as executive Directors for
an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either the executive Director or the Company.

Mr. LI Yi Wen and Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum have signed an appointment
letter with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date. Mr. LU Qibo entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company, and his initial term of appointment commenced from
October 3, 2019 to the next annual general meeting of the Company.
Each of the independent non-executive Directors’ appointment letters may
be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either of the Director or the Company Under the respective appointment
letters, each of the independent non-executive Directors is entitled to a
fixed Director’s fee.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (excluding
contracts expiring or determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation).

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Significant Related Party
Transactions” in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no contract of significance was entered
into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during FY2019 or subsisted at
the end of the year and no contract of significance for the provision
of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling
Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during FY2019 or
subsisted at the end of the year.
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DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Significant Related Party
Transactions” in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement and contract
of significance to the business of the Group which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or any entity
connected with such a Director had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during FY2019.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are decided by the Board with reference to the recommendation given
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest
paid individual in the Group are set out in Notes 34 and 24 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 216 to 220 and pages 199 to
201 of this annual report.

For FY2019, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director or
any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
Directors has waived any emoluments for FY2019.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are
payable, for FY2019, by our Group to or on behalf of any of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

During FY2019, none of the Directors or their respective close associates

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that
competed or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group, other than being a director of the Company and/or
its subsidiaries.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any
other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

On November 24, 2017, each of the Controlling Shareholders entered
into the deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-competition”) in
favor of the Company, pursuant to which the Controlling Shareholders
have irrevocably, jointly and severally given certain non-competition
undertakings to the Company. Details of the Deed of Non-competition
are set out in the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders — Deed of Non-competition” in the Prospectus.

The Controlling Shareholders confirmed that they have complied with
the Non-competition Deed for FY2019. The independent non-executive
Directors have conducted such review for FY2019 and also reviewed the
relevant undertakings and are satisfied that the Deed of Non-competition
has been fully complied with.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at the end of the year or at any time during FY2019.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During FY2019, other than the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme as set out
in the section under “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme” and Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during
FY2019.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During FY2019, the Group had not made any loan or provided any
guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior
management of the Company, the Controlling Shareholders or their
respective connected persons.
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POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On May 27, 2017, the Company adopted the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme approved by the resolutions of our Shareholders. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate employees,
Directors and other participants, and to provide a means of compensating
them through the grant of options pursuant to the terms of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme (“Options”) for their contribution to the growth and
profits of the Group, and to allow such employees, Directors and other
persons to participate in the growth and profitability of the Group.

Our Board has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited as the trustee
(“Trustee”) for the administration of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
and to hold the Shares which may be granted under the Options through
Epic City Limited (“‘Nominee”) a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Trustee.
The Trustee shall act in accordance and cooperate with our Board for
the purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Our Company will
use Shares held by the Nominee and new Shares to be allotted by us to
satisfy the Options upon exercise.

Existing Shares held by the Nominee

The Shares which may be transferred from the Nominee upon exercise
of all Options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall not exceed 149,999,973 Shares (i.e. being the Shares held by the
Nominee representing 7.5% of the enlarged issued share capital of our
Company as of the Listing Date). Options lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall not be counted
for the purpose of calculating this limit. For the avoidance of doubt,
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules only applies to the grant of options over
new shares or other new securities of a listed issuer or its subsidiaries.
For the Options to be satisfied by transfer of the existing Shares from
the Nominee to the relevant participants of the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme upon exercised, as there will be no new Share allotted by the
Company to satisfy these Options, such grants of Options were not and
will not be governed by Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

New Shares to be issued by our Company

The new Shares which may be issued by our Company upon exercise of
all Options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and
other share option schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions
of the Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed 200,000,000 Shares,
(i.e. 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date
(“Scheme Mandate Limit”) and as of the date of this annual report).
Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating this
Scheme Mandate Limit.
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As of the date of this annual report, 200,000,000 Shares are available for
issue, which represents 10% of the total issued Shares.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
the options granted to or to be granted to each eligible person under the
Share Option Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue.

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme at any time during the period to be determined
by our Board at its absolute discretion and notified by our Board to each
grantee of the Options (the “Grantee”) as being the period during which
an Option may be exercised and in any event, such period shall not be
longer than 10 years from the date upon which any particular Option is
granted in accordance with the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Options
may be vested over such period(s) as determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion subject to compliance with the requirements under
any applicable laws, regulations or rules.

The exercise price (“Exercise price”) shall be such price as determined
by our Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant of the
relevant Option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer of
the grant of the Option), but in the case that any Share would be allotted
and issued to a Grantee upon the exercise of an Option in accordance
with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Exercise Price
shall not be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a Business Day, (b) the average closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for
the five (5) Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant, and
(c) the nominal value of a Share. For the avoidance of doubt, in the case
that the Share would be transferred from the Trustee to a Grantee upon
the exercise of an Option in accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme, the Exercise Price shall be determined by the
Board, as it may think fit taking into account the Grantee’s contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.

A summary of the terms of the Post-IPO Share Incentive Option Scheme,
including the information as required to be disclosed in this annual
report pursuant to Rule 17.09 of the Listing Rules, has been set out in
the section headed “D. Share Incentive Scheme” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus.
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On February 15, 2018, the Board approved to grant Options from the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to eligible employees for their past
contribution to the success of the Group, and to provide incentives to
them to further contribute to the Group, the details of which are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated February 20, 2018.

The Options are conditionally vested upon satisfying specified service
vesting condition, which is mutually agreed by the employees and
the Company. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
repurchase or settle the Options in cash.

On February 15, 2018, 49,498,610 Options, which are to be satisfied
solely by the Shares held by Epic City Limited when they are exercised,
were granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. No new Share
will be allotted to satisfy such Options. The vesting period of the Options
granted is three years and the vesting schedule is 33.33% after twelve
months from the grant date, 33.33% after twenty-four months from the
grant date, and 33.34% after thirty-six months from the grant date. The
exercise price of the Options granted is HK$0.0074 per Share (in respect
of 21,419,696 share options), or US$0.0074 per Share (in respect of
28,078,914 share options) (equivalent to HK$0.0579 per Share based on
the exchange rate of HK$1.00 to US$0.1279). As no new Shares will be
allotted by the Company to satisfy the Options, the grant of the Options is
not governed by Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The options granted vested as follows:

33.33% vested
Further 33.33% vested
Remaining 33.34% vested

On the 1st anniversary of the date of grant
On the 2nd anniversary of the date of grant
On the 3rd anniversary of the date of grant

No Option has been granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company
or an associate of any of them (as defined in the Listing Rules) since its
adoption and up to December 31, 2019.
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The Company has not granted any Options to be satisfied by new Shares
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Details of movements of the
number of the Options to be satisfied by existing Shares held by the
Nominee under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme for FY2019 are set
out below:
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As at December 31, 2019, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/
she was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as
follows:

Interest in Shares or Underlying Shares of our
Company

Name of Director Nature of Interest
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RAEQBRGSHEER G B ERS

Approximate
percentage of the
Number of ordinary Company’s issued

shares interested share capital

EARRAEBITRAN
REHA EmtE BERENZERHY BMOBED
Mr. LU Yuanfeng®@® Interest in controlled corporation, interest of 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
spouse, interest held jointly with
another person
PR U o A @) HEmeDEEER - BEEs  BE—AL
KRR AHER
Mr. HUANG Guozhan® Interest in controlled corporation, interest 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
held jointly with another person
HEREEEO REGEEER  BE - ATHEFEOER
Mr. HUANG Degiang Interest in controlled corporation, interest 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%

held jointly with another person
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Note:

Q]

(2

®)

4)

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Under the SFO, Mr. LU Yuanfeng is deemed to be interested in all Shares
held by LYF Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly owned by
him. Mr. LU Yuanfeng is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held by
(1) Ms. LUO Simin as Ms. LUO Simin is the spouse of Mr. LU Yuanfeng; and
(2) Mr. HUANG Guozhan and Mr. HUANG Degiang as they are parties acting
in concert.

Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Guozhan is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by (1) LXT Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by him; and (2) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG
Degiang as they are parties acting in concert.

Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Degiang is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by (1) HDQ Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by him; and (2) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG
Guozhan as they are parties acting in concert.

Interest in associated corporation

s

(1M

(2

3)

4)

FEIL EZALREOWER -

RBEEFRPERG - BERE L EWRBRLYF
Digital Holdings Limited (8 & &M B M AR]) FTF
ZEIRD R B R o FEIRIE &4 MR R AN(1) 58
BELZT (AREEHL Tt AERIEEENEE)
RBERHREEREEREE (BREBEFR—BIT
PAL) AN HBRMTEEER -

RIBFEF R E RG] - BEHEERBR/R(LXT
Digital Holdings Limited ({F&&#EMAA]) : &
QFERIERE REFLIREEREE (ARE
FR—BITHAL) 2 BRHPEEES -

RIEFEF LB GRS - FEBEERKRR/R()HDQ
Digital Holdings Limited ({F&&#EMAA]) : &
QERELE BEHZTRERHELE (RRE
FR-BITHAL) 2 BRHPERAES -

RAEEE B RS

Approximate
percentage of

Capacity/nature Number of shareholding

Name of Director Associated Corporation of interest Shares interest
EEnA HEEE 55 EmtE RO EE BOREBD L
Mr. LU Yuanfeng LYF Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
B R I 5T A LYF Digital Holdings Limited BEn#EAA
Mr. HUANG Guozhan  LXT Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
HEEE A LXT Digital Holdings Limited EnEEA
Mr. HUANG Degiang HDQ Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
EHE LA HDQ Digital Holdings Limited BEnEBA

Note: ffsE -

1) Under the SFO, a holding company is regarded as an “associated (1) REBHRBEED  ERAFAERKRAEEE

corporation.” As of December 31, 2019, LYF Digital Holdings Limited, LXT
Digital Holdings Limited and HDQ Digital Holdings Limited held 27.64%,
2.85% and 4.91% of our issued share capital, respectively, and thus are our

associated corporations.
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Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme” and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at
December 31, 2019, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company has any interests and/or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES

So far as our Directors are aware, as of December 31, 2019, the following
persons will have interests or short positions in Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, directly or indirectly, interested in 10%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of our Company and are
therefore regarded as substantial shareholders of our Company under the
Listing Rules:
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Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Number of ordinary issued share

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest shares interested” capital
BAEDRBRT
RREE,/ £8 BEME BERERNZTEREAM RENBHNEDL
Mr. LU Yuanfeng®@ Interest in a controlled corporation; 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
interests of spouse; interest held
jointly with another person
BERIE @ REGEE S © BB
5 — AT HFARAER
LYF Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner; interests held 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%

jointly with another person
LYF Digital Holdings Limited

EslEEA  BR - ATHREHENER

BREBHEEERAT

—E-NEFFER



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

EEERE (8)

Number of ordinary

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
issued share

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest shares interested” capital
HADRBET

RREE,E8B BRME REESENEERZED RANBMOE DL

Ms. LUO Simin® Interest in a controlled corporation; 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
interests of spouse; interest held
jointly with another person

BREHxLe REGVEE S © BEER
BE— ATHEABENHER

Angel Age Limited Beneficial owner; interests held 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
jointly with another person

Angel Age Limited EREBA HE—ATHA
HAEMNER

Mr. HUANG Guozhan® Interest in a controlled corporation; 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
interest held jointly with another person

ERUREEW REGEERER  BE—AL
HEAFHAOER

LXT Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner; interests held 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
jointly with another person

LXT Digital Holdings Limited EnlE  BHE—-AL
HRFENER

Mr. HUANG Degiang® Interest in a controlled corporation; 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
interest held jointly with another person

BERELEO REHEE RS c BE— AL
HEFHAOER

HDQ Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner; interests held 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
jointly with another person

HDQ Digital Holdings Limited EnlEA HE—-AL
HREFHAOER

7Road Holdings Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation 310,496,901 (L) 15.52%

EtABERARATO

REHEE S

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2019
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EEERE (8)

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Number of ordinary issued share

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest shares interested” capital
HAEDRBRT

RREE,E8B BRME REERNEERHA® BRANBMOE DL

7Road International Beneficial owner 310,496,901 (L) 15.52%

7Road International EnEBA

The Core Trust Company Limited® Trustee 149,525,920 (L) 7.48%

The Core Trust Company Limited™ XA

Epic City Limited Nominee for another person 149,525,920 (L) 7.48%

Epic City Limited F—ATHREBA
Notes:
(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) Under the SFO, Mr. LU Yuanfeng is deemed to be interested in all Shares
held by LYF Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly owned by
him. Mr. LU Yuanfeng is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held
by (i) Ms. LUO Simin as Ms. LUO Simin is the spouse of Mr. LU Yuanfeng;
and (ii) Mr. HUANG Guozhan and Mr. HUANG Degiang, as they are parties

acting in concert.

3) Under the SFO, Ms. LUO Simin is deemed to be interested in all Shares
held by Angel Age Limited, a company which is wholly owned by her. Ms.
LUO Simin is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held by (i) Mr. LU
Yuanfeng as Mr. LU Yuanfeng is the spouse of Ms. LUO Simin; and (ii) Mr.
HUANG Guozhan and Mr. HUANG Degiang, as they are parties acting in

concert.

(4) Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Guozhan is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by (i) LXT Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by him; and (ii) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG

Degiang as they are parties acting in concert.

GEE

(1

(2)

(3)

4)

FE LI RRZALTRIROPHEFR -

BIEFSH A EGRA - ERE S EHEBRLYF
Digital Holdings Limited ({8 & &M BHAR]) 4
B2 ARG PR R o BRI % 4 MR B R)
BEHLZL (AREEHRLLTARESENRB) K(ii)
FEHAERERZREE (ARBEER—RITHA
T) HEND RGP EARER -

RIEFSHRBE GG - 5B 8L 18 AR Angel
Age Limited (IR 2 EHEH LA HANZMRG
RIEA R o 5E BB T IR AR EIRIE K&
(FARPEERIE A RS LT MERE) R(i)EEHEEE
REEBRLE (ARESA—BITHAL) HEHE
R P -

RIEEH R EEED - FEE L EWR ARGLXT
Digital Holdings Limited (& & #A &2 a]) k(i)
PERERE REBEGLTREEAEE (ARESA
—BITPAL) BFAENEBROHPEEEE -

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR
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(5) Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Degiang is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by (i) HDQ Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by him; and (ii) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG

Guozhan as they are parties acting in concert.

(6) Under the SFO, 7Road Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by 7Road International, a company which is wholly owned by
7Road Holdings Limited.

(7) The Core Trust Company Limited, being the trustee of Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, directly holds the entire issued share capital of Epic City
Limited, which holds Shares underlying the options to be granted under the

scheme for the benefit of eligible participants pursuant to such scheme.

Save as disclosed herein, our Directors are not aware of any person who,
as of December 31, 2019, had interests or short positions in Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, will be, directly or indirectly,
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
our Company.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, at no time during FY2019
was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities including debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During FY2019, the Group’s largest customer accounted for 22.7% of the
Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest customers accounted for
63.6% of the Group’s total revenue.

During FY2019, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 32.8% of the
Group’s total purchases. The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
58.5% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or the
Group'’s five largest customers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at December 31, 2019, the Group had 187 employees (December
31, 2018: 182), 67 of which were responsible for game development and
maintenance, 91 for game operation and offline events organisation,
29 for general administration and corporate management. The total
remuneration expenses, excluding share-based compensation expense,
for FY2019 were US$4.5 million, representing an increase of 15.4% as
compared to FY2018. The Group enters into employment contracts with
its employees to cover matters such as position, term of employment,
wage, employee benefits and liabilities for breaches and grounds for
termination.

Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries,
allowances, bonus, share options and other employee benefits, and
is determined with reference to their experience, qualifications and
general market conditions. The emolument policy for the employees of
the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualification
and competence. We provide regular training to our employees in order
to improve their skills and knowledge. The training courses range from
further educational studies to skill training to professional development
courses for management personnel.

FTEREBRER

RIZZ-NHBEFER  REENKAEPIERSE
B A22.7% - REBBOEREPIEREER AR
A63.6% °

RZB-NAHBRFEAN  REBORAHRBEER
SHERBEHAEE32.8% AEBN A AHEEEALE
B R 42 7R58.5% °

BEEFAHENEEHEA CEER ETHRAD
FERNBEFAAAEEARFACBETEAZR
5%H AR AEEN T AHEALRARTFESR
T E S -

%ﬁ%%%ﬁk%ﬁﬁ@%ﬁ%

ARBATHEBEARBBRRABAARAERMA
ESNEARBEEHRR -

ANER

RZE—NFF+ZA=+—H FTEEEHF187%
BE (ZE—N\F+-A=+—0 :182%) ' &+
CTZEEBBMERSE NBRABEEEER
BT EBHRE MOLEBETHRCEER - —F
— NI RFENLEMAL (TREURG SRR
¥EIRY) NAR45EEET BT \MHFE
HN15.4% - NEBEESTSZEMBEH - TR
fi - BAFH I&-  BERH BHETRKL
HHEEH -

AEERENFHEEERNGS 20 LA -8B
REREMEERN  UR2EREZER BER
—RTISIRRETE - AEERENFHERMES
SRBEESNRRE  BERENMHIE - HMEE
BRRHEHEI - BB RIT KA - 53
REREFERFECEREIR LREERAS
REFXZRRARE -

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group’s employees in Hong Kong have all participated in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set out in note 24
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Continuing connected transactions for the period
from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019

RIRERGHE

AEEEBEEHZ2ETEBRIMEATES o &
B QR IE S RTEBUTEFENBRERRAK
BRETEIKE - P BB AR ES AR HH
ET AL REAKENGEIHR AN BRERERN
P SR - Bt RKERGI BT = - AEERKE
—EETDREZE BIEH R E PR -

ARFRS E R EHNAERA GRS HEN
H24 -
BERX S

A=F-AF-A—-AZ=_F-—h&F
T=A=t-RUBAZRREERS

Annual cap

Amount (Note a)

EELR

x| (Mizta)

usbD usbD

EY EY

Royalty fees charged by 7Road NEBITHBREEHELKE 1,112,129 4,000,000
arising from content distribution WE 2z ir & (F3ED)

agreements (Note b)
Royalty fees charged by 7Road arising from B ERT A REEERE L RE 162,644 2,500,000

IP licensing agreements (Note c)

WHR 2 hin i & (i ste)

(a) The cap is for the period from January 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019.
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(b)

(c)

The Group has entered into content distribution agreements with 7Road
with respect to two particular game series originally developed by 7Road,
namely the Wartune series and the DDTank series (the “7TRoad Games”),
under which 7Road granted the Group the right to distribute its web games
in specified language versions or geographical markets. On July 6, 2017, the
Group entered into a content distribution framework agreement with 7Road
(the “Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which 7Road agreed to grant
the right to publish the 7Road Games or other games developed by 7Road
from time to time. 7Road generally received a commission of approximately
15.0% to 23.0% of the gross billings derived from web games.

The Group entered into IP licensing agreements with 7Road on February 1,
2013 (as further amended by a supplemental agreements dated September
1, 2013, January 21, 2014, June 1, 2014, July 10, 2015, August 3, 2015,
July 5, 2017, February 1, 2018 and May 10, 2018), pursuant to which the
Group obtained an IP license and developed several casual shooting games
in mobile formats until June 30, 2023.

Save as disclosed above, during FY2019, the Group has not entered into
any connected transaction or continuing connected transaction which
should be disclosed pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14A.71 of the
Listing Rules.

(b)

(c)

REBBREL KRBT LARETHE (S RMAE
HELRBRANETERRY - 2Bl AWartune %
SIFIDDTank %% (L XEHEE D)) « Eit - £+
RERFAEEIIEE B WA 18 E #1835
BOTER@EBEENEN - RZT—FLAXEB -
REBEE L RBI L —HABRBITIER WS ([
RHED Bt FLRERBEERTREATELKRE
PR E L RETRMAENEMBERNES - £+
K I8 — AR U ER AR B T EE A AR R K AR BB 4915.0%
Z23.0%FAFES -

AEBR-_Z—=F_A—BHEFLXEFTLAHZ
EfFA G (KRARA-_Z—=F1LA—A0 =%
—mE—-—A-+—R8 —BE-—WEXA—H - —F
—AFtA+H - ZT—AFNA=A - ZZT—L
F+ARA - ZT—-\FZ-A—BEKZZF—N\FHR
A+ RNETREE—FERT) - Bt - AEERSG
G EERERT AT - 0 FA 3 BUE F A8 BV R 5 88 2
Bl BEE-T-_=FA=+H1t-

BEXEEEN RZB-NAMBEE  AEEYT
BRI EARRE TR BE14A TR EREL
BRENEMEERZRISERERS -
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
aforementioned continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
these transactions were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms or better (as defined in the Listing
Rules); and

(3) on the terms of the respective transaction agreements, which are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders and the
Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the
auditor of the Company to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed as above in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for FY2019 are set
out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements contained herein.
One of such related party transactions constitutes a continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and the Company
has complied with the requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Details of such continuing connected transaction are set out in the section
headed “Connected Transaction” of this Directors’ report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the public float as required under the Listing
Rules.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2019

BIFATEFCEN LABERER S - XHER

A Ay A .
RERS :

(1) EARE-REAFBEBRRES

(2) B—RBEGRAEEHER(EBRLTHR
a): &

(3) REMXSHHEMGER (BAFAELNAK
REARBBEMNE) MATL ©

RiELETHRRNE14A 5615 ARTZBEMCEES
BRE EREBGHMAGSEM 2 EEEZEY
HERIFE30005% (BIER]) [FFERABRHMBENBE
BZERTIE]IRE  L2REBHAFET405 [H
TS T 35 B P il 55 4B B 52 XX 5 O A% B BR 1
HRAREZHEWEISELRE - KB RE
ETRAIE14A 561 EX B ENBEBER S
BHHEBRBER &M  EhHEEAEERRE
o AR BT [RIBE AR PR S % AR BRI R

BAME S X3

FEAEE _Z-NABREFEEBR I X ZNHE
BRAFREG MM RAOMEI0 - ZFHEHT
RHMER —BEK LTRAE14ATE T 2 FHE
BER S MARFEETLETRUIE4AZHR
EoRHERERINFBEHRNAERTTRE B
BERX5| —fe

RUDNREFERE
BEARAFEENANEHERREERFHA - 5
AEREHERS  ARASKH EHRARTHA

BRRE



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERHE (H)

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) in relation to the director’s and officer’s liability insurance is
currently in force and was in force during FY2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance
for enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted
the code provisions set out in the CG Code as its own code to govern its
corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the
relevant code provisions contained in the CG Code during FY2019, save
for deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code for FY2019 and
code A.5.1 of the CG Code from the resignation of Mr. Darren Raymond
SHAW on July 5, 2019 to the appointment of Mr. LU Qibo on October
3, 2019. Please refer to the section headed “Board of Directors” in the
Corporate Governance Report on Page 35 to Page 38 of this annual
report for details.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 34 to
49 of this annual report.
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DONATIONS

During FY2019, the Group did not make any charitable donations.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY2019 have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment at the forthcoming 2020 AGM.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For FY2019, the Company is in compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.

On behalf of the Board
LU Yuanfeng
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, March 31, 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report
18 M A% B A R

To the Shareholders of Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Digital Hollywood Interactive
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 105 to 220, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2019;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYBBERS ()

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants(“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is summarised as follows:
. Revenue recognition — estimates of lifespan of in-game virtual items

with reference to expected playing period of paying players in the
Group’s online game service
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BAZBEEHRE (&)

Key Audit Matter
BREETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN BNAEERREFSHE

Revenue recognition — estimates of lifespan of in-game
virtual items with reference to expected playing period of
paying players (“Player Relationship Period”) in the Group’s
online game service

WARR —2%F SEENBERERRETIREERFERRD
(KBRS A ESERBEANERS -

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements
B2 E MR S REMIES

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Group’s
revenue from online games amounted to USD17,807,719,
representing 99% of the Group’s total revenue. It was mainly
derived from the sales of in-game virtual items. The amount
of associated contract liabilities amounted to USD2,850,210,
as at December 31, 2019, representing 24% of the Group’s
total liabilities as at that date.
HE_Z-NF+_A=+—RHLLFE BEEEREEHBER
BV A /17,807,719 7T - 15 EEE LW AN99% - WA E
EREEEHEBERER - R —AhF+-A=Z+—HE#H
WaBERHER2,850210% T hAEERZENREE
24% -

We understood, evaluated and validated the key controls in
relation to the recognition of revenue from in-game virtual
items, including oversight exercised by management in
assessing the Player Relationship Periods and computing
the monthly revenue of game virtual items performed by
management; inspection of evidence of management’s
review; testing of the integrity and system logic of data and
information for supporting the determination of the Player
Relationship Periods, on a sample basis.

BT FFANREFBERREREREENBAZTE
B RRERENENREERRLAAEEBERBANE ALK
AREREMETNEE  RETEEETRHMMER U
FRARBELHECTRBERPNBERENN TBEERFER
BEIE -

We discussed with management and evaluated their
judgements and estimations made in determining the Player
Relationship Period for each game. We also assessed the
accuracy of the management’s judgements and estimations by
comparing to historical patterns on a sample basis.
BMBRERENw - WAB T RERGAEEE KA ESR
PV FI R R R 3R = FAPI TR @ DA AR 5 B St R AR LL &R -
FPE T B TR E PR AT K (A e R -
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BAZBEEHRE (&)

Key Audit Matter
BREETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN BNAEERREFSHE

The Group’s in-game virtual items are categorised as both
consumable virtual items and durable items. Revenue
derived from consumable items in its online game service
are recognised once they are consumed. Revenue derived
from durable virtual items in its online game services are
recognised ratably over the lifespan of durable virtual items
with reference to Player Relationship Period (defined in Note
2.20), on a game by game basis. If the Group does not have
the ability to differentiate revenue attributable to durable
items from consumable items for a specific game, the Group
recognises revenue from both durable and consumable items
for that game ratably over the Player Relationship Period.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, all in-game
virtual items were treated as durable items by the Group.

ERENESERBARBERAEREEREARMBEERE
B REEBPRERRE N EAEB RN A TR B
R REHBBREBREANAREREAENEA - THIAZXE
BEAEE  2EMRMEY (FE RWE2.20) R HEEE

BANERASHARLAIER - WHXEEBEEME - E%E
EEABBATIREMBEEARRERFTEA B BE5HE

HAZBERITREERRAA - R PIERREMALEREBA
MEHRA - RBE-Z-NF+-_A=+—HLEFE " FE
BEREFEANE BEXERSMARER -

The determination of the Player Relationship Period for
relevant game virtual items requires significant judgement
and estimates. It is made taking into account all known and
relevant information available to the Group at the time of
assessment. Thus, specific audit focus was placed in this
area.
HEAEREREEETMRBAEY - AELEXRAE &G
MU DERE EREETIEERASNEBERE
e Bt - W EBRERIEBEES
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We also recalculated the contract liabilities balance based on
the respective Player Relationship Period of each game on a
sample basis.
BMEUMmESR - BRESEESS
BREGEEES -

EMKBERENRET

Based on the above, we found that the significant judgement
and estimates involved in determining the Player Relationship
Periods adopted by management in the revenue recognition
of in-game virtual items of the Group were supported by the
evidence we obtained.
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ERAER R IR IR BREPE 2 ERAE LT SR
FIPTERR B IR S HF -



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYBBERS ()

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

our responsibility is to read the other information and,

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYBBERS ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYBBERS ()

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the those charged with governance, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYBBERS ()

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Fong Wan Huen.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, March 31, 2020
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at December 31,2019 R =_ZT—NF+=-A=+—H

2019 2018
—ZE-hF —ZT-N\F
Note usbD UsD
B 5E ES ET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB RRE 6 1,975,917 2,107,128
Right-of-use assets EREEE 7 1,843,078 =
Intangible assets mILEE 8 1,862,822 2,316,324
Investment in an associate REE RN RINIRE 12 - 640,233
Prepayments and other receivables FE R R H At R 3R TE 15 3,881,573 4,342,699
Deferred income tax assets BEEFTS R EE 13 11,779 173,875
Financial assets at fair value through BEAREEFERE
other comprehensive income BB AHLMEE
WM REE 9 963,185 2,670,518
10,538,354 12,250,777
Current assets RBEE
Contract costs BRI A 5 771,402 695,396
Trade receivables Z 5 W RIE 14 2,234,622 3,625,121
Prepayments and other receivables TEfT 3R R H At B WL 3R IE 15 20,471,647 14,561,573
Cash and cash equivalents RERBFSEEY 16 25,320,274 32,598,242
48,797,945 51,480,332
Total assets HWEE 59,336,299 63,731,109
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Equity attributable to owners of the AAREEABGER
Company
Share capital %N 17 2,000,000 2,000,000
Shares held for the Share Option Scheme PERE RS ARG 17 (147,560) (150,000)
Reserves fE 18 38,104,404 38,282,476
Retained earnings IREBEF| 7,318,884 13,144,180
Total equity MR 47,275,728 53,276,656

VIR

i3
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued)
AptEESER (B)

As at December 31, 2019 R —Z—NE+-A=+—H

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZT—)N\#F
Note usbD UsD
ihg=2 ES =
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Lease liabilities HEAaE 7 1,800,872 =
Deferred income tax liabilities ELEFTERARE 13 5,757 56,021
1,806,629 56,021
Current liabilities k=R
Trade payables B S EMNFIA 20 3,095,087 3,177,289
Contract liabilities aHaE 5 3,508,007 3,806,299
Lease liabilities HEBE 7 270,123 =
Other payables and accruals HibERRIERESER 21 3,057,942 2,788,526
Current income tax liabilities BN i B s 322,783 626,318
10,253,942 10,398,432
Total liabilities HweE 12,060,571 10,454,453
Total equity and liabilities wmERRAE 59,336,299 63,731,109

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with LA E& DA E B B FEREEN A —0F 55 -
the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 105 to 220 were approved by the F105E 220 BN B HRRCHESEN T _FF

Board of Directors on March 31, 2020 and were signed on its behalf. ZA=T—BHAETRAEE -
Director Director
BE EE

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2019



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

aftEElER

For the year ended December 31,2019 HEZ T —NF+_A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)\F
Note usb usD
B 5E E0 ET
Revenue WA 5 17,918,989 24,161,349
Cost of revenue (BN 23 (9,522,439) (10,842,465)
Gross profit ER 8,396,550 13,318,884
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHEAX 23 (4,145,546) (5,377,888)
Administrative expenses THAX 23 (5,700,502) (5,055,533)
Research and development expenses WA 23 (2,365,790) (1,536,779)
Net impairment losses (on)/reversal of SMEE CREBEFHE)
financial assets VEREY Ei=EqE 23 (1,384,675) 33,113
Impairment of investment in an associate RERE R RINIRE ZRE 23 (652,596) =
Other gains, net H U zSFEE 22 307,106 711,342
Operating (loss)/profit " (8RR (5,545,453) 2,093,139
Finance income BRI 25 57,075 11,851
Finance costs B TE R AR 25 (114,612) (93,418)
Finance costs, net WIS R AN F 5 25 (57,537) (81,567)
Share of loss of an associate DIGEEE AR EE 12 - (3,355)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATSRIAT (B518) RF (5,602,990) 2,008,217
Income tax expense Frisfimfx 26 (158,816) (1,071,113)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (FE)EF (5,761,806) 937,104
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hit2mE (FER) ki
Items that may be reclassified subsequently AREREREH Y EEER
to profit or loss #IIE B
— Currency translation differences — B R (75,831) (445,971)
Items that may not be reclassified Hig RV aEmoHEER
subsequently to profit or loss #IIE B
— Changes in fair value of investment in —NAanBE;EEHE
equity securities at fair value through STAHE b 2 E A AR
other comprehensive income BHEREANAANBEE (1,685,994) 89,572
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for FREME (B8 WBE8%E
the year (7,523,631) 580,705

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)
Aft2ERER (&)

For the year ended December 31,2019 HEZE—Z—NF+-A=+—HILtFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)\F
Note usb usD
B 5E £ ET
(Loss)/profit attributable to: T ML (B518) &
Owners of the Company PAYNEIETZ SN (5,761,806) 937,104
Total comprehensive (loss)/income UTEEZE (BE)EH
attributable to: AR
Owners of the Company KRAREAR A (7,523,631) 580,705
(Loss)/earnings per share B8 (BBR) &7
(expressed in USD cents per share) (ABREWIIR) 27
— Basic — =K (0.31) 0.05
— Diluted — 8 (0.31) 0.05
Dividends &SN 28 — _

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be VA =& 0F 2 T 2 ek 25 B BRSPS 0 B o — BF B3 -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

B EREBR

For the year ended December 31, 2019 HE—Z

—“NE+ZA=+—RALFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATEE B
Shares
held for
the Share
Share Option Retained
capital Scheme  Reserves earnings Total
A RER A
BE  HEzRH e REEF @t
Notes usD usD usD usD usD
fiE ESH ESH ESH ESH ESH
Balance at January 1, 2019 RZE-h#F
—B—HHEH 2,000,000 (150,000) 38,282,476 13,144,180 53,276,656
Change in accounting policy SEHERE 2.2.1 - - - (63,490) (63,490)
Balance at January 1, 2019, restated —E-hE-A—H
e K& 2,000,000 (150,000) 38,282,476 13,080,690 53,213,166
Loss for the year EREE - - ~ (5761,806) (5,761,806)
Other comprehensive loss Hin2EER
— net loss from changes in fair value - RAREBEFE
of financial assets at fair value BEEHFA
through other comprehensive HEf 2 E R
income HERMEEN
DRAEEED
ERIE - - (1,685,994) ~ (1,685,994)
— currency translation differences - EHmEESE 18 - - (75,831) - (75,831)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FR2HEEFEALE - - (1,761,825) (5,761,806) (7,523,631)
Transaction with owners in their HERA (UEEASHR)
capacity as owners MRS
The Share Option Scheme BT S
— exercise of share options — TRk - 2,440 6,319 - 8,759
— value of employee services - BERKEE - - 1,577,434 - 1,577,434
Balance at December 31, 2019 RZE-h#F
+-A=+-AmKE 2,000,000 (147,560) 38,104,404 7,318,884 47,275,728

BREBHEEERR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

aOfEEZER (&)

For the year ended December 31,2019 HEZE—Z—NF+-A=+—HILtFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAREB NEML
Shares
held for
the Share
Share Option Retained
capital Scheme Reserves earnings Total
HERE
BA  BEZRG e REAEA ZEr
Notes usb UsbD Usb usbD UsbD
Bzt e e ey e e
Balance at January 1, 2018 RZE-N\F
—B—HHEH 2,000,000 (150,000) 35,933,689 12,279,521 50,063,210
Profit for the year ERER - - - 937,104 937,104
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 EK S
- net gains from changes in fair -RORBERE
value of financial assets at BEZHHA
fair value through other Hip2Ekz
comprehensive income HeREEN
NREEE
Wz F58 - = 89,572 - 89,572
- currency translation differences - ERBmEEE 18 - - (445,971) - (445,971)
Total comprehensive income for the FRZHKEAE
year - - (356,399) 937,104 580,705
Transaction with owners in their HEAA (UEFASHR)
capacity as owners B
Appropriation to statutory reserves BREETHE 18(a) - - 72,445 (72,445) =
The Share Option Scheme Bl E
— value of employee services - EERKEE - - 2,632,741 - 2,632,741
Balance at December 31, 2018 R=Z-N\F
+ZA=+-BN&ER 2,000,000 (150,000) 38,282,476 13,144,180 53,276,656

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ORI RER

For the year ended December 31,2019 HEZ T —NF+_A=+—HILFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)\F
Note usb usD
B aE E0 ET
Cash flows from operating activities RELEIBNRERE
Cash (used in)/generated from operations K (FrA),/ Fisi& 29 (5,821,374) 1,318,510
Interest received B UF 8 21,651 11,851
Interest paid ERFE (114,612) =
Income tax refund REIFTER 133,630 =
Income tax paid BERFTEH (456,224) (1,046,725)
Net cash (used in)/generated from KEES (TR FSRe
operating activities FE (6,236,929) 283,636
Cash flows from investing activities REREIBNESRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWME - WEKE&E (265,825) (2,226,696)
Purchases of intangible assets BEELEE (518,239) (2,955,663)
Prepayment for investment B RTER K - (3,500,000)
Payment for financial assets at fair value MEAREBEFEEEES
through other comprehensive income FFAEMEEKRENS R
BEHMRK - (2,559,607)
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFMARESEE (784,064) (11,241,966)
Cash flows from financing activities REMETHNRER
Exercise of share options TR AR 1,335 =
Payment for IPO costs EPNNGES B FNOE (19,327) (363,147)
Principal elements of lease payments HENFHREKH (234,772) -
Net cash used in financing activities RETEMARSEE (252,764) (363,147)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents BRERBESZEBEYWRL FHE (7,273,757) (11,321,477)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUNRS KA SEEY
of year 32,598,242 43,997,614
Exchange losses on cash and cash Re RFeEEYMNIENER
equivalents (4,211) (77,895)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the FRNWESRRESEEY
year 25,320,274 32,598,242

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in AR REREEBEMANE—H5E -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on November 24, 2014 as
an exempted company with limited liability. The address of the
Company’s registered office is P.O. Box 2075, George Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-1105, Cayman lIslands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the development, operations and publishing of web-based games
and mobile games business (“Game Business”) in North America,
Europe, The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and other
regions.

On December 15, 2017, the Company completed its initial public
offering on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “IPO”).

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars
(“USD”), unless otherwise stated, and have been approved for issue
by the Company’s Board of Directors on March 31, 2020.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost basis, except for the financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income which is measured at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4 below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBERHEE @
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE 9
2.1.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group 211 REBEM 2 7] RSB /@Q'J
The following amendments to standards have been LATFAERIBSETRASER =
adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial ﬂi—ﬂ—EjZZéEﬁﬁéE’\]EJfﬂli
year beginning on or after January 1, 2019: EERER :
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Previously held interest in a joint operation, income tax
Cycle consequences of payments on financial instruments

classified as equity and borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation

BEREMBEREEN _T-AFE_F—+FEY BEERZEKTREeNER HOBEAEENER TAMNRN

HF E Bk Frisfia R - LA&’a\ﬁT%éfZMtE’D%EEX$
IAS 19(Amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or settlement
BIPR & EHERIZE 1998 (18FTAR) FTEIEET - BRI R
IAS 28(Amendments) Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
Bl & 5T 4R 2285k ({&5ThR) REERRREECENRAE R
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
BRI mERELZ EeREF23% FTiS T B I8 /) N RE 1
IFRS 16 Leases
B PR B 7 SR A5 A2 RI 25 1657 i~
IAS 9 (Amendment) Prepayment features with negative compensation
et ERIZE9R (BEThR) AR amMENTENZET
Amendments to IFRSs effective for the financial year RZZE-NF—-A—Hzxk &R
beginning on or after January 1, 2019 do not have a B B IR 6F & AR 8 B B B 7 R o 4
material impact on the Group’s accounting policies and BIEERT - BREBIBRES 3R & AE RS
did not require retrospective adjustments, except for IFRS 16551 E (BRI MG E R E
16 Leases (“IFRS 16”). The impact of the adoption of 1655 1) ob - BAREE B G5 IE
IFRS 16 are disclosed in note 2.2.1 below. WHRERTE  NMEREDBPHA

B o BB RS RIS 1655
IR EE T X221 858 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 New standards, amendments to existing standards
and interpretations not yet adopted

FESHHERE @

21 RBEE ()

212 WARRMKFTER « HEER
MIER] Rt i

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
RTIRMRz%E
RN FEHBER

Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018
ZE-N\FHBEREGER

IFRS 3 (Amendment)

BIR B s iR 5 A RIEE 35 (18 RThR)

IAS 1 and IAS 8 (Amendment)

BIFR & et 2 RIS 1 9% R B @ 5t 2R
858 (1257)

IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7

(Amendment)

BRI iR SR RIEN - BEREE
HE R B 395% N BB B 7 ¥ 15 A
79 (ERThR)

IFRS 17

B R B 5 R 5 AR B BB 1 755%

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (Amendments)

BB R IR S LRI E109E R BB & 5T
#RIZE285% (1EETHR)

The Group has already commenced an assessment
of the impact of these new or revised standards,
and amendments, which are relevant to the Group’s
operations. According to the preliminary assessment made

Revised conceptual framework for financial
reporting

KIETTH B EMSESR

Definition of a Business

¥BOTES

Definition of Material

EZNER

IBOR Reform and its Effects on Financial
Reporting-Phase 1
RITHAFENEREREHPBRED

FE-FHR

Insurance Contracts

REEAEHK

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

January 1, 2020

—E_TF—-H—H
January 1, 2020
“Z2-T¥-A—H
January 1, 2020
—E-FTF—H—H

January 1, 2020

January 1, 2021
—f-—%—A—H

To be determined

REEHREBENRNSERRZHNEEHE FPRTE

AEBECHGTEZSE
IREVFZE - B ALK
VIZ L EMREE

by the directors, no significant impact on the financial
performance and positions of the Group is expected when

they become effective.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBERHEE @
POLICIES (Continued)

22 Bt EREH

221 B gt R E 165 HE

2.2 Changes in accounting policies
2.21 IFRS 16 Leases

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 retrospectively from
January 1, 2019, but has not restated comparatives
for the 2018 reporting period, as permitted under the
specific transitional provisions in the standard. The
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the
new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the opening
balance sheet on January 1, 2019. The new accounting
policies are disclosed in note 2.21.

Upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Group recognised lease
liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been
classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of IAS
17 Leases. These liabilities were measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of January
1, 2019. The weighted average lessee’s incremental
borrowing rates applied to the lease liabilities on January
1, 2019 were 5.6% for leases below 5 years (inclusive)
and 5.8% for leases over 5 years.

AEEBE-T-NAF-HA—HLE
W AR IR ELERIE 1655
B RAR I3 7 I o B 5 T8 3B B R SC
PrAFE T NFREMENLL
BHTETED - Bt HEER
AFELNEN D BEABRR-F
—hF-A—HNHNEEAER
R o FTE AT ERAEM 2217
®E -

T BR 4 B % B 75 5 E R B 1658
B AEBECHREAREEERE S
FERFNTRBAENRUDER K
BHEIWEEEREERE - %
SaERMNSKEENRORE
B WEAABEAR-ZE-NF—
H—BHEEERAEREER - 1=
E-NE-A-RERRZEEE
BB A INHE T 19 R R AR 8 fE R
ME - SFHUTHHEHEMS B
5.6% ' MESFIULNEEME A
5.8% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBERHEE @
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 22 S BREE ()
2.2.1 IFRS 16 Leases (Continued) 221 B ERIE 165 HE (8)
2019
—E-hEF
usbD
E
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at RZZ-NE+-_A=+—H
December 31, 2018 BENCEHERE 2,877,310
Discounted using the lessee’s incremental FRAAAREXERBHMNEE
borrowing rate of at the date of initial fERAI R AR
application 2,295,267
Less: short-term leases recognised on a B AR SRR ERRABRAY
straight-line basis as expense (28,461)
Lease liability recognised R=ZF—-hF—HF—H
as at January 1, 2019 BRNEEAE 2,266,806
Of which are: HEep A
Current lease liabilities MEHE A E 224,760
Non-current lease liabilities ERBEERRE 2,042,046
2,266,806

The associated right-of-use assets for property leases BEAMEHENABEREEERENEERR
were measured on a retrospective basis as if the new  EIECEAMARA - BEEAZHREXERB Y
rules had always been applied. There were no onerous MEREEEFRENEEHEESY -

lease contracts that would have required an adjustment to

the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

2.2.1 IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following

2 FESHBEHEE @

2.2 S5 HEREH ()

221 B @ EAE 165 HE (&)
HRNEREEEENTEERR

type of assets: 8
As at December 31, As at January 1,
2019 2019
R-ZE—hF R-E—hF
+=A=+—H —H—8
uUsbD uUsD
E3H EpH
Properties mE 1,843,078 2,090,782

The change in accounting policy affected the following
items in the balance sheet on January 1, 2019:

right-of-use assets — increase by USD2,090,782

lease liabilities — increase by USD2,266,806

Other payables and accruals —decrease by
USD112,534

The net impact on retained earnings on January 1, 2019
was a decrease of USD63,490.

B BREHFETIN=_F—A
F-A—BHMEEAREGRER

e R B E E-28 M
2,090,782% 7T

o M E & &% 1n2,266,806
£t

o HihEMNZKEREER -
B 112,634% T

HR-ZT—NF— A —BHNREAR
FEFE R E AR 63,490 T ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBERHEE @
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries 2.3 MEAFE
2.3.1 Consolidation 231 & AR
A subsidiary is an entity (including structured entities) MEAREEANEEERE %'H%EE’]
over which the Group has control. The Group controls B (BREABILER) 245

BAXEENERNSZEMELN
AEOS REREFARFEFE

an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and

has the ability to affect those returns through its power B WEHENBBEHZEENE
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the N EZERRAE - BIZREE S
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They ZER - -MBARBENEEEE

are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of

AEBZARAHAR  TEEZ
R ARREUHA FEASR ©

SEARRRNRS - #BHRER S
ERE IR R TIAL S - REIR
BRI TUEH  RIFZEXS
RHCEREERENFERER

the transferred asset. When necessary, amounts reported WoMERE MBARZHNSE
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the HOEERAE  UFEAEEMNSH
Group’s accounting policies. BUK -

(a) RHBARRMGEREERE

(a) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries

without change of control B[y EHIET
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do BIEEREROTSETE

not result in a loss of control are accounted for as BRI AARKRY
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with BERR S — 5| AAKE
the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as NEEBAN (ABEBEASH
owners. The difference between fair value of any MRS EFRIENREHA
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired REEEMEHRBARFEE
of the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary EEE@TEE’ME B FE (L & D
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to MW ZERE BB AER-
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity. IﬁﬁH BERHEEENK
m BRI AR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBERHEE @
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued) 23 MIBATR )

2.3.2 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

2.4 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investment in an associate include goodwill identified
on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in
an associate, any difference between the cost of the associate
and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwiill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

232 B BHEK
KB R BB E AR B
I - AT RIEEEEIEREK
Ko MBRAREERARFIZEK
e B B BB -

EATER - RETERRNKRER
RIEZER BRI B REITRIE
AR RS ERE K %S
CEAGIEPNGIETESEE6: -t =
B B S IR MR AR EER
BREGHBEHRRANTRERT]
WFEE (BE/E) REE -

2.4 BE QT

BERRREAREREERZENE
EEGIENER  —RME S R20%E
50% R REMAAE - REERRIHRE
REABEGHEAR - REZRZE R
B ATER > M EREER T IAE
MR > IAERR U AR R EERE
EXRERRNELE - AEERBEERQ
AR E RN EBRANEE - 1
WE—REE QAN EAEERR - B
BRRRAEAREERER 2 ARANA]
BHEERAENFARLBEEZENE
MERE - ARIAEE -

(R AN Ob R R oy P R
BAREN  ERpREME2EEER
NERNCENEABLAERDRER
=@ (WEA) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other
comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to ‘share of profit of investments accounted
for using equity method’ in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who

is responsible for allocating resources and assessing

performance of the operating segments, has been identified as

the executive directors that make strategic decisions.

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).
Consolidated financial statements are presented in
USD, which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash
and cash equivalents are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income within “finance
income or costs”. All other foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income within “other gains, net”.

2 FESHBEHEE @

2.5 DEHE

REDHEREFETIZEERKEANA
BRE-BHTAER - TBEERK
ABERENHNWERY BERKREF
i DRBRIBIEHEBARENRITE
=o

2.6 HMEIRE

(@) e hE2REH
AEBEBETEERNAFHTBRE
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EXERERAMNEY ((WEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

. assets and liabilities for each balance sheet item
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

. income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income item are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

. all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBERHEE @
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment 2.7 Y%k BERRE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements Shorter of estimated useful lives
or remaining lease term

Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Computers 3 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within “Other gains, net” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets

(a)

Game intellectual properties and licenses

Under certain exclusive games arrangements entered
between the Group and the game developers, the Group
pays upfront license fees to the game developers as
the Group obtained the games developed by those
game developers. The Group recognises the upfront
license fees as intangible assets. This intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
expected economic life, ranging from 2 to 3 years. These
amortisation are recorded in cost of revenue (where the
games are commercially launched) or administrative
expenses (where the games are not yet commercially
launched).

In some other circumstance, the Group pays the upfront
license fees to game developers as the Group is entitled
a right to operate third party developed games for certain
period of time in certain countries. The Group recognises
the license fees as intangible assets at historical cost
upon the games commercially launched. Licences have a
finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of licences over
their estimated useful lives of 2 to 5 years. Amortisation
is expensed to cost of revenue (where the Group is a
principal) or offset against the revenue (where the Group
is an agent).

Computer software

Acquired computer software stated at historical cost less
amortisation. Acquired computer software licenses are
capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire
and bring to use the specific software, and are amortised
over their estimated useful lives of three years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(c)

Research and development expenditures

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating
to the design and testing of new or improved products) are
capitalised as intangible assets when recognition criteria are
fulfilled. These criteria includes: (1) it is technically feasible
to complete the game product so that it will be available for
use; (2) management intends to complete the game product
and use or sell it; (3) there is an ability to use or sell the game
product; (4) it can be demonstrated how the game product
will generate probable future economic benefits; (5) adequate
technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the game product are available;
and (6) the expenditure attributable to the game product during
its development can be reliably measured. Other development
expenditures that do not meet those criteria are recognised
as expenses as incurred. During the year ended December
31, 2019 and 2018, there were no development costs meeting
these criteria and capitalised as intangible assets.

Development costs previously recognised as expenses are
not recognised as assets in subsequent periods. Capitalised
development costs are amortised from the point at which the
assets are ready for use on a straight-line basis over their
useful lives.

Research and development expenses consist primarily of (i)
salary and benefits for the Group’s research and development
personnel, and (ii) the technology outsourcing payment to
third-party companies.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, all research and
development expenditures were recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income as the recognition criteria for
capitalisation have not been fulfilled (2018: same).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.9 Prepaid royalty fees

The Group licenses online games from game developers and
pays royalty fees to game developers as sharing of proceeds
earned from selling in-game virtual tokens (“Game Tokens”)
and other virtual items (Note 2.20). Royalty fees are either paid
in advance and deferred on the consolidated balance sheet as
prepaid royalties or accrued according to the licensed period.
These royalty fees are expensed to cost of revenues (where
the Group is a principal) or offset against the revenues (where
the Group is an agent).

At each balance sheet date, the Group evaluates the
recoverability of prepaid royalty fees to determine amounts that
it deems unlikely to be realised through revenues generated
from the games. This evaluation considers multiple factors,
including the term of the agreement, forecasted demand, game
life cycle status, game development plans, and current and
anticipated game revenue levels, as well as other qualitative
factors such as the success of similar games. To the extent
that this evaluation indicates that the remaining prepaid
royalty payments are not recoverable, the Group records an
impairment charge to administrative expenses in the period
that impairment is indicated.

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBERHE @
POLICIES (Continued)

MBREREMEREE

2.11.1 Classification 211 D48
The Group’s management has assessed which business REBEEEC M AMEEBEERN
models apply to the financial assets held by the Group BARNAEEMFENEREE -
and has classified its financial instruments into the TEKEERIASEAGENER

2.11 Investment and other financial assets

appropriate IFRS 9 categories, namely: PR IS RS 2ERI 950 A Al + AD

«  those to be measured subsequently at fair value e HERARBEFENEH
(either through profit or loss or other comprehensive IA ( mEmEH M2 EIK
income (“OCI”), or through profit or loss), and =)

«  those to be measured at amortised cost. o IREHENAFENESRIA -

DRVEFALBERSBREER
EBEARREREOE KGR

terms of the cash flows. JE °

The classification depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual

AT

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses REARBEFENEEMS © K
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For mREREENERNAEMEE RS
investments in equity instruments that are not held for WRCERARR - WM EEEME

trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made Elﬁ&ﬁﬁ’ﬁ% HEEUA R AR £ E
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition RUA R 2 S 1L T A e #
to account for the equity investment at fair value through BE . MRAKRESAEMEER
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). WIEDN R EBEARK -

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only EREERNEEEREZSEENE
when its business model for managing those assets BEALRECR  TaELET
changes. BEHmoE-

2.11.2 Recognition and derecognition 32 R R EUSTER

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are FERREENSmEEREEH
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group HOAIAEEAEEENHEZE
ENBE) ER - MtesEER

commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets

are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership.

EREBHEEFRA

BR&RENENDEmBER
RASEED BEEAENBAENH
R @ RELR - AECEER S
BEE -

—E-NEFFR @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBERHE @
POLICIES (Continued)

NBRERHMERMEE (&)

211 Investment and other financial assets
(Continued)

2.11.3 Measurement 2113512

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group
currently only classifies its debt instruments at amortised
cost, as these assets are only held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in “Other gains, net”, together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on
equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit
or loss following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBERHE @
POLICIES (Continued)

211Investment and other financial assets MBRERHMWERMEE @)

(Continued)

2.11.3 Measurement (Continued) 211351 E (8)
Equity instruments (Continued) #xTA (8)
Changes in the fair value of financial assets measured BRARBEFAEARNEREE
at FVPL are recognised in “Other gains, net” in the ZARNEBEEZS EE2EHWRER
statement of comprehensive income as applicable. B TE b = 0F 58 MR (iE
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on B) AR BENEBEEZE S
equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported AHM2EWEOERIZE ZRE
separately from other changes in fair value. EiiE (RREEERR) TgHA

REENEMEEH DR -

2.114 Impairment 211488
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis 7N 5% [ 432 A S 1) BB AT A B L DA
the expected credit losses associated with its debt AR PIBR B ETS T A BRI FEER
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment EEEE - FTEA/RE T EZEUA
methodology applied depends on whether there has been REERBEERBEILM -

a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified HESEUFEMS @ AEERA
approach permitted by IFRS 9, that is to measure the loss B B B 7S SRS AR R S 95R FT 0 AT Y
allowance at the amount equal to lifetime expected credit 0% - AME VAR R R H
loss at initial recognition and through its life of the asset. BEEESWHHE  UEERKRS
The Group use practical expedients when estimating life EHEEEENSEAEEER
time expected credit loss on trade receivables, which & o HETE SNBSS m AR
is calculated using a provision matrix where a fixed FEEER  AEERAYEER
provision rate applies depending on the shared credit risk WEB 2R DERABREERE
characteristics of the trade receivables. 5 HPAREBESREYRIEN DL

FEERBFEMERBECHEEE -

In assessing the shared credit risk characteristics of TR E S EERIEN D HEER
the trade receivables, the Group takes into account BN AEEEERSERER
reasonable and supportable information that is available BmEANETBENKARS AT
without undue cost or effort. This includes information BREGSHEN - LBERTE
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of % BRI R R RAS B AR TR
future economic conditions. EEH -

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.

2.13Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from platforms or payment
channels for proceeds earned from selling Game Tokens and
other virtual items (please refer to Note 2.20). If collection of
trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

2.14Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand and deposits at call with
banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

2.15Share capital and shares held for the Share

Option Scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

The consideration paid by Share Scheme Trust (see Note 17)
for acquiring the Company’s shares, including any directly
attributable incremental cost, is presented as “Shares held for
the Share Option Scheme” and the amount is deducted from
total equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15Share capital and shares held for the Share
Option Scheme (Continued)

When Share Scheme Trust transfers the Company’s shares to
the awardees upon vesting, the related costs of the awarded
shares vested are credited to “Shares held for the Share
Option Scheme”, with a corresponding adjustment made to
“Share premium”.

2.16 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Income tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and an associate, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries only to the extent that it is probable the
temporary difference will reverse in the future and there
is sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is
an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

218 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plans

The Group’s companies incorporated in the PRC
contribute based on certain percentage of the salaries of
the employees to a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan and other defined contribution social security plans
organised by relevant government authorities in the PRC
on a monthly basis. The government authorities undertake
to assume the retirement benefit obligations payable and
other social security payables to all existing and future
retired employees under these plans and the Group has
no further obligation beyond the contributions made.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.
Assets of the plans are held and managed by government
authorities and are separate from those of the Group.

(b) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet
date.

Employee entitlements to sick and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

2.19 Share-based payments

The Group operates the Share Option Scheme (as defined
in Note 17), which is an equity-settled shared based
compensation plan under which share awards are granted to
employees as part of their remuneration package
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Share-based payments (Continued)

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange
for the grant of the share-based awards is recognised as an
expense over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied,
and credited to share premium under equity. The total amount
to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of
the share-based awards granted:

- including any market performance conditions;

- excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions; and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of share-based awards that are
expected to vest based on the non-marketing performance
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

If the terms of a share-based award are modified, at a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified. An additional expense is recognised for
any modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee and other qualifying participants, as measured
at the date of modification.

2.20 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for
the provision of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s
activities and is recorded net of value-added tax.

The Group recognises revenue in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered. Depending the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, the services
may be rendered over time or at a point in time.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

If contracts involve the sale of multiple services, the transaction
price will be allocated to each performance obligation based on
their relative stand-alone selling prices. The services provided
by the Group under each contract are integrated and treated as
one performance obligation.

(a) Game publishing service revenue

The Group is a publisher of online games developed
by third party game developers or its own. The Group
licenses online games from game developers and earns
game publishing service revenue by making a localised
version of the licensed games and publishing them to
the game players through distribution platforms, include
major social networking websites (such as Facebook),
online application stores (such as Apple Inc.’s App
Store (“Apple App”) and Google Play installed in mobile
telecommunications devices), web-based and mobile
game portals in certain countries and regions (collectively
referred to as “Platforms”), including the Group’s websites.
The games licensed to the Group are operated under a
free-to-play model whereby game players can play the
games free of charge and are charged for the purchase of
Game Tokens or other virtual items via payment channels,
such as the various mobile carriers and third-party internet
payment systems (collectively referred to as “payment
channels”).

(i) Principal Agent Consideration
Third party developed games
Proceeds earned from selling Game Tokens and
other virtual items are shared between the Group
and game developers, with the amount paid to game
developers generally calculated based on face value
of Game Tokens or other virtual items determined by
game developers, after deducting certain deductible
fees, multiplied by a predetermined percentage for
each game. The deductible fees are predetermined
and negotiated game by game, including the fees
paid to the payment channels and the Platforms, as
well as the credit allowable for deduction for each
game.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
(i) Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

1)

The Group acts as Agent

With respect to the Group’s game licenses
arrangements entered into during the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the
Group considered that the (i) game developers
are responsible for providing the game product
desired by the game players; (ii) the costs
incurred by the game developers to develop
the games are more than the licensing costs
and game localisations costs incurred by the
Group; (iii) game developers have the right to
determine the pricing of in-game virtual items
and the specification, modification or update of
the game proposed by the Group. The Group’s
responsibilities are publishing, providing
payment solution and market promotion
service, and thus the Group views game
developers to be its customers and considers
itself as the agent of game developers in the
arrangements with game players. Accordingly,
the Group records the game publishing service
revenue from these licensed games, net of
amounts paid to game developers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BHF BRI (

&)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(i)

1)

The Group acts as Agent (Continued)

Games operated directly by the Group

Games operated directly by the Group are
in the form of self-operation on its own
websites and cooperation with Platforms,
which the Group is responsible for determining
Platforms and payment channels, hosting and
maintenance of game servers for game running,
providing customer service as well as marketing
activities. For games self-operated by the
Group, payment channels are responsible for
payment collections related to the games. For
games cooperated with Platforms, Platforms
are responsible for distribution, platform
maintenance, paying player authentication and
payment collections related to the games.

As the Group is responsible for identifying,
contracting with and maintaining the
relationships of Platforms and payment
channels, commission fees paid to Platforms
and payment channels are included in cost
of revenues and presented on a gross basis.
The Group considers it is the primary obligor
to game developers for the reasons identified
above as it has been given latitude by game
developers in selecting Platform and payment
channels for its service to game developers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(i)

1)

The Group acts as Agent (Continued)

Games operated directly by the Group
(Continued)

Different from the above analysis, for games
cooperated with Facebook if it had been
specified by game developers and Apple
App, the game developers are fully aware
of Facebook and Apple App’s roles and
responsibilities. The Group considered that
Facebook, Apple App and itself provide services
to the game developers together, as the Group
does not have the latitude in selecting and
negotiation with Facebook and Apple App and
does not have the primary responsibility to
game developers for the service provided by
them, commission charges by Facebook and
Apple App are deducted from revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(i)

1)

The Group acts as Agent (Continued)

Games subcontracted to Platforms

Certain games are subcontracted to Platforms
to operate directly. For such subcontracted
Platforms are responsible for
determining secondary Platforms and payment

games,

channels, hosting and maintenance of game
servers for game running, providing customer
service as well as marketing activities. The
Group’s responsibilities are delivering games to
Platforms, and thus the Group views the game
developers to be its customers and considers
itself as the agent of game developers in the
arrangements with Platforms, as the Group
does not have the primary responsibility to
game developers for the service provided by
these Platforms. Accordingly, the Group records
revenue on a net basis, amounts paid to game
developers and revenue-sharing amounts paid
to Platforms or third party payment vendors are
deducted from revenue.

2 FESHBEHEE @

2.20 W ATBRR (4)
(a) BERLBITRRAEUA (55)
(i) EELBRE (E)

E=TIRMBEREE ()

1

REBRRZERE (B)
DETFENEE
ETERINETFA
MEBEREE ®ZF
DBERNE  FEA
BRE A FaMARK
RiE - EEREERE
BUETTHR R EL R AR 2S
RETPRE - URE
HEH o AEBMEL
RINERTEE A
I - AN SR AR B 5
BAEEFP MAXR
FAABEERAEEOR
B AaERTARELR
B ARAKRBERZSE
FRRERE B
RERMLTETIREL-
Hib - REERBAR
FRANER - ST
BERAEENHESERX
NFFasE=THK
AR f FE 78 Y R A 0
TR AR ATR
B o

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2 FESHBEHEE @

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.20 W ATERR (1)
(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued) (a) BEREITARISUA ()
(i) Principal Agent Consideration (Continued) ()  FEEAE (B
Third party developed games (Continued) F=F RS (B)
2) The Group acts as Principal 2) HEEEEX=EA

During the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018, there was a game license
arrangement under which the Group takes
primary responsibilities of further game
development and updates, game operation,
including determining Platforms and payment
channels, providing customer services, hosting
game servers, if needed, and controlling pricing
and game and services specifications during
the license period. The Group bears the cost
incurred to further develop the game. Under
this type of game license arrangement, the
Group considers itself as a principal in this
arrangement. Accordingly, the Group records
the online game revenue from this third party
licensed game on a gross basis. Commission
fees paid to Platforms and payment channels
and amortisation of license fees paid to third
party game developer are recorded as cost of
revenues.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(i)

2)

The Group acts as Principal (Continued)
Self-developed games

The Group sometimes enters into license
arrangements under which the Group takes
primary responsibilities of game development
and game operation, including determining
Platforms and payment channels, providing
customer services, hosting game servers, if
needed, and controlling pricing and game and
services specifications. The Group bears the
cost incurred to develop the games. Under
this type of agreements, the Group considers
itself the principal. Accordingly, the Group
records the online game revenues from these
games on a gross basis. Commission fees
paid to Platforms and payment channels and
amounts paid to licensor are recorded as cost
of revenue.

The Group self-develops mobile games.
Revenues derived from self-developed games
are recorded on a gross basis as the Group
acts as a principal to fulfil most obligations
related to the mobile game operation.
Commission fees paid to Platforms and
payment channels are recorded as cost of
revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
(ii)  Timing of revenue recognition
Third party developed games
1)  The Group acts as Agent
Games operated directly by the Group
For the purposes of determining when services
have been provided to the respective players,
the Group has determined the following:

- Consumable virtual items represent items
that are extinguished after consumption
in the form of fixed charges levied on
each round of games played. The paying
players will not continue to benefit from
the virtual items thereafter. Revenue is
recognised at a point in time (as a release
from contract liabilities) when the items
are consumed and the related services
are rendered.

- Durable virtual items represent items that
are accessible and beneficial to paying
players over an extended period of time.
Revenue is recognised ratably over the
average life of durable virtual items for
the applicable game, which the Group
makes best estimates to be average
playing period of paying players (“Player
Relationship Period”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(if)

1)

The Group acts as Agent (Continued)

Games operated directly by the Group
(Continued)

The Group estimates the Player Relationship
Period on a game-by-game basis and
re-assesses such periods semi-annually. If
there is insufficient data to determine the
Player Relationship Period, such as in the
case of a newly launched game, it estimates
the Player Relationship Period based on other
similar types of games developed by the Group
or by third-party developers until the new game
establishes its own patterns and history. The
Group considers the games profile, target
audience, and its appeal to players of different
demographics groups in estimating the Player
Relationship Period.

If the Group does not have the ability to
differentiate revenue attributable to durable
virtual items from consumable virtual items for
a specific game, the Group recognises revenue
from both durable and consumable virtual
items for that game ratably over the Player
Relationship Period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBERHE @
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued) 220 W ARERR (&
(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued) (a) BEREITARISUA ()
(i) Timing of revenue recognition (Continued) (i) WA EZIFE ()

Third party developed games (Continued) F=F RS (B)

1) The Group acts as Agent (Continued) 1) TEBEEERRE (B
Games subcontracted to Platforms BT FEREE
Revenue of games subcontracted to Platforms FBRTFEAREENIK
are recognised ratably over the Player ARITRBEBARNEL
Relationship Period, for (i) the Group has a Bl T LARER - B R
continuous obligation to game developers to El%TﬁJ%i?ﬁ?’*?ﬁEﬁ
coordinate Platforms for providing service to RES RN R
game players, and (ii) the Group does not MRBERBHTFS -
have the ability to differentiate revenue from R(iAEBEERET
games subcontracted to Platforms attributable R REERY S
to durable virtual items from consumable virtual H E/\Wﬁlﬁf@%ﬂ%:ﬁﬁ
items for a specific game. EiE D BT FanzE

E!’\JHSU\

2)  The Group acts as Principal 2) AEBEEEEEA
Revenue of third party developed games when REEEZEEADRH
the Group acts as a Principal are recognised M8 =77 A EEWA
ratably over the Player Relationship Period I 5K B8 1R B 9 kA i
or as the durable virtual items are consumed, REERYREERR
which is similar to the policy of third party REH T AR - B8
developed games operated directly by the Fi A AREEREERE
Group when the Group acts as an Agent BEEKEE=FREE
mentioned above. BRI R AR ©

Self-developed games B EFAEaEE

Revenue of self-developed games are recognised B ERAEHERMWARITR @R

ratably over the Player Relationship Period or as the P sk A Tt R 6 460 4 o o R R IR

durable virtual items are consumed, which is similar LEBI T AR - S EE bl R AR
to the policy of third party developed games when EEFEABRNE=FREER

the Group acts as a Principal mentioned above. BB AR L o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Licensing revenue

The Group authorises third parties to operate its online
games. The Group receives additional up-front license
fees from certain third-party licensee operators who
are entitled to an exclusive right to operate the Group’s
games in specified geographic areas. Revenue from
licensing agreements is recognised when the game
contents have been delivered to the third party licensees
and when the Group has no further remaining obligations.
Depending on the terms of the respective agreements,
revenue is recognised either by point in time, whereas
fixed and non-refundable upfront payments are received
from the licensees upon commence of the license periods;
or ratably over the license period when the Group is
required to continue to provide services over the license
periods.

Server rental revenue

Server rental revenue is derived principally from server
rental arrangements. The Group enters into server rental
arrangements with third parties to allow them to use the
servers rented by the Group over a particular period of
time. The Group recognises revenues ratably over the
term of the lease.

Advertising revenue

The Group provides advertising placement for a specified
period on the interface of online games. The Group
recognises revenue ratably over the period during which
the advertising services are provided.

2 FESHBEHEE @

2.20 W ATBRR (4)
(b) R A

FEBREF=ZFREEPRE
B AEERERBRER TR
MNEEREEBEROETE =5
FEEMRMABEINENFATER -
BEBARINTE=NTHTEE
BMEAREETEE-FTHRTAME
o BERIR B IS RTRE bR AV R o
BT R A R WARREE
By B (15 5T 4 3 0 A A B A B
LEBBREERTAREREZ
) R AR AR fl (8
REBRBZRBENFIEMRERR
RIS ES) 7ERR -

fa RS TEE YA
fAREREEWRATER S FRSIE
% - AREEEE =R AR
SEEATHE UWERSEREERH
NERAREEHBMNRRES - K&
BRI E MR O R Z AN
Ao

BEERA

REBENETE BRAERKER R E
FREESRK - AEENRHE
5 IR B2 L DI R AR B ©

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(e) Contract liabilities and contract costs

For game publishing service revenues, contract liabilities
primarily consist of royalty fees received in advance from
customers, and the unamortised revenue from sales of
Game Tokens and virtual items for web-based games and
mobile games, where there is still an implied obligation
to be provided by the Group. Such contract liabilities
will be recognised as revenue when all of the revenue
recognition criteria are met. For licensing revenue,
contract liabilities represent the unamortised balance of
the initial license fee paid by licensees where there is
still an implied obligation to be provided by the Group
and they will be recognised as revenue when all of the
revenue recognition criteria are met.

Contract costs are mainly related to contract acquisition
costs, which primarily consist of unamortised commission
costs charged by distribution platforms. The Group
recognises contract costs in relation to commission
charged by distribution platforms, which meet contract
acquisition cost criteria as an incremental cost of
acquiring a customer contract. They are capitalised
as contract acquisition costs and amortised over
the respective Player Relationship Periods, which is
consistent with the pattern of recognition of the associated
revenue.

2.21 Leases

The Group leases various offices. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 1 to 9 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

By December 31, 2018, leases of property, plant and
equipment were classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBERHE @
POLICIES (Continued)

2.21 Leases (Continued) 21 HE )

From January 1, 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost.
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s
useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that
the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic
environment with similar terms and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

2.22 Interest income

Interest income mainly represents interest income from bank
deposits and is recognised using effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.23Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

2.24 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
strategy seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects on the
financial performance of the Group.

Risk management is carried out by the senior management of
the Group and approved by the Board of Directors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed
to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to
Renminbi (“RMB”) and Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”).
Foreign exchange risk arises when future
commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities and net investment in foreign operations.
The finance department of the Group is responsible
for monitoring and managing the net position in
each foreign currency. The Group currently does not
hedge transactions undertaken in foreign currencies
but manages its exposure through constant
monitoring to limit as much as possible the amount
of its foreign currencies exposures.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations particularly in the PRC and Hong Kong,
whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk. Currency exposure arising from
the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations
considered not material therefore no separated
sensitive analysis is included.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, if USD had
weakened/strengthened by 5% against RMB with all
other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the
year would have been approximately USD50,000
(2018: USD37,000) higher/lower, respectively, mainly
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of RMB-denominated receivables and
payables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

For the year ended December 31, 2019, if USD
had weakened/strengthened by 5% against EURO
(*EUR”) with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year would have been
approximately USD62,000 (2018: USD53,000)
higher/lower, respectively, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of
EUR-denominated cash and cash equivalents.

The cash and cash equivalents, receivables and
payables of the Group’s Hong Kong entities are
denominated in HKD, which is pegged against USD,
and are not therefore subject to significant foreign
currency risk.

Interest rate risk

Other than interest-bearing bank deposits, the Group
has no other significant interest-bearing assets. The
directors of the Company do not anticipate there
is any significant impact to interest-bearing assets
resulted from the changes in interest rates, because
the interest rates of bank balances are not expected
to change significantly.

Price risk

The Group’s exposure to equity securities price
risk arises from investments held by the Group and
classified in the balance sheet as at FVOCI (Note
9). The investments are made either for strategic
purpose or for the purpose of achieving investment
yield. Each investment is managed by senior
management on a case by case basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis is performed by management
to assess the exposure of the Group’s financial
results to equity price risk of financial assets at
FVOCI. If equity prices of the respective instruments
held by the Group had been 5% higher/lower as
at December 31, 2019, the other comprehensive
income would have been approximately USD48,000
(2018: USD134,000) higher/lower.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash
and bank deposits, trade and other receivables.

(i)  Risk management

The carrying amounts of each class of the above
financial assets represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.
To manage this risk arising from cash and bank
deposits, the Group only transacts with reputable
commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong.
There has been no recent history of default in
relation to these financial institutions.

Individual balances of trade receivables exceeding
10% of the Group’s total trade receivables as at
December 31, 2019 accounted for approximately
68% (2018: 54%) of the Group’s total trade
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Risk management (Continued)

Trade receivables and certain other receivables at
the end of each reporting period were due from the
Platforms and payment channels in cooperation
with the Group. If the strategic relationship with
the Platforms and payment channels is terminated
or scaled-back; or if the Platforms and payment
channels alter the co-operative arrangements; or
if they experience financial difficulties in paying
the Group, the Group’s game development
receivables might be adversely affected in terms
of recoverability. To manage this risk, the Group
maintains frequent communications with the
Platforms and payment channels to ensure the
effective credit control. In view of the history
of cooperation with the Platforms and payment
channels and the sound collection history of
receivables due from them, the directors of the
Company believe that the credit risk inherent in the
Group’s outstanding trade receivable balances due
from the Platforms and payment channels is low.

For other receivables not due from payment
channels, management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experience.
The directors of the Company believe that there
is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding balance of other receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of financial assets
The Group has one type of financial asset that is
subject to the expected credit loss model:

- trade receivables for royalty fee, license fee,
etc.

While cash and bank deposits are also subject to the
impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables, which is calculated using a provision
matrix where a fixed provision rate applies
depending on the shared credit risk characteristics
of the trade receivables.

In assessing the shared credit risk characteristics of
the trade receivables, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

3 HEREBER @

3.1 BEREREE &)
(b) ZERE (&)

(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) =HEERE (K)
Trade receivables (Continued) B S EWRIE (&)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at December BRIWEE R-_ZT—NLEFK
31, 2019 and 2018 was determined as follows for ZE-N\F+=ZA=+—8H
trade receivables: HESEUREEENUTH
EEEE
Category 1* Category 2* Category 3* Category 4* Total
g8 g E=g EmEr @t
Expected loss rate L) ek 5% 30% 50% 100%
Loss allowance as at RZE-NEF
December 31, 2019 +ZA=1+—H
HEERE 116,733 2,643 10,548 2,816,648 2,946,572
Loss allowance as at RZE-N\F
December 31, 2018 +=-B=+—-H
REREE 146,833 405,270 13,072 1,070,401 1,635,576

The Group’s loss allowance categories of trade
receivables are as follows:

Category 1 — Highest grade, lowest credit risk
Category 2 — Medium grade, low credit risk
Category 3 — Poor standing, high credit risk

Category 4 — High likelihood of default, very high
credit risk

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b)
(ii)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables
as at December 31, 2019 and 2018 reconcile to the
opening loss allowances as follows:

MEERER &

3.1 BEREREE &)
ZERR (&)

2 AEERE ()
B 5 EAIR ()
RZB-hFR-_F-NF
+tZA=+—BEZEEXK
ENERBEBEEFNE
BEEYENT -

Trade receivables

g 5 EWFE
2019 2018
—e-hF —T-N\F
usbD uUsbD
ES ET
Opening loss allowance as at January 1 R—A—BNEYEIERE 1,635,576 1,698,689
Receivables written off during the year F A AT U= i s
as uncollectible FEURIE (73,679) (30,000)
Provision/(reversal of) for trade B 5 EREIERE
receivables (Betgrem) 1,384,675 (33,113)
Closing loss allowance as at December 31 R+ _A=+—HWHFX
EiaEE 2,946,572 1,635,576

Impairment loss on trade receivables are presented
as net impairment loss within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk
The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group’s finance department maintains
flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate cash and
cash equivalents.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

3 HEREBER @

3.1 BEREREE &)

(c)

RBE L AR
AEESERERHNBSERS
SEY - N AMEB OB R
B - AEE OB BRE RN
MESRBESSEY  NEHES
BT -

TEREREEBEANIH BN
EREARE 0 AT AR SR BIR AR R B HA AR Y
NMIITEERAE - RAKE
MEBRR/ENAURADRE -

Between Between
1 year 2 years
Less than and and Over
1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
PE 1EZ25 26 ZE55F 5FEL st
usb usb usb usb usb
EY EP EP EPH EPH
At December 31, 2019 R-Z-h&E
+=ZA=+—-H
Lease Liabilities HEBE 382,980 373,452 1,100,327 643,411 2,500,170
Trade and other payables and B 5 REMER
accruals (excluding salary FIBMESER
and staff welfare payables (TREENE S
and taxes payable) REIRNE
FESHHIE) 4,666,865 - - - 4,666,865
At December 31, 2018 RZEB-N\F
+=ZA=+—-8
Trade and other payables and B 5 REMER
accruals (excluding salary FIBMEER
and staff welfare payables (TREENES
and taxes payable) REIRIE
FESHHIE) 4,783,130 - - - 4,783,130
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital (including share capital and capital
reserves) by regularly reviewing the capital structure. As a part
of this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost
of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares
or sell assets to reduce debt. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Group’s capital risk is low.

3.3 Fair value estimation

The Group’s financial instruments are carried at fair value
as at balance sheet dates, by level of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as
follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

. Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

. Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

No asset instruments carried in level 2 or level 3 for the year
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. The following table
presents the Group’s financial instruments that are measured
at fair value using level 1 inputs:

MEERER &

33 DAAEBEMLE @)

HE-_T-NFRZZTE-N\F+ZA=
TBLEFE UEEE-_RIE=H
HEBEAETIHR - TRITSAEEFEH
FE—RBMABEBRAAEBEEAEZENER
TEA:

As at December 31,

R+=—A=+-—8

2019 2018

e —E)\F

usbD UsD

ESH Ex

Financial assets EMEE
— Financial assets at —BAREBEFEAHEHTA
FVOCI (Note 9) EmerEmlanemEE

(WizE9) 963,185 2,670,518

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet dates.
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBERER W

33 DAAEBEMLE @)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market is determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
for evaluating the fair value of a financial instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:

THFNERTHEEENERTANDA
EEDRAGEEIEE - 2FHEER
%ﬁﬁﬁ AERMTISEE (0E) k&R
BE TR EREEMET - WAl AT
AERARBEMBENAAEERBAEDR
BR ZTAAGASE AR -

fiff — IR IA LR E R 8 A B IEE R A]

BENTSRIE  ZLAFAZ=LRA -

AR EHERTABENARBGEEZR
EC

. Dealer quotes for similar instruments; s RSEBEBEIAEMNRE

. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the o FRBEHM AL BETIIRETER
present value of the estimated future cash flows based on ZEHE  FFEAMBRIRKRER
observable yield curves; and EMRE: &

. Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, o Hik MBNRIBEREN

are used to determine fair value for financial instruments. TERETESRITANAAEE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

41 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Estimates of the Player Relationship Period in the
Group’s game development
As described in Note 2.20, the Group recognises
revenue from durable virtual items ratably over the
Player Relationship Period. The determination of Player
Relationship Period in each game is based on the
Group’s best estimate that takes into account all known
and relevant information at the time of assessment. Such
estimates are subject to re-evaluation on a semi-annual
basis. Any adjustments arising from changes in the Player
Relationship Period as a result of new information will be
accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting
estimate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

41 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Provision for impairment of trade receivables
Impairment of trade receivables is made based on an
assessment of expected credit loss of trade receivables.
The identification of expected credit loss requires
management’s judgement and estimates. Provision is
made based on the Group’s expected credit loss model.
Where the actual outcome or further expectation is
different from the original estimate, such differences
will impact the carrying value of the receivables, and
the amount of doubtful debt expenses or write-back
of provision for trade receivable in the period in which
such estimate has been changed. Based on the Group’s
assessment on the expected credit loss of trade
receivables, impairment provision of USD2,946,572 was
made as at December 31, 2019 (2018: USD1,635,576).

Provision for impairment of prepayments and
deposits

Impairment of prepayments and deposits are made based
on an assessment of the recoverability of prepayments
and deposits. The identification of doubtful amounts
requires management’s judgement and estimates.
Provision is made when there is objective evidence that
the Group will not be able to realise the prepayments
or collect the deposits. Where the actual outcome
or further expectation is different from the original
estimate, such differences will impact the carrying value
of the prepayments and deposits, and the amount of
administrative expenses or write-back of provision for
prepayments and deposits in the period in which such
estimate has been changed. Based on the Group’s
assessment on the recoverability of prepayments and
deposits, impairment provision of USD1,460,301 was
made as at December 31, 2019 (2018:Nil).

4 BEREEEFTRHEE @

4.1 BREEHFTRER @

(b)

(c)

g 5 EWHIERERE

B REBFBEBRREDNENTES
B FIETEHE EBBAITE o &
AEHEEERREEEEENHE
RAEEr - BETRIBEASEHTES
EEEBEEEREL - MERERK
RRBHERRNENEER © Z
EERBTERZETE B E
WREMEREE - UM SRR
BREX N BERENSE - R
BAEEHESRKAEEHEE
BENTE  R-E—hFE+ A
=+—8 AEBEELORERE
52,946,572 L (=2 — )\ F :
1,635,576%7T) °

BN IR R SR E R

BENFERRESREDREBYHEN
IR KRS H0 R Y B 0 ATl
He EERRNERAZEREN
HE AR - EERBERBTA
SESEERRANFARKEZ
e AIBZERNKBERIREE
HEE - WERERSIE TR
HEREGEF TR ZEZRY
FEBNFARRESHREE - U
R biifhst iR EE2nHRAE R
TN FOR R IR & 1T IR S S B
BOeE - REAREYENKEA
ke o Ee e ER-F
—hFE+ZA=+—REHRER
%1,460,301% T (ZE — N\ F:
&)

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

41 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (Continued)

(d)

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred tax assets
and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

Recognition of share-based payments

The Group has granted share options to its directors
and employees. The Company has used the Binomial
option-pricing model to determine the total fair value of
the options granted, which is to be expensed over the
vesting period. Significant estimate on assumptions, such
as risk-free interest rate, expected volatility and dividend
yield, is required to be made by the Company in applying
the Binomial option-pricing model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARDIPESR

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (a) RAEFENNBAZDHF
with customers

Year ended December 31,

BEt-ZA=t—-HLEE

2019 2018

—E-NEF —ZT-)\F

usbD UsD

ES e

Online game revenue PEg A 17,807,719 21,453,881
Licensing revenue BRI 101,962 2,693,224
Advertising revenue BElA 9,308 9,384
Server rental revenue RIRZAE LA - 4,860
17,918,989 24,161,349

Timing of revenue recognition, by category: RAERIEI D Z WA TR -

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—-BHLEFE

2019 2018

—E-hF —E—)\F

usD usD

EPH e

Over time BERS B = 17,918,989 21,561,349
At a point in time RS2, - 2,600,000
17,918,989 24,161,349
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers (Continued)

For management purpose, the executive directors of the
Company consider that the Group generates revenue primarily
from the provision of online game services. The executive
directors of the Company review the operating results of the
business as one segment to make strategic decisions about
resources to be allocated. Therefore, the executive directors
of the Company consider that there is only one segment of the
Group.

The Group has a large number of game players, no individual
game players generated revenue which exceeded 10% or more
of the Group’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019
(2018: same).

The revenue generated from top five largest revenue collection
platforms, accounted for 64% (2018: 60%) of the Group’s
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019.

YN A L)% A4 BB BR A Rl(Shenzhen Qianhai Huanjing
Network Technology Co., Ltd.), which is a fellow subsidiary
of 7Road International Group Limited, a company that
holds a 15.5% shareholding equity interest of the Company.
7Road International Group Limited and its fellow subsidiaries
(collectively, “7Road”) were the Group’s game licensors.
The revenue generated from the games licensed by 7Road,
accounted for 14% (2018: 16%) of the Group’s revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2019.

wYIE R B A R A 7)(Shenzhen Haituo Shidai Network
Technology Co., Ltd.,”Shenzhen Haituo”) was the Group’s
game licensor. The revenue generated from the games
licensed by Shenzhen Haituo accounted for 22% (2018:18%) of
the Group’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Revenue from games licensed by a single company or group
which exceeded 10% totally accounted for 36% (2018:34%) of
the Group’s revenue for the year ended December, 2019.
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(a) REAEFAMNHRAZHF
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AEBETERBRHBBEBRBES
WA e ARBIRITEEBEBER R
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AHI10% KA F (ZF— )\ : 48[) o

KB BRPAWGK T &Rl AEAEE
BE-_Z-NF+ZA=+—HLFE
HIBAB64% (ZZF—\F : 60%) °

AINTAELREERBEERAAT AR
7Road International Group Limited
(FFERAT55%RAERH AR H
A % i B 2 7] - 7TRoad International
Group Limited & H B Z Mf & 2 7] (£t
BRIELXRE] AAREE KK
A REELRKEMBEERMNBA
MAEEHE-_ZT—NhF+=-A=1+—
HBIEFEMNRANI14% (Z2—\F:
16%) ©

RIEHE B RAER 2R (RIS
) RAEENBEBREA - kBRI
BIRBEEENRAEREERE
E-NFTZA=Z+—HIEEFENERA
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BEZ_ZT-NF+A=+—HILF
ERWARSZ6% (ZZ—/\F : 34%) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers (Continued)

Besides that, no revenue from games licensed by a single
company or group exceeded 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018: same).

(b) Segment assets

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and
deferred income tax assets, by country:

WAR D EBER @)

(a) REAEFAMNHRAZHF

(&)

Bt 2o RBE-Z-AF+A=
T—HLEFE  BEXEE-QFHE
[ 93 4 0 22 80 0 R N\ RSB AR SR B A Y
10% A £ (ZF—=/\F : #HR) -

(b) P HBEE
EERESHIERDEE (EMIT AR
EEFTERAERS) -

As at December 31,

R+=A=+-—8

2019 2018

—ZE-hF —E-N\F

usD usD

ES ET

BVI REBEZES 4,801,266 5,165,823
The PRC & 4,022,920 3,166,898
Hong Kong BB 680,660 1,012,850
Other locations H b in 2h 58,544 60,813
9,563,390 9,406,384
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARSIEE o)

(Continued)

(c) Assets and liabilities related to contracts (c) EEFEXNERENEERE
with customers &
The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities AEFBDHRUTEEFPEHNEEANE
related to contracts with customers: ERrAE:
As at December 31,
R+=—A=+-—H
2019 2018
—EB-hE —ET-N\F
uUsbD UsD
E ET
Contract costs — unamortised BRI — BETE A UEH
commission cost charged by REBHEFASHAR
distribution platforms 771,402 695,396
The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities AEBEEBRAUTEHEFANABANE
related to contracts with customers: ERrAE:
As at December 31,
B+=A=+—8
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZET-N\F
usbD USD
EPH e
Contract liabilities — unamortised EHAE - HERNEBEEE KL
revenue from sales of Game Tokens F R R 0 B2 B RS R R G
and virtual items for web-based Fr 15 B0 R S UL
games and mobile games 2,850,210 3,041,248
Contract liabilities — royalty fees ABHEE - BRI RER
received in advance 377,380 382,672
Contract liabilities — unamortised EHBE - VFHUTERN
balance of the initial license fee REE LS 280,417 382,379
Total current contract liabilities BN X aERsE 3,508,007 3,806,299
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

5 WARDIEER =)

(c) BEEFAHNEBRNEERE
& ®)

TRINTRARESHANERNRARTZ
LEFENANAERR  UREZD
HR EFEEDRITNENREER

(c) Assets and liabilities related to contracts
with customers (Continued)

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities and how much relates to performance
obligations that were satisfied in a prior year:

As at December 31,

R+t=—HA=+—~
2019 2018
—E-hF —ZT—)\F
uUsbD UsD
En ET
Revenue recognised that was included s AB¥IAE L BELEHHEERLA
in the contract liability balance at the
beginning of the period
Online game revenue RS PN 3,055,101 3,400,784
— Unamortised revenue from sales — REHEEMREHERKA 3,041,248 3,378,368
— royalty fees — & 13,853 22,416
Licensing revenue LSRN 101,962 77,670
3,157,063 3,478,454

The Group has recognised contract costs in relation to
commission costs charged by distribution platforms. The
following table shows how much of the costs recognised in the
current reporting period relates to contract costs.

AEBECHBETF B RERNME KA
RAEKEAE - TRINTRARE HAHE

ROKABZ LEE

HRAER -

As at December 31,

R+=ZA=+—H
2019 2018
—ZE-hF T N\F
uUsbD uUsD
EY Er
Asset recognised from costs incurred RTZA=+—BEBEE8FF
to contain a contract at 31 December EERAMERNEE 771,402 695,396
Amortisation recognised as commission R HI AR A S 5 A #H
charges during the period (Note 23) (Pf3E23) 7,020,942 8,083,420
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 YxX- BERRE

Office Leasehold Motor
equipment Computers improvements  vehicles Total
BAERE B HEWERE AE wst
usbD usbD usD usbD usD
En EY E En EY

Year ended December 31, 2019 BE-Z-NFE+-A=t+-HLEE
Opening net book amount FOEMFE 43,479 142,376 1,921,273 - 2,107,128
Additions WE 2,237 29,947 115,808 109,137 257,129
Depreciation charge (Note (a)) HEER (M) (17,857) (65,440) (268,380)  (18,190) (369,867)
Currency translation differences ERHEES (281) (1,010) (17,182) - (18473)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 27,578 105,873 1,751,519 90,947 1,975,917
At December 31, 2019 RZZ-h1&+-A=t-H
Cost KA 112,065 425,983 2,175,076 109,137 2,822,261
Accumulated depreciation ZitinE (84,487)  (320,110) (423,557)  (18,190)  (846,344)
Net book amount SREFE 27,578 105,873 1,751,519 90,947 1,975,917
Year ended December 31,2018  HE-Z-N\F+-A=+-HILEE
Opening net book amount ENREFE 32,231 106,344 132,017 - 270,592
Additions NE 25,668 106,568 2,162,176 - 2,294,412
Depreciation charge (Note (a)) WEER (Mi(a) (12,164) (63,299) (294,900) - (370,363)
Currency translation differences ERBREEE (2,256) (7,237) (78,020) - (87,513)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 43,479 142,376 1,921,273 - 2,107,128
At December 31, 2018 R-B-NE+=-B=+-H
Cost BRA 110,920 400,101 2,080,394 - 2,591,415
Accumulated depreciation 2HE (67,441)  (257,725) (159,121) ~ (484,287)
Net book amount REFE 43479 142376 1,921,273 - 2,107,128

(a) Depreciation charges were charged to administrative expenses during
the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOt KM E (&)
7 LEASES 7 HE
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) EEHEEEBERERNS
balance sheets |
The consolidated balance sheets show the following amounts AMBAEABEINTUTHEEE@EN
relating to leases: Ea
As at As at
December 31, January 1,
2019 2019
R-ZZB—IF R=Z—h#F
+=B=+-8 -B-8
usbD uUsD
P Sy
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Properties 3 1,843,078 2,090,782
Lease liabilities HEaE
Current BN &R 270,123 224,760
Non-current JERNE] 1,800,872 2,042,046
2,070,995 2,266,806
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended 31 REZE-Z—NF+-A=+—HItF
December 2019 were USD68,093. E - A EE N A68,093% 7T ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BO B mRME ()
7 LEASES (continued) 7 HE®w
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) EEHE2HKBRERNE
statements of comprehensive income ]
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income show A EEWEFYRUATEMBAESBY
the following amounts relating to leases: Ea
Year ended
December 31, 2019
BE-Z-h#F
TZA=+—-HLEFE
uUsD
E
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENTERS
Buildings BF 289,512
Interest expense (included in finance costs) FEMAY GFAFBKA) 114,612
Expense relating to short-term leases B HIHERMNME (FrATHAX)
(included in administrative expenses) 33,411
The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended REBEE-_Z—NF+_A=+—8BItF
December 31, 2019 was USD359,761. E - Remib 8 /359,761 T °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOt KM E (&)
8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8 BIEEE
Game
intellectual
properties Computer
and licenses software Total
PR A ERE
KA B et
usbD usbD usbD
EH E0 EP
Year ended December 31, 2019 BE-Z—-N#&E
+TZHA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FERE®EFE 2,294,452 21,872 2,316,324
Additions nE 341,846 - 341,846
Amortisation (Note (a)) By (it(a)) (655,724) (8,130) (663,854)
Impairment charge (Note 23) WERZ (M723) (128,920) - (128,920)
Currency translation differences EBME (2,294) (280) (2,574)
Closing net book amount FRIEEFE 1,849,360 13,462 1,862,822
At December 31, 2019 R-ZEBE-AEFE+=A=+—H
Cost RN 3,463,798 42,176 3,505,974
Accumulated impairment ZERE (128,558) - (128,558)
Accumulated amortisation e 3 (1,485,880) (28,714) (1,514,594)
Net book amount IREFRE 1,849,360 13,462 1,862,822
Year ended December 31, 2018 B2 N\#&F
+ZHA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 449,436 11,665 461,101
Additions B 2,339,974 13,864 2,353,838
Amortisation (Note (a)) B3y (Mi(a)) (494,958) (2,699) (497,657)
Currency translation differences BRI R = (958) (958)
Closing net book amount FAREEEE 2,294,452 21,872 2,316,324
At December 31, 2018 R-ZE-N\E+=ZHA=+—H
Cost R AR 3,124,848 43,904 3,168,752
Accumulated amortisation RETHE 5 (830,396) (22,032) (852,428)
Net book amount REFE 2,294,452 21,872 2,316,324
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 8 EREE®

(a) Amortisation charges were expensed in the following categories
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

(a) HHEANAHE2ERERANATRR
PISTEH

Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=1t—HLEE

2019 2018

—ZE-hF T N\F

usb USD

Ep e

Cost of revenue B AR 475,991 418,778
As a reduction to revenue EBIRABIFIR 179,733 76,180
Administrative expenses TR 8,130 2,699
663,854 497,657

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Classification of financial assets at FVOCI

Financial assets at FVOCI comprise:

Equity securities which are not held for trading, and which the Group
has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in this
category. These are strategic investments and the Group considers
this classification to be more relevant.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Group did not have
any investment in debt securities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 9 ®ZAREBHEFTEBHEHZBHFA
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hh2HEHWENEMEE @
INCOME (Continued)

Equity investments at FVOCI RZAREETEEHBETTA
Hih2EKWRIRERE
Equity investments at FVOCI comprise the following: REARBEFEEEZEST ALMEZEKE

R ARIREBEATRE

As at December 31,

R+=—A=+-—H
2019 2018
—ZE-hF —TE-N\F
usbD USD
EY ET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Listed securities _EiES
FingerTango Inc. (Note (a)) et BT ER AR (@) 963,185 2,670,518
(a) The Group acquired approximately 0.6% of common stocks (a) AEBCDWEEREBIERER AT
of FingerTango Inc., a company listed in Hong Kong which 0.6%H LMK -« ZAREEBE L™ » £
is principally engaged in the development, operation and ERhENEME - BERIEIT TR
publishing mobile game business in the PRC. BES
The following table presents the changes in financial assets at TREFRARBEFEEEZ A
FVOCI: HipzEPENEREE &

As at December 31,

R+=-—A=+—8H

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-)\F

uUsbD uUsD

E EYM

As at January 1 ®w—HA—H 2,670,518 =

Addition NE - 2,559,607
(Loss)/gain recognised in other REMEEKEERN (BE),

comprehensive income & (1,707,333) 110,911

As at December 31 R+ZA=+—8H 963,185 2,670,518
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

10 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES 10 ZEilE s EmIT A

As at December 31,

R+=—B=+—~H
2019 2018
—ZE-hF —T-N\F
usb USD
Ep i
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHENAGTENSREE
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 R EMERFIE
(excluding prepayments and deposits) (TEFEEMNRRES) 16,157,394 16,644,000
— Cash and cash equivalents ~-BekREeEED 25,320,274 32,598,242
41,477,668 49,242,242
Financial asset at FVOCI BEARBETEEEEHTA
EtrmianemiE
— Investment in equity securities — RBEABLHENEE 963,185 2,670,518
Financial liabilities cRaE
Liabilities at amortised cost REERATENAE
— Trade and other payables and accruals — B REAMENARIEMERT
(excluding salary and staff welfare B (TREENFHe R
payables and taxes payable) BIRMREHTIE) 4,666,865 4,783,130
Lease liabilities HER®RE 2,070,995 =
6,737,860 4,783,130
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at December 31,
2019 and 2018 are set out below:

11 RBLARANRE

REBR -_ZE-IER-_ZT—N\E+-A=+
—BRMBARFBOT

Issued and Equity interest
Place and date of paid-in capital/ held as at
incorporation/ Kind of legal registered  December 31,  Principal activities and
Company Name establishment entity capital 2019 and 2018  place of operation
RZB-RER
BRITR ZE-N\F
ERERL Ef#&Ex/ +-A=t+-8
NAER Kb R A HRERER EmER BENRE IEEBREEHE
Directly owned
ERER
Digital Hollywood International ~ BVI/November 25, 2014  Limited Liability usb100 100%  Investment holding/BVI
Limited (“Hollywood BVI") Company
Digital Hollywood International ~ EBEZHE / BREFAT 100%7T 100% REER / RBELEHS
Limited ([Hollywood BVI]) “T-MF
+-A=t+HA
Proficient City Limited (“PCL”") BVI/January 25, 2011 Limited Liability USD50,000 100%  Operation of web-based and mobile
Company games/Global markets, mainly in
North American market
Proficient City Limited ([PCL]) ~ HBEZE#S/ BREFAT 50,0005 T 100% HEEERFHEE/
—2——%-§4 M5 FEELETS
~+HA
Proficient City Hong Kong Hong Kong/ Limited Liability HKD10,000 100%  Investment holding/Hong Kong
Limited (“PCL HK") December 17, 2018 Company
Proficient City Hong Kong B/ _E-\& BEREEAF 10,0007 7T 100% REEE /BB
Limited ([PCL HK]) TZAttH
Angame Inc. (*Angame”) BVI/July 5, 2005 Limited Liability usb100 100%  Operation of mobile games/mainly in
Company Malaysia
Angame Inc. ([Angame |) KEETHS/ EREIRT] 10057t 100% SEFHES/ FTEESRAD
“ZThFLARA
Indirectly owned
BiEEs
Game Hollywood Hong Kong Hong Kong/December 5,  Limited Liability HKD1 100%  Operation of online games/mainly in
Limited (“Hollywood HK”) 2014 Company Hong Kong, Taiwan and Vietnam
Game Hollywood Hong Kong &%/ ZZ—fF BREART 157 100% EESEEY/TEETE
Limited ([ Hollywood HK ) +=A%A REREE
Now To Play Game Limited Hong Kong/ Limited Liability HKD10,000 100%  Operation of web-based game
(“Now To Play Game”) March 29, 2011 Company overseas/mainly in North American
market
Now to Play Game Limited Bt/ -E——F BREFAH 10,0007 100% SEEEHE/ 8 FEELETS
(TNow To Play Game ) ZAZthA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 11 RIBRARNERE @)

Issued and Equity interest

Place and date of paid-in capital/ held as at
incorporation/ Kind of legal registered  December 31,  Principal activities and
Company Name establishment entity capital 2019 and 2018  place of operation
RZB-LER
EETR —E-N\f
Bl Y B#&%x/ +-A=t+-H
DR BB R AE ERERER EHER BENRE IEXBRELHE
EMERESHBEERA The PRC/May 13,2015 Limited Liability USD2,000,000 100%  Technical support services/the PRC
(Guangzhou You La| Company
Information Technology
Company Limited,
“Guangzhou You Lai” )
BMERERREERR hE,/ ~F-n% BREARA 2,000,00057T 100%  RATERY / HE
(TEMEHR]) nA+=H
ERFEEEREARAR The PRC/July 17,2015 Limited Liability RMB2,000,000 100%  Investment holding/the PRC
(Beijing You Tang Information Company
Technology Company Limited,
“Beijing You Tang”)
EREZEENBERAR hE,/ “E-10F AREMLA  ARME2000,0007 100% RERR, H
(MEREE]) tA++H
ENERBEERRERA The PRC/March 6, 2013 Limited Liability RMB1,000,000 100%  Development of mobile games/
(Guangzhou Zhang Ymg Company the PRC
Kong Information Technology
Company Limited,
“Zhang Ying Kong")
BNEELESRBARAR  RE/-F-=F BREEAR  AR%1,000,0007T 100% BEFHEE/ PE
([£mE]) =AXA
EMFEAEREGRZARLE  The PRC/une 12,2010  Limited Liability RMB1,270,000 100%  Marketing and technical support
(Guangzhou Suiyue Niandai Company service/the PRC
Software Technology Company
Limited, “Guangzhou
SYND")
BMZAFREMREARAR  HE/ZZ-TF BREERAR  AR¥1,270,0007 100% TRRHERRITERYE/ HE
(TEMEmAER]) ~ATZ=H
ERBEREENEBRAR The PRC/November 14,  Limited Liability RMB1,000,000 100%  Investment holding/the PRC
(Beijing You Lai Information 2014 Company
Technology Company Limited,
“Beijing You Lai")
ERBARESHMBEAR AR HE/ ZT-EF BREARR  AR¥1,000,0007C 100% RAEZR/HE
(HEmiEs ) +—A+mE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

11 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes: The Company has set up a structured entity, Epic City Limited(“Share
Scheme Trust”), solely for the purpose of administering and holding
the Company’s shares for the Share Option Scheme (Note 17), the
Company has the power to direct the relevant activities of Share
Scheme Trust and it has the ability to use its power over Share
Scheme Trust to affect its exposure to returns. Therefore, the assets
and liabilities of Share Scheme Trust are included in the Group’s
balance sheet and the shares it held are presented as a deduction in
equity as shares held for the Share Option Scheme.

12 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are as

11 RMBATIMNEKRE »

Mis AR BB RL— KRB M E BEpic City
Limited ([Ax 17 5t 8115 5E)) - EREEER
FAEARBISBARES B35 A D (I
17) AR BB REIERBRO EEENERE
B THEIERDBEEEREIUTE
HEBEH - Bt - Bt EENEERE
BRIIRAEEEERBR - MEAMFENOR
12 TH VAR RS AR AE 5T &I R A AR (0 25 AR

Do

12 RIEEQRTINRE

REHBEERBRABRIBNESENT :

follows:
As at December 31,
R+=—A=+—8
2019 2018
—E-AF —ZT—)\F
uUsD UsD
ESp e
Associate i —/NE| - 640,233
The loss recognised in the consolidated RE P 2E SRR
statement of comprehensive income is BB -
as follows:
Associate il - 3,355

Set out below is the details of the associate of the Group. The
associate as listed below has share capital consisting solely of
registered capital, which is held directly by the Group.

VAT 85I AR S B & A RO B KL » T SO 51 B
BRANRAESEEMRA - BRAEMRAR
MASBEERSE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

12 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

12 REEE DN TIRE (&)

Details of investment in an associate as at December 31, 2019 and R-ZE—AER T N\F+-_A=+—8R
2018: —KEE R RN E NS ©
Place of business/ % of ownership Nature of the ~ Measurement
Name of entity country of incorporation interest relationship method
EREH Y BRALER FERRERDL(%) BHERME HEFE
HBEERHL AR 7)(Shanghai Jiying Technology The PRC
Company Limited, “Shanghai Jiying™) 20 (i) and (ii) Equity
PERERBARDR ([LBEE]) HE 20 (i) B (i) i

(i)  The Group has designated a member in the Board of Directors
which enables the Group to exercise significant influence
in Shanghai Jiying through the participation in operational,
investing and financing actions. Consequently, Shanghai Jiying
has been accounted for as an associate.

Shanghai Jiying is a private company engaged in the game
operation and there is no quoted market price available for its

equity.

(ify There were no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interest in the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOt KM E (&)
12 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 12 REEE NTINERE @)
Movement of investment in associate is analysed as follows: REE N BINIRENES ST :
Shanghai Jiying
tBEE

Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,

2019 2018

BE-Z—-hE #HE-Z-N\F

t=A=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H

LHEE WEFE

usbD uUsD

ESp ETT

At beginning of the year F4 640,233 681,625
Share of losses FTE 18 = (3,355)

Impairment charge (Note (a)) BERX (K@) (652,596) =
Currency translation differences EmE =g 12,363 (38,037)

Carrying value BREE - 640,233
(a)  Full impairment of investment in an associate of USD652,596 was made (a) REEZE=Z-NF+-A=+—HILEFEED
during the year ended December 31, 2019, because the Group did not YL N FIREA R E652,596% T - REAA
anticipate any future cash flow to be generated from Shanghai Jiying’s FESEBEREHRELHRE  BAEELT
operation as the entity has substantially wound down its operations. In FEHAEREERENEERELEMARRS
addition, an impairment charge of USD261,000 was also made against WE o AN HEMA T OEEBMRERED

the full amount of a prepaid royalty fee to Shanghai Jiying during the 2 BURER %261,000% 7T (KizE15(c)) °

year ended December 31, 2019 (Note 15(c)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOtE SRR (&)
13 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 13 IEIEFTEH
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as BIEFEREERBENSTAOT ¢
follows:
As at December 31,
R+=—B=+—~H
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—N\F
usb USD
Ep e
Deferred income tax assets: FEIEFTSREE «
— to be recovered within 12 months — #1218 A Rk e 11,779 173,875
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFEREE -
— to be recovered after more than 12 months — BREBE121E8 A & Uk E - (21,339)
— to be recovered within 12 months — #1218 A AL E (5,757) (34,682)
(5,757) (56,021)
Deferred tax assets — net EERIRE EF R 6,022 117,854
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BO B mRME ()

13 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 13 EEZERBHR @
Movement in deferred income tax assets without taking into BEFMBSHEENES CTet RE—BHBERE
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax MR A AEBRHEEE) T

jurisdiction is as follows:

Contract
liabilities Provisions Total
EHEE B et
usbD usb usbD
EYH Ep Sy
Year ended December 31, 2019 BE-ZE—-N&
+—HA=+—HLEFE
At beginning of the year REW) 73,357 100,518 173,875
Charged to the income statement kB WamE (61,108) (100,797) (161,905)
Currency translation differences BE¥mE = (470) 279 (191)
At end of the year REXR 11,779 - 11,779
Year ended December 31, 2018 BE-ZT-N\&§
+ZHA=+—HLEFE
At beginning of the year REW) 135,748 103,704 239,452
(Charged to)/credited to the income (1B &), st A==
statement (60,858) 2,649 (58,209)
Currency translation differences BE¥mE = (1,533) (5,835) (7,368)
At end of the year RER 73,357 100,518 173,875
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

13 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Movement in deferred income tax liabilities without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax
jurisdiction is as follows:

13 EZEMEH @)

BREFRFEHRABENEY (T RE—HB DA
RER AR AR IREE) T

Changes in
fair value of
financial assets

Contract costs at FVOCI Total
RAAREEFE
BEHEH#EHA
Hith 2wk
HWemEE
BHEE ZAREESED #wEt
usbD uUsbD usbD
=R ES E
Year ended December 31, 2019 #HE—-ZT—HE
tTZA=+—-HLFE
At beginning of the year REF] (34,682) (21,339) (56,021)
Credited to other comprehensive st A Efth 2 E Uz
income - 21,339 21,339
Credited to the income statement AUz & 28,867 - 28,867
Currency translation differences BEXmE TR 58 - 58
At end of the year RER (5,757) - (5,757)
Year ended December 31, 2018 &®HE-ZT—/N\F
+-HA=+—-BHLEFE
At beginning of the year REF) (43,573) - (43,573)
Charged to other comprehensive R EMW2EWZEING
income - (21,339) (21,339)
Credited to the income statement  FF AMZEX 8,303 - 8,303
Currency translation differences BB EERE 588 - 588
At end of the year RER (34,682) (21,339) (56,021)

Deferred income tax liabilities of USD590,000 (2018: USD690,000)
as at December 31, 2019, have not been recognised for the
withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries established in the PRC.
Such amounts are permanently reinvested. Unremitted earnings
totalled USD11,794,000 (2018: USD13,795,000) as at December 31,
2019.

RZBE-NFTZA=+—RH UE\RETHE
o B A 32 O BT BB % ) O AR B L 28 A B A Y TR A0
750 N H At ¢ TR A RUR AT P15 B¢ B 15590,0003
7T (ZZF—/\F : 690,000%7T) - FHEED
BEKABRE RIE-NF+A=+—
HEVRELBHE£A11,794,000% T (ZF
—/\% : 13,795,000%7T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

13 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 13 EEFREHR )

As of December 31, 2019, the Group did not recognise deferred
income tax assets of USD624,000 (2018: USD22,000), in respect
of deductible temporary differences and cumulative tax losses
amounting to USD4,563,000 (2018:5,000) in total, as it is uncertain
that future taxable income will be available in those subsidiaries
against which the tax losses can be utilised. Of the tax losses
amounting to USD900,000, tax losses amounting to USD1,000,
USD15,000, USD6,000 and USD369,000 will expire in 2021, 2022,
2023 and 2024, respectively. The remaining tax losses amounting to
USD509,000 have no expiry date.

RZZ—hE+-_A=Z+—B AEETE
BLAT R E B = £ I A $£4,563,000% T (=
T— \4F :5,000%7T) WRBEMREEEER
iR AE 7R T & 624,000 T (Z T — )\ F ¢
22,000%7t) BAUTEETZEMBARE
AR JE RR B a5 ) SRAFE A B IS 5 1B T LA 8 -
£ & ¥ £900,0003 LI B & E5 18R - FR IS
/% 81,0003 7T - 15,0003 7T - 6,000% 7T &
369,000 TH NN =T =—F - ZT==
F ZEZ=FRITDVNFHE c BRTHB
E518509,0003 LI EF B o

14 TRADE RECEIVABLES 14 B 5 BWKIE

As at December 31,

R+=-—A=+—8H

2019 2018

—EB-hE —T—\F

uUsD UsD

E ET

Trade receivables (Note (a)) B S RWIE (s a)) 5,181,194 5,260,697

Less: allowance for impairment of trade B BRRUBGRIER AR

receivables (Note (b)) (FiE(b)) (2,946,572) (1,635,576)
2,234,622 3,625,121
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOt KM E (&)
14 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 14 B S EWFRIE @)

(a) Trade receivables are arising from the development and (a) B SREWFIER B BB HEREGNRE
operation of online game business. The credit terms of trade R&EE - BTFTFERE=ZFHFRBEH
receivables granted to the Platforms and third party payment ERENBIRERKZIEEERAT DA
vendors are usually zero to 120 days and zero to 30 days, TE120B R ZEE30H - REEBEEE
respectively. Aging analysis based on invoice date of the gross AEREZSRKFIBAERZRAHNR
trade receivables at the respective balance sheet dates is as BomaT -
follows:

As at December 31,
R+=A=+—8

2019 2018

—B-hF —T-N\F

usbD USD

Y ETT

0-30 days 0£30H 866,395 1,085,622
31-90 days 31290H 1,026,677 1,106,756
91-180 days 91£180H 451,415 764,506
Over 180 days HE180H 2,836,707 2,303,813
5,181,194 5,260,697

(b) As at December 31, 2019, trade receivables of USD2,946,572 by RZZE—hF+ZA=+—H BFHE
(2018: USD1,635,576) were impaired. Movements on the I 37 782,946,572F 0 (ZF — N\ F ¢
Group’s provision for impairment of trade receivables are as 1,635,576%7C) ERE - ~NEBHE S
follows: FEUGRIBREFTER B 2 S8 T -

As at December 31,
R+=—A=+—8

2019 2018

—E-hF T N\F

uUsbD uUsD

ESp ETT

At beginning of the year REH 1,635,576 1,698,689

Provision/(reversal of) for trade receivables & 5 IR FIBER S (BEREE) 1,384,675 (33,113)
Receivables written off during the year as  {E& 8] Ug @ ifl 74 4 O 85

uncollectible B FE W kIR (73,679) (30,000)

At end of the year RER 2,946,572 1,635,576
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOtE SRR (&)
14 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 14 E S EWEIE @)
(b) (Continued) (b) (&)
The provision and reversal of provision for impaired EREN RN RIBEE R BERDE
receivables have been included in “Net impairment losses (on)/ FFAAHEERERO [EREE CRE
reversal of financial assets” in the consolidated statement of B8R 5),REEERE | BR -

comprehensive income.

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and BB S EWRGERERNEBFEY
the Group’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and MEERE - INERBR LA EERNE
interest rate risk can be found in Note 3.1. ¥ A 2BIMEE3.1 -

(c) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are (c) AEENMESERFENREMBEIAT
denominated in the following currencies: HEHEHE -

As at December 31,

R+=-—A=+-—H
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
usbD USD
Y ETT
usb ETT 3,566,235 3,735,911
RMB AR 1,575,905 1,519,674
HKD BT 39,054 5,112
5,181,194 5,260,697
(d) As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the fair value of trade (d) R=ZE—NFERZZFE-—NF+ZA=+
receivables approximated their carrying amounts. —H BHERZEN AL EEEELE
EERSE -
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date NEBARRERHATHZAZERR
is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned A ERIERFBENRTE A&
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. E I A R mERER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

15 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 15 ANRRHEMEWRIE

As at December 31,

R+=A=+—8
2019 2018
—EB-hF =T )\F
usbD USD
Y ETT
Included in non-current assets AERBEE
Prepayment for equity investments (Note (a)) RRAEE B (FsE(a)) 3,550,000 3,550,000
Prepayment for game development HE S AN BN 268,518 504,193
Prepayment for license fees (Note 23(a)) Frer e & AIEA K (fi5E23(a)) 700 235,700
Deposits e 62,355 52,806
3,881,573 4,342,699
Included in current assets FFARBEE
Receivables relating to payment channels BN RRENEYIE

(Note (b)) (FiE(b)) 13,825,857 12,864,097
Prepaid royalty fees (Note (c), FEfTHREE (FH7E(c) »

Note 23(a)) WiiE23(a)) 6,343,579 1,310,731
Prepaid advertising charges ENESER 107,466 51,307
Prepaid server rental expenses AR RREBHERZ 95,188 120,079
Deposits (to be recovered within 12 months) e (Br12@ArikE) 2,642 60,577
Others Eib 96,915 154,782

20,471,647 14,561,573
24,353,220 18,904,272
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

15 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Two prepayments for equity investments:

Prepayment of USD50,000 was for the right to equity purchase
of certain shares of a company engaged in game operation,
which is to be determined at a later stage.

On April 20, 2018, Hollywood BVI made a prepayment
to purchase the shares to be issued by Nouveau Capital
Partners Corp. (“Nouveau”), which established with limited
liability in accordance with the laws of BVI, and it is principally
engaged in investment holding, at a total consideration of
USD3,500,000. As at the date of this report, to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, Nouveau held approximately 16.27% of
the issued share capital in Bright Idea Life Company Limited
(FBAEERMBRAR], “Bright Idea Life”). Bright Idea Life is
a company established with limited liability in accordance with
the laws of Taiwan district, which is principally engaged in the
provision of cultural and art promotion services via multimedia,
animation, games and virtual reality technologies. The right to
purchase of the shares will be effective when the Investment
Commission in Taiwan approves this transaction. Pursuant
to the arrangements, Hollywood BVI has the right to require
Nouveau to refund all the initial aggregate principal amount
of USD3,500,000 in the condition that the conversion cannot
be executed due to relevant approval was not obtained from
Investment Commission in Taiwan.

Receivables relating to payment channels mainly represent
the balances in PayPal and Skrill (formerly Moneybookers), for
cash collection from game players for games operated on the
Group’s websites.

As at December 31, 2019, prepaid royalty fees mainly
represent the prepayments of approximately USD6.2 million
to certain game developers for nine mobile games. During
the year ended December 31, 2019, provisions totalling
USD783,154 were made for certain prepaid royalty fees as the
corresponding games were taken offline during the year ended
December 31, 2019 and therefore these prepayments were
considered unable to be utilised. A provision of USD261,000
was also made against a prepaid royalty fee to Shanghai Jiying
as described in Note 12.

15 FNRKREMEBRFRIER @)

(a)

(b)

(c)

PIRIR AR & B FART X -

BB -RUFEREENARE TR
10 B B HE 8 B #E WO TR Y 5%50,0003€ T
TIRBIAFERETE

R=—Z—N\4FmMA=+8  Hollywood
BVIgt#E E FANouveau Capital Partners
Corp. ([Nouveau| - —RIRIK & & &
THELIERITERERAETRD
BRDA]) BITHROIELERNTK - 2
K & /3,500,000% 7T - BEEAHRE R
B EBFATA - NouveaulF BB A 4
ERDBERRR ([TRAEE]) BE#T
MRANH116.27%  TB A £E A —KIRE
BEREEKNINERAA  FE/RE
FRLZIER BE  EERERRER
MREX(C REMERERE - & /&R
BEZEGHAELRERS®E  BERMHH
REFMBEER - RBEALHE - IRXR
FRREREZEGMEEAEMNS
w4 455 4,77 - HIHollywood BVIA #
£ kNouveaulR Bl I B HZ W A& 5
3,500,000 7T °

FBANHRRENERKEBETZER
PayPal X Skrill (A] f8Moneybookers)
NEV RS - IR AN R B AL 28 1 e
B mEET K BBNERE -

R-ZT—AFE+=-A=+—8 " Bk
EEXEREMNARFHERME TR
FREBEMANNREN2HESRT - NE
ET-NF+-A=Z+—BHLEFE "
Bt e T IE T hi i B & 783,154
EnkEE REREBEEEREZRZ=
T NAF+-A=Z+—RALFETEH
A ZEBEMNFEREBTITIRE - FH
E12FTIIE R - BN T LEEEN
Fi #E & 1E 261,000 T B4 -

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BO B mRME ()
16 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 16 RERFATEEY
As at December 31,
R+=—A=+—8
2019 2018
—B-hF —E-N\F
usbD USD
EY ET
Cash at banks RITHS 25,320,274 32,598,242
Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following ReRReEEWIIATIEEE -
currencies:
As at December 31,
R+=A=+—8
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)\F
usbD USD
EPH Er
UsSD ey 2,720,068 3,153,443
RMB AR 1,402,565 1,583,614
HKD BT 18,963,565 26,353,280
EUR BT 2,234,076 1,507,905
25,320,274 32,598,242
The conversion of USD denominated balances into foreign IAETTEHE R AR E R INE R A8 52 F BASN
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies EHE ) 72 801,363,158k L (T — )\ 5F ¢
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC amounted to 1,532,650% t) IR IT4E R RIB @ E A
USD1,363,158 (2018:USD1,532,650) are subject to relevant rules + ZE 38 ST AP B U 28 4 B9 AB BE HMNE B il 37 Bl
and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC KRB e
government.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

17 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD FOR 17 BRA R mERES2EEHR

THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The total authorised share capital of the Company comprises
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares (2018: 4,000,000,000 ordinary
shares) with par value of USDO0.001 per share (2018: USDO0.001 per
share).

As at December 31, 2019, the total number of issued ordinary
shares of the Company was 2,000,000,000 shares (2018:
2,000,000,000 shares) which included 147,560,007 shares (2018:
149,999,973 shares) held under the share incentive scheme. They
have been fully paid up.

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital and
shares held for the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

il

N A B H) #85% TE AR 7K B $54,000,000,0008%
@A (== — )\ : 4,000,000,0008% & i@
B%) - MEMKREEA0.001ET (ZT— N\F
&h%0.001%E7T) ©

MN_ZE—hE+-A=+—B ARFAESH
17 % 38 I% 48 21 /52,000,000,0008% (—ZF— N\
4 :2,000,000,0000%) + B 3E 5 B D BB &
£ 5 #9147,560,007 % J 19 (Z T — )\ 4 -
149,999,9730% ) - % ZWMH BRI °

MBI -

Shares held

Number of for the Share

shares in issue Share capital Option Scheme

TR RS E

ERITROEE &S BENRS

uUsD usD

EPH EP

(Note (a))

(P (a))

At December 31, 2019 R-ZBE—NF+-_A=+—8H 2,000,000,000 2,000,000 (147,560)
At December 31, 2018 R_F—N\F+=-—A=+—H 2,000,000,000 2,000,000 (150,000)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

17 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
FOR THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(Continued)

(a)

According to the written resolutions of all the members of the
Company dated November 2, 2015 and capitalisation issue
dated November 24, 2017, an aggregate of 150,000,000
ordinary shares were authorised and reserved for the issuance
to the employees, directors of the Group and other persons
pursuant to the share incentive scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) adopted by the Company.

The Company has appointed Core Trust Company Limited
as the trustee to assist with the administration and vesting
of options granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.
On May 27, 2017, the Company allotted and issued shares
to Share Scheme Trust, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Core
Trust Company Limited, which are or will be used to satisfy
the options upon exercise. The shares held by Share Scheme
Trust are presented as a deduction in equity as shares held for
the Share Option Scheme.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Share Scheme
Trust transferred 2,439,966 ordinary shares of the Company
(December 31, 2018: nil) to the grantees exercising of the
awarded shares (Note 19).
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17 %leﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁg%l'ilﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁﬁ
()

(a)

REEPA-Z—RFET+—AZBAR
AEERERNEMRRARLBAR-E
—tF+—AZ+TOEMNERET
& #£150,000,000/% & i & B K # K
R ARIE AR BER A B 2B 53
(THEREE ) BT TARENES -
BEERHEMAL

N A 7] B £ fECore Trust Company
Limited{E A2 EA LB E R RBRER
BEREFSEDNERE R —
tFRAZ++H KARE ARG
#|{=5t (Core Trust Company Limited
MEEMBAR) B RETRG - A
VA S PR IA i R B AR T T R N T
E - Rt EE A NGO AR ER
EETEIFENRN 25| AR

REBEZE-_Z—AF+-A=1+—HLF
B BT EEEE RTEEER ARG
Ry A 82:82,439,966 08 AN A @A
(ZE—NF+=-A=+—8: &) (H
5E19) o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOt KM E (&)
18 RESERVES 18 f#fE
Share-based Currency
Share payment Statutory translation Other
premium reserves reserves difference reserves Total
NRBAHER
RGEE WERRE EEfRE EBREZE Hibfite Fh)
usb usb usb usb usD usD
E E E in Ey E
Balance at January 1, 2019 RZB-RE
-B-BHES 35,603,166 3,868,143 322,353 (858,426) (652,760) 38,282,476
The Share Option Scheme ki 2l
- Exercise of share options ~{riE iRk 290,734 (284,415) - = = 6,319
- value of employee services - EERBEE - 1,577,434 - - - 1,577,434
Net loss from changes in fair value of BRAREEHEEEEY
financial assets at fair value through AR EAREN
other comprehensive income SREENANEBEED
ERE - - - - (1,685994)  (1,685,994)
Currency translation differences SHBEEE - - - (75,831) - (75,831)
Balance at December 31, 2019 RZE-NE
+oBSt-BiEE 35893900 5161162 322,353 (934,257)  (2,338,754) 38,104,404
Balance at January 1, 2018 RZB-N\E
—A—BiEsH 35,603,166 1,235,402 249,908 (412,455) (742,332) 35,933,689
Appropriation o statutory reserves (Note (a) EEZ AT (i) - - 72,445 - S 72,445
The Share Option Scheme Bk 2l
- value of employee services - EERBEE - 2,632,741 = = - 2,632,741
Net gains from changes in fair value of BAREREIEREEY
financial assets at fair value through AR EREN SR
other comprehensive income EENAREEEY
WimFE = = - - 89,572 89,572
Currency translation differences SRMERE - - - (445,971) - (445,971)
Balance at December 31, 2018 RZZ-N\§

TZAZT-HNEH 35,603,166 3,868,143 322,353 (858,426) (652,760) 38,282,476
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18 RESERVES (Continued)

(a) In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC and the Articles of Association of subsidiaries located
in the PRC, it is required to appropriate 10% of the annual
statutory net profits after offsetting any prior years’ losses
as determined under the PRC accounting standards, to the
statutory surplus reserve fund before distributing the net
profit. When the balance of the statutory surplus reserve fund
reaches 50% of the share capital, any further appropriation is
at the discretion of shareholders. The statutory surplus reserve
fund can be used to offset prior years’ losses, if any, and
may be converted into share capital by issuing new shares to
shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding or by
increasing the par value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory surplus
reserve fund after such issue is no less than 25% of share
capital.

19 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On February 15, 2018, 21,419,696 and 28,078,914 shares options
were granted under the Share Option Scheme, with exercise price
of HKDO0.0074 and USD0.0074 per share, respectively. The vesting
period of the share options granted is three years and the vesting
schedule is 33.33% after twelve months from the grant date, 33.33%
after 24 months from the grant date, and 33.34% after 36 months
from the grant date respectively.

The directors have used the Binomial option-pricing model to
determine the fair value of the share options as at the grant date.
Key assumptions, such as risk-free interest rate, expected volatility
and dividend yield, are required to be determined by the directors
with best estimates. The risk-free interest rate, expected volatility
and dividend yield were assessed to be 2.65%, 54.58% and 0%,
respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

18 #E

(a) REBEHBESBBEERERREZNFTERA
WM B ARMESEIZAY - ROk
Fom AAT - AR REHRRDBE g LR
EENEMEEFEBERR  BFEE
EFEMNI10%EELZERBATEE -
EAERABRABEHEHEDRAN50%
B REEHE - SERHBRREBER
E o OREBBABE A ARNEHEESF
EMER (F)  TAERERRAR
P& K 91 1) A 2R B 1T 38 A 4 B8 38 B 1 5 B
A E RN EEMSRSRA - HZ
BAETEREEBHBABENERTFE
A 25% e

19 RGO HERTK

MRZZ—NE-F+HH 21,419,696/ &
28,078,914 BE BR 7 5 Rl AR 1% B AR A =1 &1 %
L 1TEE S A A SAR0.00747%8 7T K0.0074
Erc MIELERENEBHSA=F M
EEERARBRHANET-—EAAKREE
33.33% ' REHABHE-TNEALERS
33.33% ' FRELBEHE=+NEALERB
33.34% °

0

ERCEA_RARREEEUREEERE
REREEMNDAEE - EFEUKEBER
EEERRAE  BERERRGEERETER
& o MERFIE - FHEIMIE KW R D IR
732.65% ~ 54.58% 0% ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BO B mRME ()

19 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 19 URGBAEBRETR @
Movements of the number of share options outstanding and their HARITEERENES B 28 RSB ARERNR
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: IR EMT ¢

2019 2018
b 2| R:3 —Z-N\E
Average Number of Average Number of
exercise price shares under exercise price shares under
per share option the option per share option the option
SHBRE BREERT BhERE BREET
FHTRE RAEE TR E BRiHER
As at January 1 USDO0.0046 42,655,123 = S
®-A—H 0.00463% T
Granted - - USD0.0046 49,498,610
[RE-dix 0.0046% 7T
Exercised USD0.0036 (2,439,966) - -
BT 0.0036% T
Forfeited USDO0.0074 (238,138) USDO0.0044 (6,843,487)
B8 0.0074% 7T 0.0044% 7T
As at December 31 USDO0.0047 39,977,019 USDO0.0046 42,655,123
R+t=A=+-A 0.0047% 7 0.004637C
Vested and exercisable at 31 December USDO0.0048 11,697,615 - -
RTZA=+—-RERBRAUTE 0.0048% T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

20 TRADE PAYABLES

20 EZEARIR

As at December 31,

R+=—A=+-—A8
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
usbD USD
EY ET
Third parties F=7 3,095,087 3,177,289

Trade payables primarily related to the revenue sharing collected
by payment channels and Platforms which is payable to cooperated
game developers according to respective cooperation agreements.
The credit terms of trade payables granted by the vendors are
usually 30 to 90 days.

The aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as

B 5N A £ B FURE M T & FTIERE
WADHESHER  FHESERREBEEHAE
WA T BRI - IREHERRT
MBS RENFAEESR R B30E90H °

BHRMNRENRE DT (RIFEREHE) o

follows: T
As at December 31,
B+=—A=+—8

2019 2018

—2-n%E —EN\F

uUsD usD

E3 ETT

0-90 days 0£90H 754,509 1,043,598
91-180 days 91£2180H 675,408 978,536
181-360 days 181£360H 867,897 345,849
Over 360 days HHiB360H 797,273 809,306
3,095,087 3,177,289
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BO B mRME ()
20 TRADE PAYABLES (continued) 20 ESENARIE &
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are AEENE FENRENRBE A TIEE
denominated in the following currencies: sHE -
As at December 31,
R+=A=+—8
2019 2018
—ZE-hF —T-N\F
usbD USD
EYH ET
usDb T 3,028,167 2,984,516
RMB AR 66,920 192,773
3,095,087 3,177,289
As at December 31, 2019, the fair value of trade payables RZZE—hF+ZA=+—R0 BESENKE
approximated their carrying amounts (2018: same). WARBEEERTERS (ZT—/\F : H
@) e
21 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 21 HinEHRERETER
As at December 31,
R+=A=+—8
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
usbD uUsbD
Ep ET
Other taxes payable H ST 420,665 480,307
Salary and staff welfare payables ERHFEMETER 1,065,499 702,378
Accrued professional service fees e EERBE 683,134 614,444
Advertising payables ENEEE 284,467 324,569
Rent payable e 162,583 279,348
Others Efth 441,594 387,480
3,057,942 2,788,526
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

21 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables and accruals
are denominated in the following currencies:

21 HENRERESTER @

B E A RN I R ERT B B REE TS
A NIIEEEHE

As at December 31,

R+=—A=+—8H

2019 2018

—ZE-hF —T-N\F

usb USD

ES E

UsD EVW 1,519,987 1,598,675
RMB AR 1,530,336 1,183,805
EUR BT 7,619 6,046
3,057,942 2,788,526

As at December 31, 2019, the fair value of other payables
approximated their carrying amounts (2018: same).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOt KM E (&)
22 OTHER GAINS, NET 22 Hibz= 358
Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=1+—-HLEE
2019 2018
—ZE-hF —T-N\F
usbD USD
EY ET
Other gains Hitb Y 8
Government grant BT 8 B 134,333 21,227
Foreign exchange gains, net P& 5 s 5 58 125,890 186,445
Initial license fee forfeited by a licensee R @M MEN VST EER - 500,000
Others Hh 47,279 4,823
307,502 712,495
Other losses HibEsE
Others Hith (396) (1,153)
(396) (1,153)
Other gains, net HibW s F5E 307,106 711,342
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

23 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of revenue, selling and marketing
expenses, administrative expenses, research and development
expenses, net impairment losses (on)/reversal of financial assets
and impairment of investment in an associate are analysed as
follows:

23 BMEETHRX

FTARK - HEREHEMAE - TBAX -
Y ¢mEE CREBIEFE)REEBE
BE - ARRBEARNREZRENEXS
T :

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—-BHLEFE

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
usbD USsD
EH ETT
Commission charges by Platforms and T & Rk =77 KBRS FE p Y ER Y
third party payment vendors HAeEH 7,020,942 8,083,420
Employee benefits expenses (Note 24) EERFIR (Fiz24) 6,105,823 6,544,435
Impairment charge BRI X
— Impairment/(reversal) of trade — B SEWFIERE (#E)
receivables (Note 14) (FIzE14) 1,384,675 (33,113)
— Impairment of prepayment for royalty — REE LT EENFORE
fees and license fees (Note(a)) (FfzE(a)) 1,381,954 =
— Impairment of investment in an associate =~ — REFE R AINRE 2 RE
(Note 12) (B3E12) 652,596 =
— Impairment of intangible assets (Note(b)) -\ EERE (kb)) 128,920 -
— Impairment of other receivables — Hih R IERE 78,347 =
Advertising expenses BEERX 2,084,921 3,137,211
Servers rental expenses FRBHAERAY 1,479,562 1,887,180
Depreciation and amortisation e Res 1,143,500 791,840
Auditors’ remuneration ZEETEN S
— Audit services — EE R 532,400 660,500
— Non-audit services — FEBEEHARTS 6,300 68,000
Other professional service fees HEMEXREE 514,404 411,206
Royalty fees hi e B 362,590 323,766
Office charge WREER 198,349 101,361
Outsourcing research and development INEIFEE R
expenses 196,558 69,956
Travelling and entertainment expenses EIR R IREAR ST 82,161 68,222
Office rental expenses HAEHERY 33,411 410,589
Tax surcharges B hn 16,448 20,981
Other expenses Hamx 367,687 233,998
23,771,548 22,779,552
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

23 EXPENSES BY NATURE (continued)

(a)

The amount represents the impairment charges of prepayment
for royalty fees of USD783,154 (Note 15(c)), prepayment
for license fees of USD190,000, game development of
USD147,800, and prepaid royalty fees to Shanghai Jiying of
USD261,000(Note 12).

An impairment of USD128,920 was made for certain
games related intellectual properties and licenses as the
corresponding games were taken offline during the year ended
December 31, 2019.

24 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES

(a)

(b)

3 EMHEETHRX @

ZEHEEREEEMNRORERX
783,154 7T (KfsE15(c)) ~ HariEE A
) 78 1 5190,0003 7T - #EEL B3 1938
3%147,800E 7T - AR A EEEER
FEHARAEE261,0005 7T (KizE12) ©

#%i—? NE+=-RA=+—H"
q%ﬁf%z*ﬁEﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁkﬁ%&%%ﬁ%f’ﬁﬁﬁ
18128,920% 7t ' RERBBEHE T
BR e

24 EETEFBEX

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—-HLEE

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

uUsbD uUsD

E Er

Wages and salaries TERES 3,735,655 3,344,339

Share-based payments (Note 19) VARG B AR E (MI5E19) 1,577,434 2,632,741

Pension costs — defined contribution plans BESHA — AEMHKEE

(Note (a)) (i3 (a)) 400,476 273,988
Other social security costs, housing benefits ~ E bt @REK A - (EEBF K%

and other employee benefits Hib@ E1EF] 392,258 293,367

6,105,823 6,544,435

(a) Pension costs — defined contribution plans

Employees of the Group’s companies in the PRC are required
to participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered and operated by the local municipal government.
The Group contributes funds which are calculated on a fixed
percentage of 14% of the employees’ salary (subject to a
floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to
each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees.

BREBHEEERAT

(a) BEEAE — REHMKGE

E&ﬁ%@&“iﬂ’] L%k}&?kﬁ% 0
RE B MR TR T T BE & %

FHEIR E%E:’%%M%Eﬁlmﬁﬁt
(RETRELRERE) i85 - UAESR
HRAREMEHRES -

—E-NEFFER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

24 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued) 24 EERAMAX @

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EEERSHMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year ended December 31, 2019 include nil
director (2018:nil). The emoluments payable to the remaining 5
(2018:5) individuals for the year ended December 31, 2019 is

BE_Z-NAF+-A=+—RHI#F
B AEENTEREFMALTIETE
BER(ZE-N\F: 8 - BE_FT—
NF+ZA=+—BILFE  BHHT

as follows: 52 (ZZT—\F : 58) ATHEBIN
T

Year ended December 31,

BE+-—A=+—-HLEE
2019 2018
—ZE-hF —T-N\F
uUsbD uUsD
E ET
Wages and salaries TERES 242,031 224,659
Pension costs — defined contribution plans EEZ &R — R E HET2 17,675 20,164

Other social security costs, housing Hit & RERE - EEEN R

benefits and other employee benefits HEb g EEA 18,960 23,113
Share-based payments LABRARD B LR A 3K 601,970 1,784,635
880,636 2,052,571
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

24 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued) 24 EERAMAX @

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) EEEZEEFHMAL (@)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: FEN T TEE

Number of individuals
AB
Year ended December 31,
BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2019 2018
—E-hF —Z—)\F
Emolument band N E
Nil — HK$1,000,000 = — 1,000,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$1,000,000 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,000/% 7T — 2,000,000/ 7T 4 1
HK$2,000,000 — HK$3,000,000 2,000,000 7T — 3,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$3,000,000 — HK$4,000,000 3,000,000 7T — 4,000,000/ 7T - 3
5 5
During the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, neither REZE-Z—NEFR-_F—-)\F+=A
directors nor the five highest paid individuals received any =+—HIEFE BMEEEIAEER
emolument from the Group as an inducement to join, upon FMA TR AEEWREEMEH - 1EA
joining the Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss MAXREBHNFER - TR IMALXEER
of office. WE - {ERBER A EE M FESEREE

BE -

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

25 FINANCE COSTS, NET

25 MR ARER

Year ended December 31,

BE+T-A=+—HLFE

2019 2018
—ZE-hF —T-N\F
usbD USD
EY ET

Finance income B A
Interest income B U A 21,651 11,851
Foreign exchange gains, net P& 5 s 5 58 35,424 -
57,075 11,851

Finance costs U 2%
Interest expense FEFAX (114,612) -
Foreign exchange losses, net FE 5 e85 58 = (93,418)
(114,612) (93,418)
Finance costs, net B FE (57,537) (81,567)

26 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

26 FTEBIFX

The income tax expense of the Group for the years ended December
31, 2019 and 2018 is analysed as follows:

AEERBE—T-NFR-FT-N\F+_HA
=T RUEFENREHRAXANET

Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=1t—HLEE

2019 2018
—ZE-hF —T-N\F
usb USD
Sy i

Current income tax BUERRT1S Bt
— Overseas withholding income tax — BINEHER 203,037 297,018
— PRC and Hong Kong —HREREE (177,259) 724,189
Deferred tax (Note 13) IRIEFRIE (M7E13) 133,038 49,906
158,816 1,071,113
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

26 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of Cayman lIslands and accordingly, is exempted from
Cayman Islands income tax.

British Virgin Islands income tax

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI, the company
incorporated in BVI are not subject to any income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits for each of the
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

The provision for Hong Kong profits tax for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019 are calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HKD2 million
of profits of qualifying corporation are taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HKD2 million are taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
corporation not qualifying the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”)

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations
in the PRC has been calculated at the tax rate of 25% on the
estimated assessable profits for the year ended December
31, 2019 and 2018, based on the existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

26 FRSFHBEX @)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

SRR EHR

ARBRBREHASHEERARENFSH
BEMKINEREAERAR - Bt
RARERLHNFESHEHBREN -

KEELBEMEH

RBRBRELEFSNAANERO - RHR
B B2 2 B S R M A SL ) A R B A BN T
AIFASHL °

EBRIEH
HE_Z-NEFRZZF-N\F+ZA=
T—BIEFE  BERE16.5%L(FaT
ERBEFHER B GRBE -

BHE-_T-\F+_A=+—HERZ=Z
—NWE+ZAZ+—BLEFE  FEF
ERBEIOEBENCSHMAHGE -
RIBEFSRRAT - &EEEZEBRER
8.25% M E G F E2H BB TN
18 WiBIR16.5% M REWN2E & H T
A ESEFIMTRIE - A RSB MR
B IS EY A B A T S B 1216.5% R0 Bl
— B RBINTIIE o

FEREEMREHR ([RXRE
Bt )

RIEEBRAED - RIEBRES - A%
05t 2L o B A B RO B 1B B0
TR EBUHBE T AFRF
—N\Et+ZA=+—BILEEREHE
RBATIE -

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

26 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(e)

()

(9)

Preferential EIT rate

Guangzhou You Lai was qualified as “Advanced Technology
Service Enterprises” in 2019 and was entitled to a preferential
income tax rate of 15% for the years ended 2019 and 2018.

Zhang Ying Kong was qualified as “Small Low-Profit Enterprise”
for year ended 2019 and was entitled to a preferential income
tax rate that was calculated in accordance with the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime. Under the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime, the first RMB1 million of profits of qualifying
corporation are taxed 5%, and profits above RMB1 million are
taxed at 10%.

The PRC withholding income tax (“WHT”)

According to the applicable the PRC tax regulations, dividends
distributed by a company established in the PRC to a
foreign investor with respect to profits derived after January
1, 2008 are generally subject to a 10% WHT. If a foreign
investor incorporated in Hong Kong meets the conditions and
requirements under the double taxation treaty arrangement
entered into between the PRC and Hong Kong, the relevant
withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

During the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the
Group does not have any plan to require its PRC subsidiaries
to distribute their retained earnings and intends to retain them
to operate and expand its business in the PRC. Accordingly, no
deferred income tax liability on PRC WHT was accrued as of
the end of each reporting period.

The Vietham WHT

The Group has subcontracted games to a platform operating
in Vietnam. According to the applicable the Vietnam tax
regulations, royalty fees generated from Vietnam are subject to
a 10% WHT.
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26 FRSFHBEX @)

(e)

(f)

(9)

BELEREBR

BMBERNR T —NFRE BRI
RBEEEIER RZE-NFR-ZF
—NFEFEAIZF15%NEEEBE

ERENR_Z-NFEFERTA [EMK
M| IEFHEMEHRARHIEE S
BEMSHE - RFMNSHRAS - &
BRIRBEIZS %R E RGN E18 &8
TUEMTRIE - WR10% R EEM1 B E
PETTIA B M IR -

REIFEMAAEH ([ RO 1)

RBEROHERBER - RPBEKZ
WA —ZTTNF-A—BZREL
B N AN IR E E D IRE R — AR A
BAN10%R TR 50 & B M AL
TEHINEREEN AT EEEE ZME]
VB ERBIRORZ IR TORE LR
i AEEEARTREBR10%ERE
5% °

REBEE-ZT-NFRZZE-N\F+ZA
=+—HLEFE ANEBEWEFMAE
REEPBMBARD RERBRF -
BEERBZERIUARPRELE A
REE® - At - HESHREHRK - #§
iR B TR 0T B B ) ST IR E PTG B
BfE-

g TR HIBE

AEBREES BT —EELREEED
Fa o RBEBEERBAN - aHE
EEMIREERBN10%TAD -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOt KM E (&)
26 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 26 BB @)
(h) The Brazil WHT (h) EAENH
The Group cooperates with a platform in Brazil. According to AEBH-—EAEEANFEESEE - IRIE
the applicable the Brazil tax regulations, income generated BRBEAREEN  HEAEEMHKRA
from Brazil is subject to 10% remittance tax and 15% income TRENN10%E R R15%FTSH - 7%
tax, which is withheld by the platform. FAIEH -
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differ from the A BB BRR T RS B A B TR B A
theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate B AT E25% BN EREHEAER
in the PRC of 25% as follows: U
Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZT—)\F
uUsbD uUsD
Ep Ey
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATEBLAT (B518) RF (5,602,990) 2,008,217
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25% R E25% T EMTIE (1,400,748) 502,054
Effect of different tax rates available to  EARANEETRKE R SR
different subsidiaries of the Group BEmge 854,247 (124,898)
Tax losses and temporary differences W TR TS T B E R
for which no deferred income tax BBEEREREZR
assets was recognised 621,701 -
Effect of income tax rate changes TSR Egsma e (122,312) -
Income not subject to tax BERTUA (25,386) (32,583)
Expenses not deductible for tax s A D= N E b Az o1 b3
purposes 28,277 429,522
Overseas withholding income tax BINEIFTISH 203,037 297,018
Income tax expense 8RR 158,816 1,071,113

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

27 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the
(loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue less shares held for the
Share Option Scheme during the years ended December 31, 2019

27 8K (B1E),BF

X

REE-_T-—AFR-Z—N\FE+_A=1+—
BLEE S8REX (BB BFHRAR
AR AL (B18), % % A B #1780 00
19 T AR U T R AR R R T B A AR (D 5T

and 2018.

Year ended December 31,

BE+T-A=+—HLFE

2019 2018
—B-hF —E-N\F

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the RRATHEE AES (B518), &5
Company (USD) (&) (5,761,806) 937,104

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue less shares held for the

ERITRINE T B
BUR LIS IR Bl B

Share Option Scheme (Note (a))
— Basic EPS (in USD cents/share)

(MzE(a))

— BREARREF (E,R)

1,850,176,135  1,850,000,027
(0.31) 0.05

(@) The EPS is determined based on that 1,850,176,135 (2018:
1,850,000,027) shares were the weighted average number
of ordinary shares in issue excluding the 149,823,865
(2018:149,999,973) shares which were the weighted average
number held for the Share Option Scheme for the year ended
December 31, 2019, without taking into account any shares
which may be granted and issued by the Company pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2019

(a) BRAEFTDIZROBETHMETFS LB
B8 41,850,176,1350% (—F— )\ 4F :
1,850,000,027/%) (TR EHEZZ=F —
NEF+-—A=Z+—BILFERBRET
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOt KM E (&)

27 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 27 B (BB, BF w
Diluted #e
The share options granted by the Company have potential dilutive AARRENERESTRET B ETEEE
effect on the EPS. Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the A EREERRN IR E BT T RmARA IEF
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue less shares BER M ERE E AN EITEINRNDE B
held for the Share Option Scheme outstanding by the assumption of TEAEME - ML IREBEAD IR LB
the conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from EREEANAEZ TR T AR EER (&
share options granted by the Company (collectively forming the HEKEERBERANSD) - BHIE &
denominator for computing the diluted EPS). No adjustment is made (D) WEERE -

to loss/earnings (numerator).

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLEFE

2019 2018
—B-hF —E-N\F
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the KT ARG (B18),/
Company (USD) A (E7T) (5,761,806) 937,104
Weighted average number of ordinary BT E BRI EUR
shares in issue less shares held R EI R ARG
for the Share Option Scheme 1,850,176,135 1,850,000,027
Adjustments for share options (a) PR () - 10,403,520
Weighted average number of ordinary Bt EBRETE RN ERkR
shares for the calculation of diluted EPS hniEF 198 1,850,176,135 1,860,403,547
— Diluted EPS (in USD cents/share) - BREERF (EW0 ) (0.31) 0.05
(a) The 39,977,019 options granted and remained unexercised are not (a) FERER WM ®ARTTE 39,977,019 88 i &
included in the calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share because HHE T NF+-A=+—HLFEEKR
they are antidilutive for the year ended December 31, 2019. These BEumE - AERAESRES (518 /&
options could potentially dilute basic (loss)/earnings per share in the R I G Z SRR EEN - ZEBIRE
future. RAKAEEHETRER (BR),/ BF -
28 DIVIDEND 28 R E
The directors of the Company did not recommend the payment of ARBEFTEBENEBE_S-NF+=A
any dividend for the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018: same). =t+—HEFEZAARE (ZT—N\F :

A) -

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

AGREBENE (8
29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION 29 HEREER
(a) Cash (used in)/generated from operations (a) &% (FTR)FBEL
Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=1+—-HLEE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZT-N\F
usbD uUsbD
EH ET
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATEE AT (B518) % F (5,602,990) 2,008,217
Adjustments for: AT SEED AR
— Provision/(reversal of) for trade — BHEWFIERE
receivables (Note 23) (BERE) (FE23) 1,384,675 (33,113)
— Impairment of investment in —REE R EIMWIRE ZRE
associate (Note 12) (FF3E12) 652,596 s
— Impairment of other receivables — Efb R GRRE 78,347 =
— Impairment of prepayment for royalty — REE RIFTTREEBRN R
fees and license fees (Note 15) AE (FIFE15) 1,381,954 =
— Impairment of intangible assets (Note 8) —E\EEERE (HE8) 128,920 =
— Depreciation of property, plant and —ME - BERBETE
equipment (Note 6) (Pft3E6) 369,867 370,363
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 7) — EREEERE (Ki:7) 289,512 =
— Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 8) -\ EEEE (FizEs) 663,854 497,657
— Share of losses of investment accounted — G REREARY
for using the equity method (Note 12) BEEE (fi312) = 3,355
— Share-based payments — DABR 1D A AT K 1,577,434 2,632,741
— Interest income — FEBHA (21,651) (11,851)
— Interest expense — FBFAX 114,612 =
— Foreign exchange gains, net — [ W R R (125,890) (189,474)
891,240 5,277,895
Changes in operating assets and liabilities K£YEERAESE
— Trade receivables — B HEYGRIA (25,136) 430,587
— Prepayments and other receivables — TERT R % E At FE W SR IE (6,725,432) (1,816,981)
— Contract cost — AR (76,006) 204,328
— Trade payables — B G EMNHKIEAE (39,320) (1,345,195)
— Contract liabilities —AHNEaE (298,292) (263,101)
— Other payables and accruals — HhpETRIE R EE B A 451,572 (1,169,023)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations &% (fif), FiBRE (5,821,374) 1,318,510

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2019



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOt KM ()
29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued) 20 WEREEH @
(b) Net cash reconciliation (b) REFEHER
This section sets out an analysis of net cash and the AEHINES 2HBMOIR S FEOMN
movements in net cash for each of the periods presented. KB @ FREe) -
Year ended December 31,
BE+=-A=1+—HLEE
2019 2018
—E-nEF —E-N\F
usb USD
EYH i
Net cash HEFHE
Cash and cash equivalents BekREeEEY 25,320,274 32,598,242
Lease liabilities HERE (2,070,995) =
Net Cash R FE 23,249,279 32,598,242
Cash and cash equivalents BekIREEEY 25,320,274 32,598,242
Gross debt — fixed interest rates 1BEIE — [EEF = (2,070,995) =
Net Cash ReFR 23,249,279 32,598,242

BHRAHEBEERAT —T-NFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

29 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Net cash reconciliation (Continued)

29 HEREER

(b) REFREL R ()

Liabilities
from
Other financing
assets activities
MEER
Hith&E EENAE
Cash and cash
equivalents Leases Total
ReRkESE
ZEY HE et
usbD usbD usbD
EYH Ep Ep
Net cash as at R-ZZE-NE—HA—HW
January 1, 2018 REFHE 43,997,614 - 43,997,614
Cash flows Bene (11,321,477) — (11,321,477)
Foreign exchange adjustments [ H A% (77,895) - (77,895)
Net cash as at R=—ZB—-N\E+=A=+—H
December 31, 2018 WESFHE 32,598,242 - 32,598,242
Recognised on adoption of R4 B R B 7 s o AR Rl R RE AR
IFRS 16 (Note 2.2) (FfzE2.2) - (2,266,806)  (2,266,806)
Cash flows Behe (7,273,757) 234,772 (7,038,985)
Acquisition — leases it —HE - (68,093) (68,093)
Foreign exchange adjustments ME H 352 (4,211) 29,132 24,921
Net cash as at R-ZZE-hE+=ZA=+—H
December 31, 2019 KR & FHE 25,320,274 (2,070,995) 23,249,279
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

30 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 30 EXBEEARS

TRANSACTIONS

(a) Names and relationships with related (a) BAEE S M A 78 R BABA B 5 1Y
parities [£2REA

THRBRRBEASRBE_ZE-—NFR
—E-N\F+_A=Z+—BLFEER
SEER SRR AN = B B
FH

The following companies and individuals were related parties
of the Group that had transactions and/or balances with the
Group during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Name of related party Relationship with the Group

BB &8 BEAKEMNEER
7Road 7Road International Group Limited, one of the shareholders which

hold 15.5% equity after the IPO of the Company and significant
influence over the Group before December 27, 2018

FLRE 7Road International Group Limited * ARAA G B X AFHEER
BEARANS5%BENRRz— RZE-N\F+ZA=Z+tH
A AREETRERTES

Shanghai Jiying Associate of the Group

FBEE REB R EEE QT

(b) HEBMINEARS

(b) Significant transactions with related
parties

The following significant transactions were carried out between
the Group and its related parties during the year ended
December 31, 2019. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the related party transactions were carried out in the
normal course of business and at terms negotiated between
the Group and the respective related parties.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, there were no
transactions carried out with related parties:

UNTERRZAASE AR NE
E-T-AF+_AZ=+-BLFEREE
T ARABERR BBIRZIR
REEHERTRASEAZEHAN
FTEERRUETT

RBE_Z-NF+_A=+—RIEF

& - YRR EITHRS

Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=1t—HLEE

2019 2018
—E-hF —T—N\F
uUsbD uUsD
EH ET
License fees and royalty fees charged by RAEE 5 W Er o] B AR IEE
related parties:
— 7Road (i) — B KRE() - 514,817
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

30 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Significant transactions with related
parties (Continued)

30 ERBEBAERS @

(b) HEABTMNEARS (&)

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2019 2018
—®-hE B
usbD uUsD
EP ET
Royalty fees offset against revenue: W AR IRIES -
— 7Road (i) — B AE() - 2,108,642

(i) The non-executive director of the Company representing 7Road
International Group Limited resigned as a director of the Company
on December 27, 2018 and 7Road International Group Limited
no longer has significant influence over the Group since that,
therefore, 7Road was not related party of the Group thereafter.

(c) Key management personnel
compensations

The compensations paid or payable to key management
personnel (including directors and CEO) for employee services

(i)  HZ&7Road International Group Limited
MARRFRTEFER_T—N\F+
ZAZ++BEEEARRESE  maL
7Road International Group Limited”f
BHASEESAYEN  AUELK
BHETIBRAEENRES -

(c) AREEEBASHNHM

HEERBENUENEAREEEAR
(BREEFRERHITE) WFHHIIRN

are shown below: ™

Year ended December 31,

BE+-HA=1+—RHLLEE
2019 2018
—E-NF —ZT-N\F
usbD UsSD
EYH EP
Wages and salaries TENEGS 240,405 242,889
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BESHRA — REHFGTE 11,971 14,514

Other social security costs, housing HhtgRERA - EEEF

benefits and other employee benefits RHEAMES RN 13,064 18,556
265,440 275,959
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

30 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 30 EXBEEELIXRZ @
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Year-end balances arising from significant (d) BEREBIFNEARIEEN
transaction with related parties FRER

As at December 31,

R+=—A=+-—H
2019 2018
—EB-hE —ET-N\F
uUsbD uUsD
E ET
Prepayments to related party: F) B HSE 5 TR K
— Shanghai Jiying (Note 12) — bBEE (H:E12) - 261,000
31 COMMITMENTS 31 A&iE
Non-cancellable operating leases AHHECERE
From 1 January 2019, the Group has recognised right-of-use assets BE-E-hhEF—-—A—BE XEBERZS
for these leases, except for short-term and low-value leases, see HE (RHREEEHESRIN) BREAEE
note 7 for further information. E - BREE—SEMB2HMET -
As at December 31,
R+=A=+-—8
2019 2018
e i —E- N5
usbD UsD
ES ET
Not later than 1 year TEME 7,589 382,279
Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years BMMFETER2F - 359,525
Later than 2 year and not later than 3 years ER2FENERIF = 364,966
Later than 3 year and not later than 5 years BRIFETEBRSF - 743,499
Later than 5 years BR5F - 1,027,041
7,589 2,877,310
32 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 32 FARAEE
There were no significant contingent liabilities as at December 31, RZE-NERZZT-N\F+ZA=+—8#
2019 and 2018. BmEAINEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

33 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

3B ALREERERRHEEED

As at December 31,

R+t=—B=+—8H
2019 2018
—E-NE —T-N\F
usbD USsSD
EYH e
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Financial assets at FVOCI mAoRBEEEBEZHH A
Hib2mKaemEE 963,185 2,670,518
Investments in subsidiaries RSB ARMEE 455,449 455,449
Prepayments SELNEAN 50,000 50,000
1,468,634 3,175,967
Current assets REBEE
Amount due from subsidiaries A RIEPNGIE ¢ 26,762,838 20,033,116
Prepayments and other receivables FE R R H A R UL SR IE 51,622 43,987
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 18,461,072 25,398,071
45,275,532 45,475,174
Total assets wmEE 46,744,166 48,651,141
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES RERERE
Equity E=
Share capital &N 2,000,000 2,000,000
Shares held for the Share Option Scheme PR EE B R GD (147,560) (150,000)
Reserves i) 38,835,681 38,937,922
Accumulated losses RitEsia (2,893,832) (863,570)
Total equity MR 37,794,289 39,924,352
Liabilities aE
Non-Current liabilities FRBEE
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFEHAE - 21,339
Current liabilities e a &
Amount due to subsidiaries FER B R R FIE 8,689,066 8,423,623
Other payables and accruals Hi BN RIBEREREA 260,811 281,827
Total liabilities FS=Rit 8,949,877 8,726,789
Total equity and liabilities HERREE 46,744,166 48,651,141

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of
Directors on March 31, 2020 and was signed on its behalf.

%

Director

=

Director
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

33 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company

BALAAEERBERRAEEE

(&)

(a) XA EEE

Reserves
E
(Accumulated Share-
losses)/ based
retained Share payment  Fair value
earnings premium reserves reserves Total
DR A
(R&tER) HEMAR DREE
REEF BB E e 1] st
usD usbD usD usD usD
EY EY Y Ex EYH
Balance at January 1, R=ZF-hE
2019 —B—H#&&% (863,570) 35,603,166 3,245,184 89,572 38,937,922
Losses for the year FREIE (2,030,262) - - - -
The Share Option FEARAEET B
Scheme
— Exercise of share — (IR
options - 200,734  (284,415) - 6,319
— value of employee —REREER
services - - 1,577,434 - 1,577,434
Change in fair value of BERAREENZEHES
financial asset at FVOCl & AE {2 EURE A
SREELZAREEE - - - (1,685,994) (1,685,994)
Balance at December 31, R=F—h%F
2019 +=B=+-B#&% (2,893,832) 35,893,900 4,538,203 (1,596,422) 38,835,681
Balance at January 1, RZE-NF
2018 —B—B#&& 2,799,438 35,603,166 612,443 - 36,215,609
Losses for the year FRERE (3,663,008) = - - -
The Share Option Scheme &2
— value of employee - EERBERE
services - - 2,632,741 - 2,632,741
Change in fair value of BARBEFAEEEE
financial asset at FVOCI st AEM2EUREEH
SREEZARBEED - - - 89,572 89,572
Balance at December 31, R=ZE—N\&
2018 +TZRA=1+—B#&&% (863,570) 35,603,166 3,245,184 89,572 38,937,922
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO BRERME (B)

34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.

Bl (

4 EEEANRN=E (FBQAK

5£622F) %383M% - A A

(REBEEZENZER) R (F
622GE) RER L MHRRIAR

622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF EHHE)
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF

DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)

AND HK LISTING RULES)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) ESRBETHRAEBNME

emoluments

The remuneration of every director and chief executive for the
year ended December 31, 2019 is set out below:

SEEERBBTRARRBE_T—
AE+=AZ+— B ILEEOFHRS
m -

Other social
security
costs,
housing
benefits Pension
and other cost-defined
Directors’ employee contribution
Name fees Salaries(i) benefits plans Total
Hitte
RERA -
FEBEANR BEERE -
g - Xk Fe() HtESER REAXKGE a@st
usb usb usb usb usb
Y EY EY EY Y
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Lu Yuanfeng (Note ii) BeRI& 5 4 (DT - 59,415 4,494 4,153 68,062
Mr. Huang Guozhan (Note iii) EEES & (Fiskii) - 51,793 4,285 3,909 59,987
Mr. Huang Degiang (Note iv) st (Mehv) - 51,793 4,285 3,909 59,987
Independent Non-executive BUEHTES
Directors
Mr. Darren Raymond Shaw (Note v) BREAE LA (Misky) 13,087 - - - 13,087
Mr. Li Yi Wen (Note vi) FRXEE (Wikvi) 25213 - - - 25213
Ms. Imma Ling Kit-sum (Note vi) ER O (Fikvi) 25,213 - - - 25213
Mr. Lu Qi Bo (Note vii) BROR A (3Evii) 3,144 - - - 3144
66,657 163,001 13,064 11,971 254,693
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 34 EE®fkFz (FBQAMK

DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED Bl ($£622F) $383% - A 7
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG (RBRESFEER) 20 (B
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP. 622GE) REE L mRBIFE
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF EWIRE) @

INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EERBEITHRAENME
emoluments (Continued) (&)
The remuneration of every director and chief executive for the BREERGESTHRABREBEEZ T —
year ended December 31, 2018 is set out below: NEFE+ZA=+—HIEFEOHFHEHT
LUl
Other social
security
costs,
housing
benefits Pension
and other  cost-defined
Directors’ employee contribution
Name fees  Salaries(i) benefits plans Total
Hfbit g
TRIERA -
EREAE  BEEKAK -
" EEika Fe() HuESRM REHENEE w5t
usD usD usD usD usD
eV eV ET eV E
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lu Yuanfeng (Note ii) PRI S 4 (W) - 60,324 6,306 4,838 71,468
Mr. Huang Guozhan (Note iii) EEELE (W i) = 52,581 6,125 4838 63,544
Mr. Huang Degiang (Note iv) BEERLE (V) - 52,581 6,125 4,838 63,544

Independent Non-executive Directors By ##/78E

Mr. Darren Raymond Shaw (Note v) BEm L (Hsty) 25,801 - _ - 25,801
Mr. Li Yi Wen (Note vi) AHIEHE (KBisEvi) 25,801 = = - 25,801
Ms. Imma Ling Kit-sum (Note vi) E2ot (FEEvi) 25,801 = = - 25801

77,403 165,486 18,556 14,514 275,959
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

34 BENEFITS AND

INTERESTS OF

DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)

(a) Directors’

and chief executive’s

emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(M)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

Salary paid to a director is generally an emolument paid or
receivable in respect of that person’s other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertakings.

Mr. Lu Yuanfeng was appointed as director and re-designated as
executive director as well as chief executives of the Company and
chairman of the Board on November 24, 2014.

Mr. Huang Guozhan was appointed as director and re-designated
as an executive director of the Company on November 2, 2015.

Mr. Huang Degiang was appointed as director and re-designated
as an executive director of the Company on June 28, 2017.

Mr. Darren Raymond Shaw were appointed as independent
non-executive directors of the Company on November 24, 2017
and resigned as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on July 5, 2019.

Mr. Li Yi Wen and Ms. Imma Ling Kit-sum were appointed as
independent non-executive director of the Company on November
24, 2017.

Mr. Lu Qi Bo was appointed as independent non-executive director
of the Company on October 3, 2019.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, no directors waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments (2018: nil).
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(a) EEREEITHRAEBNME

(&)

GERE

(0]

(if)

(iil)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

(vii)

ENEENHE - RIERZALHER
ERANANEMBARNNELHRED
Hib R N REROENE -

EREAEEZERETEAN T —MN
FH—A-tHABEREARTNTE
ENARNTEREEEIR

HEEEARZERESTYN T -1
FH—AZBRAERARANTES -
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FRAZHTNAREREARRAARTE
.

BEMEER —FB—+tF+—A-+mM
HEZERARRABYIFNTES I
RZZB-NFELARABRERRRBL
FFMITES -

FRUEEREBLOREIN_F—tF
T-AZTRRERERARABEILIE
WITESE -

ERREER-_Z-NF+A=ZHEZ
ERARBBILIFRTES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

34 BENEFITS AND

INTERESTS OF

DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by the
directors in respect of their services as directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries or other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking during the year ended December 31,
2019 (2018: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended December 31, 2019, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services were
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any
payable (2018: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties
for making available directors’ services subsisted at the end of
or at any time during the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018:
nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors subsisted at the end of or at any time during the
year ended December 31, 2019 (2018: nil).

4 EEEANRN=E (FBQAK

Bl (55622F ) 553831k

n )

(WBEENZER) R (F
622GE) REB L WHERIFTA
ERHE) @

(b) EEHVRKRER

(c)

(d)

(e)

BREBHEEERAT

RBE_Z-NF+-A=t+—BLLHF
B WERMERARTDRENBARE
ERFEORBRALERARQ R L AN
BRRAMEREHENEMREHEN
EEREERRNEREN (ZZE-N
FE) -

EEMRILER

RBE_Z-NAF+-_A=+—BILHF
B SEREERILREHERLEE
Al 8 2 3N AR (RAE ) 3 Iﬁ%ﬁaﬂ D‘F
BB BN R RIEREN (=
N\ R o

RERAEEERBEE=S
RENKE

MERERHARBEZE —_T-AF+ =
A=+ —RB L FEHERE RN R ER
BEDAFENEEREMAE=T71
HEBE=FREHERNKE (ZF—N

FRUES ZSEEEF
HZERESNEAEERS
E@RmANER  BHUERK
Htv X ZHER

BEAEE  REEFRHOEERR

ENHEERRAYEANER  BUE
REEMZXGNBE_T-NEF+A
=+ H I FEERE R B E AR
BINATE (ZZ—\F : §\) -

—E-NEFFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
BB RRMT ()

34

35

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)

(f) Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

No other significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
or at any time during the year ended December 31, 2019 (2018:
nil), except for the transactions disclosed in Note 29.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19
outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of precautionary and control
measures have been and continued to be implemented across
the country/region. The Group will pay close attention to the
development of the COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its impact on
the financial position and operating results of the Group. As at the
date on which this set of financial statements were authorised for
issue, the Group was not aware of any material adverse effects on
the financial statements as a result of the COVID-19 outbreak.
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B AR

BEARARZETRARAEENE
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R HERIN -

HEHRER

B2019%7 2L 732 ik 7 & b & & 1§ ([COVID-19
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